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TOGETHER, WE GROW.

At Fullerton India, we believe in growing together with all our 
stakeholders. We are committed towards building enduring 
partnerships and we believe that growth is sustainable only 
when it is driven and led by every stakeholder. We have built 
a culture of growth in Fullerton India, and have adopted the 
‘People, Planet and Profit’ approach to business. 

People: We dedicate ourselves to ‘people’ growth- the 
growth of our customers, employees, investors and partners. 
We enable people to achieve growth by fulfilling individual 
dreams and aspirations. We understand the needs and 
aspirations of our customers and customize financial solutions 
to enable their growth. Today, we have over one million 
customers across urban and rural India whose aspirations 
have become a reality with the financial solutions provided by 
Fullerton India.

Planet: We actively support our local communities and 
maintain high standards for environmental responsibility- 
whether through our solar-energy powered green branches 
or through the adoption of power saving environment-friendly 
technology in our operations; through e-waste disposal of 
obsolete equipment or by promoting and financing green 
products amongst our customers. Not to mention, one of the 
key focus areas of Fullerton India’s robust CSR program is 
promotion of environmental sustainability via programs such 
as promotion of adoption of Organic Farming techniques in 
rural India. 

Profit: In Fullerton India, we measure profit not just in terms 
of business growth but through the real economic benefit that 
is achieved by all stakeholders. We create shareholder value 
by achieving common goals with customers, investors and 
partners. Through our vast network of over 400 branches and 
more than 6200 employees, we have provided access  
to customized financial solutions to our customers, partnering 
and growing with them through their various life stages.

At Fullerton India, it is our belief that together we will make  
a difference. And together, we will grow.
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ABOUT US

Fullerton India launched commercial operations in January 2007. We have since 
established ourselves firmly in the country’s financial landscape, with a network 
of over 400 branches across the country, serving over a million customers.

Our services include financing of small and medium enterprises for working 
capital and growth, loans for commercial vehicles and two-wheelers, home 
improvement loans, loans against property, personal loans, working capital 
loans for urban self-employed and loans for rural livelihood advancement, rural 
housing finance and financing of various rural micro enterprises.

With over 6200 employees, we reach out to the market across over 600 towns 
and cities and more than 30000 villages providing financial solutions to over a 
million customers at their doorstep.

Fullerton India Credit Company Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of  
Fullerton Financial Holdings Pte. Ltd., which in turn is a wholly owned subsidiary 
of Temasek Holdings Pte. Ltd., Singapore. Fullerton Financial Holdings invests 
in financial institutions in emerging markets with a focus on Business and 
Consumer banking.

AMONG INDIA’S 
LEADING 
FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTIONS,
SERVING ONE 
MILLION 
CUSTOMERS 
ACROSS INDIA
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Dear Shareholders 

The last financial year has been a challenging one for both 
the global and Indian economies. Global liquidity concerns 
weighed on the domestic market, reducing international 
and corporate investments. India faced the twin challenges 
of a slowdown across sectors as well as high inflation 
resulting in a low GDP growth of below 5%. Towards the 
last quarter of the year there were some positive changes 
in investment sentiments with the expectations of a stable 
and progressive government in the next financial year. 

Our long term outlook on the Indian economy continues 
to be positive. With the establishment of a new majority 
government and the expectation of policy reforms and 
increased investment, we project the economy to return to 
a higher growth trajectory.

We further believe that the Indian economy has yet to fully 
capitalize on the country’s enormous demographic dividend, 
and that the opportunities for growth in financial services are 
still significant. The demand for retail services in particular, 
in loans, insurance and other savings instruments are 
expected to grow rapidly in the next few years. 
 
Fullerton India continued to invest in expanding its reach in 
the urban and rural markets. Its network of 397 branches, 
now covers over 600 towns and cities and over 30,000 
villages. We continued to offer new products to cater 
to customer needs and in developing new customers 
segments. Fullerton India with its wide distribution network, 
commensurate operating framework and diverse product 
suite is uniquely poised to serve its customers and play 
an impactful role in furthering financial inclusion in the 
communities.

The company recorded an excellent performance in the 
financial year 2013-14, with robust growth in assets, 
revenues and profits. Our Assets Under Management grew 
by 29% over the previous year and our profits after tax 
grew by 24% over the same period. 

We have continued to invest significantly in all aspects 
of people, technology and processes to ensure that we 
build a sustainable long term business franchise. To that 
extent we have invested in building a strong talent pool of 

managers with skills and capabilities to help us meet our 
growth ambitions in the future.

Building self-reliant communities, through innovative 
interventions, leading to sustainable socio-economic 
development and inclusive growth is the vision of Fullerton 
India’s Corporate Social Responsibility initiative. 
The company’s initiatives are focused on enhancing the 
socio-economic status of the rural communities in the 
catchment areas it serves by improving the standard of 
living and quality of lives of rural households. The Rural 
Livelihoods Advancement mission, implemented by our 
employees, have had tremendous impact and benefitted 
over 35,000 rural households in the year 2013-14. 

I am pleased to report that our CSR initiatives have won 
us recognition and awards from several institutions this 
year. Among them are the ABP News Global CSR Award 
for ‘Community Development’; ABP News Global CSR 
Award for ‘CSR Leadership’; Amity Global ‘Corporate 
Social Responsibility’ Award; Asian CSR Leadership 
Award for ‘Rural Development’; Asian Sustainability 
Leadership Award for ‘Sustainable Leadership’; Asia’s 
Best CSR Practice for ‘Community Development 
Program’; Corporate Excellence Awards for ‘Best 
Community Development Program’ & ‘Best Corporate 
Social Responsibility Practice’.

On behalf of my colleagues on the Board of Directors, I 
would like to express our gratitude to the regulators, all our 
stakeholders and customers for their continued support in 
helping us to build Fullerton India into one of India’s leading 
financial institutions. 

I would like to commend the efforts of the entire team at 
Fullerton India for the excellent performance in the last 
financial year. 

With best wishes

 
Gan Chee Yen 
Chairman

“BUILDING SELF-RELIANT COMMUNITIES, THROUGH 
INNOVATIVE INTERVENTIONS, LEADING TO SUSTAINABLE 
SOCIO-ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND INCLUSIVE GROWTH 
IS THE VISION OF FULLERTON INDIA. ITS CORPORATE 
SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY INITIATIVES ARE FOCUSED ON 
ENHANCING THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC STATUS OF THE RURAL 
COMMUNITIES IN THE CATCHMENT AREAS IT SERVES.”
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Dear Shareholders 

Results for the Financial Year 2013-14 continued to 
reflect the gains from the continuous improvements in our 
operating model and new initiatives that the business has 
been pursuing for the last two years. We have stayed firmly 
on our mission to deliver inclusive growth on a sustainable 
basis. 

Despite the relatively weak operating and macro- 
economic environment, Fullerton India has delivered record 
results. Total income registered a robust 17% growth 
and improvements in operating efficiencies and effective 
management of risk contributed to deliver net profit of  
Rs. 188 crores for the year.  Assets Under Management 
(AUM) grew by 29% to a record Rs. 6,245 crores as at the 
end of the financial year.

We believe in delivering sustainable results over the long 
term. Our business strategy is therefore driven by a well-
defined risk appetite framework which seeks to guide our 
day to day operations to take cognizance of expected 
portfolio performance in times of stress and not just 
performance in the short term. Deep analytics enables 
us to study customer behaviour across all our markets 
and product segments. Our forward looking, recession 
period based profitability benchmarking then allows us 
to analytically model our business plans and function 
modularly. This mode of operations has helped to deliver 
a predictable business performance with stable returns 
- generating value for our stakeholders, even in a difficult 
macro-economic environment. 

This is also a result of our focus on successfully balancing 
our loan portfolio by significantly increasing the secured 
product mix and diversifying across product categories 
and customer segments. We added 55 branches 
last year taking our network to almost 400 branches, 
covering some 600 towns and cities and with a reach 
of over 30,000 villages. Our customer base has grown 
to nearly over one million and is serviced by around 
6200 employees. The company’s rural franchise which 
operates under the “Gramshakti” model seeks to further 
financial inclusion by offering quality financial services 
to the under-served segments, and we aim to further 
expand our network of 178 Gramshakti branches in the 

coming years as well as to augment product offerings to 
this segment. 

Our extensive CSR initiatives that are interwoven 
with business goals have impacted over 35,000 rural 
households across the country and have won several 
prestigious awards over the last few years. Our thrust 
towards a more environmentally friendly operation has paid 
rich dividends in reducing our carbon footprint through 
more than 60 Solar powered green branches, deployment 
of low watt virtual desktop systems, and promotion and 
financing of over 120,000 units of solar lamps, eco-stoves  
& bicycles in rural areas.  

We place emphasis on ensuring that our operating and 
delivery platforms remain “fit for growth”, enable operations 
deliver at optimum cost and are capable of delivering 
customer service of the highest standards. In the last 
year we have made significant investments in overhauling 
our technology platform as well as in improving all key 
operations processes to remain capable of handling future 
growth and in enhancing the overall customer experience.

The business remains well-funded even through the 
tight liquidity conditions that prevailed during the last 
year. We have diversified our funding sources further 
and have developed best-in-class standards in Treasury 
management to optimise cost of funds, maintain prudent 
liquidity surpluses, manage interest rate risk, and to 
maintain optimum balance between asset and liability 
mismatches. 

I would like to thank our parent companies – Fullerton 
Financial Holdings Pte Ltd and Temasek Holdings Pte 
Ltd., Singapore for their support.  We greatly appreciate 
their faith and confidence in the team managing this 
organization and look forward to their continued support 
and guidance in growing the business. I would also like to 
thank the Regulators, our Bankers and Rating Agencies for 
their continued support and confidence in us. 

With best wishes

Shantanu Mitra 
Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director

“WE BELIEVE IN DELIVERING SUSTAINABLE RESULTS 
OVER THE LONG TERM. A WELL-DEFINED RISK 
APPETITE FRAMEWORK AND STRONG ANALYTICS 
HAVE HELPED US UNDERSTAND CUSTOMER NEEDS 
AND ENSURED A STRONG BUSINESS PERFORMANCE 
DESPITE A CHALLENGING OPERATING AND MACRO-
ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT.”
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Ajay Pareek 
Executive Vice President -  
Sales & Product, Urban Business

Deepak Patkar  
Executive Vice President & 
Head – Internal Audit

Pratik Gandhi 
Executive Vice President &  
Chief Financial Officer

1 2 3

4 5 6

7 8

Shantanu Mitra  
Chief Executive Officer &  
Managing Director

Swaminathan Subramanian  
Executive Vice President -  
Human Capital
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Rajesh Krishnamoorthy  
Executive Vice President &  
Chief Risk Officer 

Ravi Shankar 
Executive Vice President &  
Head - Business & Marketing

STANDING LEFT TO RIGHT 

LEADERSHIP TEAM
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

ASSETS UNDER
MANAGEMENT
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DISBURSEMENTS

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
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Dear ShareholDerS

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the 19th Annual Report of Fullerton India Credit Company Limited along with 
the audited statement of accounts for the financial year ended March 31, 2014.

FINaNCIal hIGhlIGhTS

The financial performance for fiscal 2014 is summarised in the following table: 

                                      (Rupees in Lakhs)

Sr. No. Particulars Fiscal ‘13 Fiscal ‘14 

1 Total Income    1,18,459 1,38,761

2 Less: Expenditures      90,705 1,05,483

3 Less: Net Credit Losses including provisions      12,587 14,484

4 Profit/(loss) before Tax 15,167 18,794

5 Tax - -

6 Net Profit/(loss) after Tax      15,167       18,794 

7 Add: Balance brought forward from previous year    (95,476)     (83,342)

8 Transfer to Reserve Fund under Section 45-IC of the RBI Act, 1934        3,033         3,759

9 Balance carried to Balance Sheet    (83,342)     (68,307)

10 Paid Up Capital    1,85,866     1,85,866 

* Previous year’s figures have been regrouped based on current year’s classification.

FINaNCIal PerFormaNCe aND overvIew

In the current year under review, the Company 
continued to demonstrate effective use of its resources 
and reported a healthy improvement in all operating 
metrics. 

Assets Under Management (representing on-book 
assets and assigned portfolios) witnessed a 29% 
growth and stood at Rs. 6,24,501 lakhs (Rs. 4,82,309 
lakhs as at March 31, 2013) while the assets on book 
grew from Rs. 4,68,383 lakhs in the previous year to 
Rs. 6,10,299 lakhs. The live customer base has grown 
to 10.4 lakhs. 

One of the key focus areas during the fiscal was to 
reshape the asset book towards secured business. 
Accordingly, secured assets grew to 41% of the Assets 
Under Management as at March 31, 2014 against 
35% in the previous year. At the same time, certain 
unprofitable segments were exited or reduced – as 
an example, the Company stopped fresh sourcing in 
the Two Wheeler business at Urban locations (Rural 
business continues to source two wheeler business).

Overall disbursals for the fiscal 2014 stood at  
Rs. 4,86,835 lakhs, representing a 33% increase over 
the previous fiscal disbursals of Rs. 3,64,744 lakhs. 

The growth in the balance sheet was financed to a 
larger extent through bank borrowings, considered to 
be a more stable source of funding as compared to 
market based borrowings. Bank borrowings stood at 
Rs. 2,18,729 lakhs (Rs. 1,02,350 lakhs as at  
March 31, 2013) representing an increase of 114% 
over last year, while Non-convertible debentures 
increased modestly to Rs. 2,55,115 lakhs  

(Rs. 2,15,574 lakhs as on March 31, 2013) – an 
increase of 18% over last year. The shorter term 
commercial papers decreased by 25% from Rs. 97,558 
lakhs to Rs. 72,749 lakhs during the same period. 

Gross income increased to Rs. 138,761 lakhs  
(Rs. 1,18,459 lakhs in FY 13) and finance costs stood 
at Rs. 56,167 lakhs (Rs. 42,585 lakhs in FY 13). Net 
interest income increased by 16% to Rs. 68,095 lakhs 
(Rs. 58,830 lakhs in FY 13). 

Non interest expenditure at Rs. 49,316 lakhs  
(Rs. 48,119 lakhs in FY 13), represented a reduction 
as a ratio to total income – a healthy improvement 
backed by efficient utilisation of human and operational 
resources.  

With effect from April 1, 2013, the Company changed the 
accounting policy of recognition of the documentation 
fees and stamping fees collected from the borrowers 
over the tenure of the loans as also the amortisation of 
the incremental loan origination costs over the tenure of 
the loans given by the Company. Due to this accounting 
policy change, the other operating income recognised 
is lower by Rs. 5,321 lakhs and administrative costs are 
lower by Rs. 3,659 lakhs. Consequently, profit (before tax) 
for the year and reserves as at March 31, 2014 are lower 
by Rs. 1,662 lakhs.

Net credit losses during the fiscal increased by  
Rs. 1,897 lakhs to Rs. 14,484 lakhs. Of the said 
increase, Rs. 900 lakhs, or approximately half, is 
on account of an increase in the Standard Asset 
Provisioning (SAP) norms to 0.40% from 0.25%. 
This increase is in line with the Company’s prudent 
accounting policy and is best in class in terms of 
industry practice.

directors’ Report
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The strong underlying momentum, improved asset 
quality and operational efficiency have enabled the 
Company to report a 24% growth in profits to  
Rs. 18,794 lakhs (Rs. 15,167 lakhs in FY 13) for the  
fiscal 2013-14.

DIvIDeND

The Directors have not recommended any dividend for 
the financial year 2013-14.

Share CaPITal

There was no change in the issued, subscribed and 
paid up capital of the Company during the year. The 
issued, subscribed and paid up capital of the Company 
as at March 31, 2014, stood at Rs. 1,85,866 lakhs. 
The equity shares, of Rs. 10 each, were held as under:  

Name No. of Shares % 

Angelica Investments Pte Ltd 1,77,34,05,000 95.41%

Fullerton Financial Holdings 
Pte Ltd

8,52,56,357 4.59%

CaPITal aDequaCy

The Company’s Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) against 
the risk adjusted and weighted assets as of balance 
sheet date, stood at a healthy 22.4%. This is well above 
the regulatory norm of 15% prescribed for NBFCs. 

DebT PoSITIoN

During the year under review, the Company placed  
Rs. 1,75,800 lakhs in Commercial Papers 
(Rs. 2,02,100 lakhs repaid during the year) and 
Rs. 72,050 lakhs in Non-Convertible Secured and 
Unsecured Debentures (Rs. 32,840 lakhs repaid during 
the year) with various Mutual Funds and Financial 
Institutions on private placement basis. The Company 
availed loans of Rs. 2,02,700 lakhs (and repaid  
Rs. 86,321 lakhs during the year) from Banks by way of 
long term and short term loans.

CreDIT raTING

The details of the credit ratings of the Company as on 
March 31, 2014 were as follows:  

rating agency Term Type rating

ICRA LT NCD/TL/SD [ICRA] AA+ 
with Stable 
Outlook

ST STD/CP [ICRA] A1+

India Ratings LT NCD/SD IND AA+ with 
Stable Outlook

ST STD IND A1+
 
• LT – Long Term     • ST – Short Term       
• SD – Subordinated Debt    • CP – Commercial Paper 
• TL – Term Loan     • STD – Short Term Debt 
• NCD – Non Convertible Debentures

The ratings mentioned above were re-affirmed by the 
rating agencies during the financial year 2013-14.

maNaGemeNT DISCuSSIoN aND aNalySIS

A detailed review of the operations, financial 
performance, risk management, outlook, etc. is 
provided under the section ‘Management Discussion 
and Analysis’ of the Annual Report. 

SubSIDIarIeS ComPaNIeS

The Company has the following two subsidiary 
companies, both of which are wholly owned:

a. Fullerton India Foundation for Social & Economic  
 Development (a Section 25 Company) and

b. Fullerton India Home Finance Company Limited

DIreCTorS

The Company’s Board sets the strategic objectives of 
the Company and guides the management in meeting 
its goal of aligning the interests of shareholders and 
stakeholders. 

The Company voluntarily follows the spirit of the 
Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement to the extent 
possible, though the said clause is not applicable to 
the Company, as its equity shares are not listed on any 
stock exchange.   

No new Directors were appointed during the previous year.

It is proposed to appoint new Independent Directors 
on the Board, in the interest of better corporate 
governance and also to ensure compliance with 
Section 149(4) of the Companies Act, 2013, which 
mandates appointment of Independent directors.

The Board has considered the matters of 
appointment of Ms. Sudha Pillai and Ms. Renu 
Challu as Independent Directors and recommended 
to the shareholders to appoint them at the ensuing 
Annual General Meeting of the Company. Both the 
Independent Directors are proposed to be appointed 
for the period from the date of AGM i.e. August 20, 
2014 till September 30, 2017 and they will not be liable 
to retire by rotation at every AGM. 

Mr. Alan Thompson has expressed his desire to step 
down from the Board of the Company w.e.f. June 20, 
2014. The Board places on record its appreciation for 
the services rendered by Mr. Alan Thompson to the 
Company during his tenure as Non-Executive Director.  

Mr. Wilson Chia and Mr. Rajeev Kakar are liable to retire 
by rotation at the ensuing Annual General Meeting of 
the Company. Both the Directors being eligible have 
offered themselves for re-appointment. The Board 
recommends their re-appointment to the members of 
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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reServe baNk oF INDIa GuIDelINeS

The Company continues to fulfil all the norms and 
standards laid down by the Reserve Bank of India 
(RBI), governing Category ‘A’ NBFC. This also pertains 
to non-performing assets, capital adequacy, statutory 
liquidity ratio, etc. As against the RBI norm of 15%, the 
capital adequacy ratio of the company was 22.4% as 
at March 31, 2014. In line with the RBI guidelines of 
asset-liability management (ALM) system for NBFCs, 
the Company has an asset-liability management 
committee which meets monthly or as required, to 
review its ALM risks and opportunities. 

PublIC DePoSITS 

The Company despite being registered as a  
“Deposit Taking Company” with the RBI, has not 
accepted any public deposits during the year under 
review (Nil in FY 2012-13).

DIreCTorS reSPoNSIbIlITy STaTemeNT

Pursuant to Section 217(2AA) of the Companies Act, 
1956, the Directors to the best of their knowledge and 
belief confirm that:

a. In the preparation of the Annual accounts, the   
 applicable accounting standards have been   
 followed;

b. Appropriate accounting policies have been   
 selected and applied consistently. Reasonable and  
 prudent judgments and estimates have been made  
 so as to give a true and fair view of the state of   
 affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2014 and  
 of the profit of the Company for the financial year  
 ended March 31, 2014;

c. Proper and sufficient care has been taken for   
 the maintenance of adequate accounting   
 records in accordance with the provisions of the  
 Companies Act, 1956, for safeguarding the assets  
 of the Company and for preventing and detecting  
 fraud and other irregularities; and,

d. The Annual accounts have been prepared on a   
 ‘going concern’ basis.

CorPoraTe GoverNaNCe  

A detailed report on Corporate Governance and copy 
of the certification of the Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer of the Company are provided as 
Annexures I and II to this report respectively.

STaTuTory auDITorS 

M/s. S.R.Batliboi & Co. LLP, the auditors of the 
Company, retire at the forthcoming AGM, and have 
made themselves available for re-appointment. The 
Audit Committee, after review, has recommended their 
re-appointment. The auditors have given their consent 

for the re-appointment and provided the certificate 
as per the relevant provisions of Chapter X of the 
Companies Act, 2013 vide their letter dated June 10, 
2014.

CoNServaTIoN oF eNerGy, TeChNoloGy 
abSorPTIoN aND ForeIGN exChaNGe 
earNINGS aND ouTGo

The provisions of the Notification No. GSR 1029 
dated December 31, 1988, relating to conservation of 
energy and technology absorption do not apply to the 
Company, since it is an NBFC. 

However, Fullerton India adapts the usage of 
information technology extensively and is prudent in 
utilising non-renewable resources. There were foreign 
exchange outflows of Rs. 98 lakhs (Rs. 70 lakhs in  
FY 2012-13), pertaining to travel, training and 
professional fees.

ParTICularS oF emPloyeeS

As required by the provisions of Section 217(2A) of 
the Companies Act, 1956, read with the Companies 
(Particulars of Employees) Rules, 1975, as amended, 
the names and other particulars of the employees are 
set out in a separate Annexure to the Directors’ Report. 

aCkNowleDGemeNT 

Your Directors would like to place on record, their 
gratitude for the cooperation and guidance received 
from all the statutory bodies, especially the RBI. The 
Directors also thank the clients, vendors, investors, 
banks and other stakeholders and shareholders in 
placing their faith in the Company and enabling its 
growth. A great appreciation to all employees, and we 
look forward to their contribution going forward.

on behalf of the board of Directors

Gan Chee yen 
Chairman

Place: Mumbai  
Date:  June 19, 2014
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I. CorPoraTe GoverNaNCe PhIloSoPhy aND 
PraCTICe

Fullerton India Credit Company Ltd (FICCL) believes 
in adopting and adhering to the best recognised 
corporate governance practices and continuously 
benchmarks itself against each such practice. It 
also understands and respects its fiduciary role and 
responsibility towards its shareholders, customers, 
employees and bankers and strives hard to meet their 
expectations.

The Company believes that best Board practices and 
transparent disclosures are necessary for creating 
shareholders value. The Company has infused 
the philosophy of corporate governance into all its 
activities. The philosophy of corporate governance 
is an important tool for shareholders protection and 
maximization of their long term values. The cardinal 
principles such as independence, accountability, 
responsibility, transparency, fair and timely disclosures, 
credibility, etc. serve as the means for implementing the 
philosophy of corporate governance in letter and spirit. 
In addition to compliance with regulatory requirements, 
FICCL endeavors to ensure highest standards of ethical 
and responsible conduct.

The Company continuously focuses on upgrading 
its governance practices and systems to effectively 
meet the new challenges faced by the Company. 
It is focused on raising the standards of corporate 
governance and adopting best systems and 
procedures. It is also committed to achieve and 
maintain the highest standards of corporate 
governance by timely and accurate disclosure of 
information regarding the performance of the Company. 

The constitution of the Board and its committees are 
in compliance with the provisions of the Company law 
and the RBI regulations. Although the Clause 49 of 
the Listing Agreement does not apply to FICCL, as its 
equity shares are not listed on any stock exchange, the 
Company voluntarily follows the spirit of Clause 49 to 
the extent possible.

II. boarD oF DIreCTorS

The Corporate Governance principles of the Company 
ensure that the Board remains informed, independent 
and provides guidance to the Company. Further the 
Board is fully aware of its fiduciary responsibilities and 
recognizes its responsibilities to stakeholders to uphold 
the highest standards in all matters concerning FICCL.

All the Directors of the Company are well qualified 
persons of proven competence and possess the 
highest level of personal and professional ethics, 
integrity and values. The Directors exercise their 
objective judgment independently. The Board is 
committed towards representing the long term interests 
of its stakeholders. The Board members actively 
participate in all strategic issues which are crucial for 
the long term development of the organization.

As on date, the Board comprises seven Directors, with 
one Executive Director (Managing Director) and six 
Non-Executive Directors. The Chairman of the Board is 
a Non-Executive Director. 

None of the Non-Executive Directors have any material 
pecuniary relationships or transactions with the 
Company. 

There were four Board meetings during the year on;  

i. June 18, 2013  

ii. September 12, 2013  

iii. November 29, 2013 and 

iv. March 24, 2014 

The time gap between any two meetings was less than 
four months and at least one meeting was held every 
quarter.

As a matter of good governance the dates of the Board 
meetings are fixed in advance for the full calendar year 
to enable maximum attendance and participation from 
all the Directors. The relevant background material 
of the agenda items are distributed in advance of the 
meetings. All material information is presented for 
meaningful deliberations at the meeting. The Board on 
a continuous basis reviews the actions and decisions 
taken by it and by the Committees constituted by it. 

aNNexure I To The DIreCTorS’ rePorT

Report on corporAte governance
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Notes:

i.  Category of Directorship:  
 MD – Managing Director 
 ED – Executive Director   
 NED – Non Executive Director  
 NED (I) – Non-Executive Director and Independent

ii.     Comprises public limited companies incorporated   
 in India only.

iii.  Comprises private limited companies incorporated   
 in India, foreign companies and Section 25    
 companies.

iv.  As per the requirement of Clause 49, only    
 membership/chairmanship of the Audit Committee   
 and Shareholders’/Investors Grievance Committee   
 held in public limited companies have been    
 considered. None of the Directors were Chairman   
 of any of the said committees. 

v.    None of the Directors of the Company hold    
 Directorship in more than 15 Public Companies    
 or is a member in more than 10 Committees    
 or acts as Chairman of more than 5 Committees   
 across all companies in which he or she is a Director.

Name of the Director Category of 
Directorship (i)

board meetings 
attended out of 

4 held 

attendance 
at the last 

aGm held on 
September 16, 

2013

Number of other  
Directorships

Number 
of other 

Committee 
memberships 

(iv)
in other Indian 
public limited 
companies (ii)

in other 
Companies (iii)

Mr. Gan Chee Yen, Chairman NED 3/4 Absent Nil 13 Nil
Mr. Rajeev Kakar NED 4/4 Absent 1 1 1
Mr. Wilson Chia NED 4/4 Absent Nil 2 Nil
Mr. Alan Thompson NED 3/4 Present Nil 1 Nil
Ms. Lee Li Ing NED 3/4 Absent Nil 5 Nil
Mr. Ferdy Khouw NED 3/4 Absent Nil 1 Nil
Mr. Shantanu Mitra MD(ED) 4/4 Present 1 1 Nil

The Board members meet the senior management personnel from time to time.

The names of the Directors, attendance at Board Meetings and Annual General Meeting during the year, the number of 
other Directorships and Committee Memberships held by them as at March 31, 2014 are as follows:  

DIreCTorS SeekING reaPPoINTmeNT

Mr. Rajeev Kakar and Mr. Wilson Chia, being eligible, 
have offered themselves for re-appointment at the 
forthcoming AGM. The profiles of the two directors are 
as under:

mr. rajeev kakar

Mr. Rajeev Kakar is currently the Head of Consumer 
Banking, Fullerton Financial Holdings Pte Ltd (FFH). 
Rajeev is concurrently also the Founder, Managing 
Director & CEO of Dunia Finance - a joint venture 
financial institution, with leading sovereign investors like 
Fullerton Financial Holdings & Mubadala Investment 
Company. Prior to joining FFH in January 2006,  
Mr. Kakar was the Regional Head & CEO for Citibank’s 
Global Consumer Bank, managing the Turkey, Middle 
East and Africa region, based out of Dubai. Mr. Kakar 
was also a Director on the CEMEA Board of Visa 
International from July 2004 - February 2006. With 
nearly two decades of experience in the Banking 
Industry, Mr. Kakar has expertise in enterprise 
management in diverse environments, turn-around 
management, and hands-on experience in the 
functional areas of General Management, Finance, 
Operations, Marketing, Sales and Credit. 

Mr. Kakar joined Citibank in 1987 in India. In 1998,  
Mr. Kakar started the Citigroup/Suzuki (Maruti) joint 
venture finance company in India and ran this highly 
successful enterprise as its founding Managing Director 
and as the CEO for over two and a half years. In 2000, 
Mr. Kakar was appointed the Country Head for Citibank 
in Egypt, where he launched the Consumer Bank. 
Mr. Kakar relocated to Turkey in 2002 as Citibank’s 
Cluster Country Head & CEO, for Turkey and Egypt. 
His role was expanded further and in 2003 when he 
took on the role of Regional Head & CEO for Citibank, 
managing the rapidly growing and complex markets of 
Turkey, Middle East, Pakistan and Africa. 

Mr. Kakar holds a Bachelor in Technology and in 
Mechanical Engineering from the Indian Institute 
of Technology (IIT) Delhi and a Master in Business 
Administration, focusing on Marketing and Finance, 
from the Indian Institute of Management (IIM) 
Ahmedabad.

Mr. Kakar is also on the Board of Fullerton Securities & 
Wealth Advisors Limited. Besides, he is on the board of 
a foreign company, Dunia Finance LLC, UAE.

Mr. Kakar does not hold any shares in the Company. 
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mr. wilson Chia

Mr. Wilson Chia is currently the Head of Small and 
Medium Enterprises & Commercial Banking, Fullerton 
Financial Holdings Pte Ltd (FFH). Mr. Chia is a highly 
seasoned banker with over 30 years of experience in 
the financial services industry. Most recently, he was 
the Regional Head of Consumer Banking for South 
East Asia with Standard Chartered Bank.

Mr. Chia joined Standard Chartered as Head of Cards 
in 1986 from Visa International. He subsequently 
assumed a number of senior positions in Marketing & 
Sales, Distribution, Product Management, SME and 
Premier Banking in the Bank. Mr. Chia was appointed 
as Country Head, Consumer Banking, Singapore in 
1997 before assuming the role of Regional Head, South 
East Asia in 2004. Under his leadership, Standard 
Chartered Consumer Bank in Singapore was named 
the Best Retail Bank in Asia for three consecutive 
years (2001-2003). In 2004, he was awarded the Asia 
Outstanding Retail Banker of the Year 2003 by The 
Asian Banker.

Mr. Chia has served as a member of the Board of 
Commissioners at Permata Bank, Indonesia; as a 
member of the MasterCard Global Risk Management 
Committee; and as a member of the Visa International 
Asia Pacific Marketing and Product Development 
Advisor Group.

Mr. Chia holds a Bachelor’s degree in Accountancy and 
an MBA from the National University of Singapore, and 
is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants. 

Mr. Chia is not on the board of any other company in 
India. However, he is on the Board of two companies 
outside India, Viz, NIB Bank Ltd, Pakistan and Shanghai 
Fullerton Management Consultancy Co Ltd, China.

Mr. Chia does not hold any shares in the Company.

III. boarD CommITTeeS  
 
(a) audit Committee 
 
Terms of reference 

The powers and terms of reference of the Audit 
Committee are comprehensive and include the 
requirements as set out under Section 292A of the 
Companies Act, 1956. The Committee is vested with 
necessary powers as defined in its charter to achieve 
its objectives. The role of the Committee in brief 
includes the following:

- Hold discussions with the auditors periodically   
 about internal control systems, the scope of audit  
 including the observations of the auditors and also  
 ensure compliance of internal control systems

- To oversee the Company’s financial reporting   
 process and the disclosure of its financial   

 information to ensure that the financial statements  
 are correct, sufficient and credible

- Reviewing with management the financial   
 statements before submission to the board

- Reviewing with the management, external and   
 internal auditors, the adequacy of internal control  
 systems

- Discussion with the internal auditor on any   
 significant findings and follow up thereon

- Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations  
 by the internal auditor into matters where there   
 is suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of   
 internal control systems of a material nature and  
 reporting the matter to the Board

- Reviewing of Company’s financial and risk   
 management policies

- To look into the reasons for substantial defaults   
 in the payments to the depositors, debenture   
 holders, shareholders and creditors

Composition 

The Audit Committee currently comprises of three 
Non-Executive Directors. All the members of the Audit 
Committee are financially literate and eminent persons 
of proven competence and integrity. The Company 
Secretary acts as the Secretary to the Committee. The 
Statutory Auditors and Internal Auditors are invited to 
the meeting to bring out the issues which they may 
have with regards to finance, operations, processes, 
systems and other allied matters.

meetings

The Audit Committee Meetings were held on the 
following dates and the necessary quorum was present 
at all the meetings:  

i. June 18, 2013  

ii. September 12, 2013  

iii. November 12, 2013 

iv. November 29 , 2013 and 

v. March 24, 2014 

The details of the composition of the Committee and 
attendance at its Meetings are set out in the following 
table:  

Name of member Number of meetings 
attended

Mr. Alan Thompson, Chairman 5/5

Mr. Rajeev Kakar 5/5

Mr. Wilson Chia 4/5

The proceedings of the Audit Committee Meetings 
were noted by the Board of Directors at its meetings. 
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(b) risk oversight Committee

The Company has a comprehensive, well-established 
and detailed risk management framework. The 
Company especially focuses on improving sensitivity 
to assessment of risks and improving methods 
of computation of risk weights, processes and 
procedures. The Company has constituted a Risk 
Oversight Committee to identify, review and control 
key risk areas, across the entire organization as per 
the requirements of Non-Banking Finance Companies 
(NBFC’s) guidelines.

Terms of reference 

Risk Oversight Committee is a Board-level Committee 
dedicated to monitor the risk management in the 
Company. The risk assessment and mitigation 
procedures are reviewed by the Committee periodically.  
The role of the Committee in brief includes the 
following:

- Oversee the development of risk policies and   
 strategies

- Implement risk policies relevant to all business units

- Ensure that all activities are in compliance with   
 the Prudential Regulations and also within the   
 framework of the policies and controls established  
 by the relevant units of the Company

- Formulate the policy for the consideration of the   
 Board on the client profile, products, risk return   
 matrix on the asset side

- Studying the market with regard to the interest rate  
 risk, currency risk and other financial risk

- Formulating the policy on raising the resources   
 based on the perceived risk parameters

- Sanction of the credit limits within the ceilings   
 prescribed by the Board

- Determining the terms of the sanction such as   
 the interest rate, security, repayment, documents,  
 etc. within the overall credit policy of the company

The Risk Oversight Committee (ROC) controls and 
manages the inherent risks relating to the Company’s 
activities in the following categories:  

- Credit Risk  

- Market Risk/Liquidity Risk  

- Liquidity Risk Management 

- Currency Risk 

- Interest Rate Risk 

- Operational Risk  

- Regulatory/Reputational Risk , etc.

Composition 

The Risk Oversight Committee currently comprises of 
three Non-Executive Directors. 

meetings

The Risk Oversight Committee meetings were held on 
the following dates and the necessary quorum was 
present at all the meetings:  

i. June 18, 2013  

ii. September 12, 2013  

ii. November 29, 2013 and 

iv. March 24, 2014 

The details of the composition of the Committee and 
attendance at its Meetings are set out in the following 
table:  

Name of member Number of meetings 
attended

Mr. Wilson Chia, Chairman 4/4

Mr. Gan Chee Yen 3/4

Mr. Rajeev Kakar 4/4

The proceedings of the Risk Oversight Committee 
Meetings were noted by the Board of Directors at its 
meetings. The Company Secretary acts as secretary to 
the Committee.

(c) remuneration and Nomination Committee 

Terms of reference 

The Terms of Reference of Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee in brief are as under:

- Provide guidance in the establishment and   
 ongoing development of Fullerton India’s overall   
 Human Capital mission and strategy

- Review Company’s Human Capital environment,  
 specifically in the area of talent acquisition,   
 retention, employee engagement & development  
 and succession planning

- Review proactive development and successful   
 deployment of key Human Capital strategies   
 and tools, especially in response to issues and   
 areas of concern, based on fact-finding, analysis  
 and recommendations by Management

- Provide input on talent potential identification for  
 senior management 

- Provide inputs and review training programs  

- Provide guidance on talent retention and review   
 implementation

- Compensation issues related to all the employees

- To decide on bonuses and increments of   
 leadership team members 

- Any other key Human Capital issues

- To review size, structure and composition of the   
 Board
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- To review and recommend suitable persons for   
 occupying the position of Directors

Composition 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
currently comprises of three Non-Executive Directors. 

meetings 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
meetings were held on the following dates and the 
necessary quorum was present at all the meetings:  

i. June 18, 2013  

ii. November 29, 2013 and 

iii. March 24, 2014 

The Committee meets on need basis. 

The details of the composition of the Committee and 
attendance at its Meetings are set out in the following 
table:  

Name of member Number of meetings 
attended

Mr. Gan Chee Yen, Chairman 2/3

Mr. Alan Thompson 2/3

Ms. Lee Li Ing 3/3

The proceedings of the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee Meetings were noted by the Board of 
Directors at its meetings.

The Company has other management committees 
such as Asset liability Management Committee (ALCO) 
formed as per the NBFCs Prudential Norms (Reserve 
Bank) Directions, 1998, as amended from time to time. 

Iv. whISTle blower PolICy 

The Company has formulated a Whistle Blower policy. 
The policy comprehensively provides an opportunity 
for every employee to report their concerns about 
unethical behaviour, actual or suspected fraud or 
violation of the company’s code of conduct or ethics 
policy to the management. This mechanism provides 
safeguards against victimisation of employees, 
who report their concerns. This policy has been 
appropriately communicated to the employees within 
the organization. This has also been posted on the 
Company’s intranet. An update on whistle blower 
cases and investigation conducted thereon is regularly 
presented to the Audit Committee once every quarter.

v. CoDe oF CoNDuCT

The Company has a code of conduct approved by 
the Board of Directors which is binding on employees 
and directors of the Company and the same has been 
complied with. Code of conduct is signed off on Annual 
basis every year.

vI. DIreCTorS & oFFICerS lIabIlITy INSuraNCe CoveraGe

The Company has obtained Directors & Officers Liability Insurance coverage from HDFC Ergo General Insurance 
Company Ltd to the extent of Rs. 10 Crores along with Entity cover under Employees Practices Liability and any other 
legal action that might be initiated against the Directors.

vII. GeNeral boDy meeTINGS

The details of the General Body Meetings held in the last three financial years are given below:

General body meeting Date Time venue

Sixteenth  AGM September 14, 2011 11.00 a.m. 3rd Floor, No-307, Venkat Tower, P.H. Road, Maduravoyal, 
Chennai – 600095

Extra-Ordinary General 
Meeting

March 30, 2012 5.00 p.m. Board Room, Floor 6, B wing, Supreme IT Park, Supreme City, 
Behind Lake Castle, Powai, Mumbai 400 076

Seventeenth AGM August 23, 2012 11.30 a.m. Megh Towers, Third Floor, Old No.307, New No.165, 
Poonamallee High Road, Maduravoyal, Chennai – 600095

Extra-Ordinary General 
Meeting

September 26, 2012 11.00 a.m. Board Room, Floor 6, B wing, Supreme IT Park, Supreme City, 
Behind Lake Castle, Powai, Mumbai 400 076

Eighteenth AGM September 16, 2013 11.30 a.m. Megh Towers, Third Floor, Old No.307, New No.165, 
Poonamallee High Road, Maduravoyal, Chennai – 600095
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The details of the Special resolutions passed in the General Meetings held in the previous three financial years are given 
below: 

General body meeting Date resolution

Sixteenth  AGM September 14, 2011 i. To ratify the remuneration of the Wholetime Director 
for the FY 2010-11 and to approve increase in his 
remuneration 
 
ii. To appoint and approve remuneration of Mr. Shantanu 
Mitra as the Managing Director of the Company 

Extra-Ordinary General Meeting March 30, 2012 To approve alteration of Object Clause of Memorandum of 
Association

Extra-Ordinary General Meeting September 26, 2012 To approve issue of 15 crores Equity Shares of Rs. 
10/- each aggregating to Rs. 150 crores to M/s Angelica 
Investments Pte Ltd on preferential basis at par

Eighteenth AGM September 16, 2013 To appoint and approve remuneration of Mr. Shantanu Mitra 
as the Managing Director of the Company

 
All the resolutions were passed by show of hands and no resolutions were passed by postal ballot.

vIII.  DISCloSureS

i. Disclosures on materially significant related party  
 transactions that may have potential conflict with  
 the interests of company at large:

 The particulars of the transactions between the   
 company and ‘related parties’ are provided at point  
 27 of Notes to accounts published elsewhere in   
 the Annual Report. None of the transactions are   
 likely to have any conflict with Company’s interest.

ii.  Details of non-compliance by the company,   
 penalties, strictures imposed on the company   
 by Stock Exchange or SEBI or any statutory   
 authority, on any matter related to capital markets,  
 during the last three years - NIL

Ix. Ceo/CFo CerTIFICaTe:

The CEO and the CFO of the Company have certified 
to the Board with regard to the financial statements and 
other matters. This certificate is included as Annexure II 
to the Directors’ Report.
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CERTIFICATION bY ChIEF ExECUTIVE OFFICER (CEO) AND ChIEF 
FINANCIAL OFFICER (CFO) 
aNNexure II To The DIreCTorS’ rePorT

To 
The Shareholders and the Board of Directors 
Fullerton India Credit Company Limited

We, Shantanu Mitra, Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director and Pratik Gandhi, Chief Financial Officer, of Fullerton 
India Credit Company Limited, to the best of our knowledge and belief, certify that:

a. We have reviewed the financial statements and the cash flow statements for the year ended  March 31, 2014   
(hereinafter referred to as the year) and that to the best of our knowledge and belief:

 i. These statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain   
  statements that might be misleading;

 ii. These statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance with  
  existing accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations. 

b. There are no transactions entered into by the Company during the year which are fraudulent, illegal or violative of  
 the Company’s internal policies. 

c. We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial reporting and we have   
 evaluated the effectiveness of internal control systems of the Company pertaining to financial reporting and have  
 disclosed to the Auditors and the Audit Committee, deficiencies in the design or operation of such internal controls,  
 if any, of which we are aware and have taken requisite steps to rectify these deficiencies.

d. We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit Committee;

 i. Significant changes in internal control over financial reporting during the year and

 ii. Significant changes in accounting policies during the year and the same have been disclosed in the notes to  
  the financial statements.

e. There have been 25 instances of fraud cases reported by the Company to the Board. The Company has taken  
 appropriate legal action against the same. Although the Company is registered as deposit accepting NBFC, it has  
 not accepted deposits from public.

 Sd/- Sd/-
Place: Mumbai Shantanu Mitra Pratik Gandhi    
Date:  June 19, 2014 Chief Executive Officer & Chief Financial Officer 
 Managing Director
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The headline Wholesale Price Index (WPI) inflation, 
increased from 4.8% in April 2013 to 7.5% in 
November 2013, and then reduced to 5.7% in March 
2014. Average inflation during FY 2013-14 was 5.9%, 
compared to 7.4% in FY 2012-13. Inflation eased due 
to a moderation in the manufactured goods segment, 
where average inflation in FY 2013-14 decreased to 
2.9% compared to 5.4% in FY 2012-13. Fuel inflation 
remained flat at about 10.0% in FY 2013-14. However, 
food inflation increased to 12.8% from 9.9% in FY 
2012-13. Retail inflation, measured by the Consumer 
Price Index (CPI), remained elevated at above 9.0% 
levels during the early part of fiscal 2013-14 and rose 
to an all-time high of 11.2% in November 2013 due to 
a spike in vegetable prices but subsequently reduced 
to 8.3% in March 2014. Core CPI inflation, excluding 
food and fuel, remained steady at around 8.0% through 
fiscal 2013-14. 
 

 

Sector Performance 

The retail financial sector in India is estimated at  
Rs. 16.60 trillion, and is primarily dominated by 
commercial banks. Non-Banking Financial Companies 
(NBFCs) whose assets are close to Rs. 3.38 trillion, 
meet one fifth of the financing needs. The banks share 
in this sector has witnessed a steady decline of 10% 
in the past five years both on account of their risk 
aversion in the unsecured personal loan segment, 
as well as due to an increased activity from NBFCs. 
Customer preferences for a quicker turnaround, 
flexibility and convenience added with higher levels 
of disposable income has aided to the NBFCs’ 
growth during this period. The fact that the NBFCs’ 
understanding of the client and their internal systems 
have evolved positively over time, has contributed 

INDIaN eCoNomy 

The Indian economy remained on a relatively 
weak footing in FY 2013-14 even though some 
improvements were seen with respect to the twin 
deficit problems of the fiscal and the current account.

The first half of the fiscal witnessed global liquidity 
concerns weighing on the domestic market, leading to 
a declining currency, current account deficit and large 
portfolio outflows, thereby causing volatility in money 
market rates. This stalled international and corporate 
investments, and the country faced the twin challenges 
of a slowdown across sectors as well as high inflation. 
The government’s initiatives such as the Food Security 
Bill and the Land Acquisition Bill were deemed populist 
measures by the market and industry, raising questions 
on the country’s effectiveness in controlling the fiscal 
deficit. There were concerns that the country’s rating 
might be downgraded if the weakening currency was 
not controlled effectively.

The second half of fiscal 2013-14 was relatively better, 
aided by an improvement in global markets, which was 
primarily driven by the US Federal Bank, maintaining 
its asset purchase programme, and key decisions 
by authorities in India. In light of the high inflation, 
India’s central bank increased its headline rate thrice.  
Further, it intervened in the foreign exchange markets 
to stabilise expectations and by providing a swap 
facility to oil marketing companies and banks aided 
in the Rupee’s recovery. The newly formed Cabinet 
Committee on Investments (CCI), a body created to 
revive investor sentiment cleared stalled projects worth 
Rs. 3.50 trillion (nearly 5% of the country’s GDP). Other 
key fiscal measures included monthly increases in the 
prices of diesel, an effort to contain state profligacy, 
containment of the losses of state owned electricity 
boards and curbs on Gold import. 

Whilst the measures did not translate into an impetus 
for growth, they however contained fiscal and current 
account deficits, helped to calm the markets and 
turned FII investments positive, particularly so in the 
last quarter. 

India’s Gross Domestic Product (GDP) grew by 4.7% 
in FY 2013-14, the second successive year of a sub-
5% growth.  The GDP growth was moderate due to a 
slowdown in industry and services sectors. However 
a satisfactory monsoon boosted agriculture growth 
to 4.7% from 1.4% in FY 2012-13. Growth in the 
industrial sector was 0.4%, down from 1% in  
FY 2012-13. The services sector grew by 6.8%, 
compared to 7.0% in FY 2012-13.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Growth Indicators
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to a risk taking attitude in some under-penetrated markets. Of the total assets of all NBFCs, commercial vehicle 
and construction equipment finance constituted the bulk; followed by passenger vehicles, gold loans, mortgages, 
unsecured loans, and others.  

In FY 2013-14, the low capital formation and declining industrial output coupled with high interest rates, resulted in 
lacklustre loan bookings and de-growth in the segments of new commercial vehicles and construction equipment. Gold 
loans experienced contraction as well on account of price volatility, changes to regulations and tapering demand. On 
the other hand the mortgages business showed smart signs of growth as property prices remained stable. However, 
increased NPA levels particularly in the PSU banks combined with discouraging macro trends further enhanced the risk 
aversion in the banking sector. Asset quality was reasonable, barring exposures to the commercial vehicle, tractor and 
SME sectors. 

key reGulaTory DeveloPmeNTS IN The INDIaN FINaNCIal SeCTor IN Fy 2013-14 INCluDe:

outlook 

GDP growth in FY 2013-14 was below 5% levels, a 
marginal improvement compared to the previous fiscal, 
one of the lowest in a decade. Current account deficit, 
however, has been in a downward trajectory aided by 
an uptick in exports, a decline in imports and higher 
capital flows. The IMF expects this trend to continue 
on account of a combination of factors that include an 
easing of domestic mining constraints, rising external 
demand and improvement in the country’s competitive 
position due to currency depreciation. The manageable 
small deficit is likely to be financed by FDIs, domestic 
debt, and inflows of deposits from Non Resident 
Indians. 

The Government’s target of bringing down the fiscal 
deficit to levels of 3% by fiscal 2016-17, though 
ambitious, is laudable as initiatives have been taken to 
rationalise the tax structure, reform the high subsidies 
in fuel and fertiliser, fix the cost recoveries in electricity 
distribution companies, and adhere to budget 
management. The clearance of a backlog of projects 
through the CCI is likely to create a positive spill-over 
effect into the economy over the next few quarters. 

There is an increased likelihood that these initiatives, 
led by a positive outlook on India by global investors, 
may lead to higher capital formation and revival of 
industrial growth that could translate to demand for 
productive assets such as commercial vehicles.

Reforms in the financial sector including speedy debt 
recovery mechanisms and the governments drive 
towards financial inclusion, creates avenues for greater 
growth in the rural areas – a market that has been 
resilient to macro-economic headwinds, and one that is 
directly relevant to Fullerton India’s business prospects.

The recently concluded 2014 Indian general elections 
has given the country a single large party majority 
government, after years of coalition based governance 
which made policy decision making arduous on account 
of differing expectations amongst the law makers. The 
new government is viewed by both domestic industry 
and international investors as business friendly, and 
they have been elected to power on the backdrop 
of a change to a flagging economy, high prices and 
rising unemployment levels. Decision making and 
structural changes are likely to be at a faster pace 
under this government and this might just be the uptick 
the economy has been awaiting. The monsoon rains, 

regulation Impact

LTV Cap on Gold Loans -   The enhancement of the cap to 75% (60%) has rekindled growth in this segment.  
-   Changes to the customer verification process, and disbursement formalities is likely  
     to increase turnaround time and forego certain business.

New Bank Licenses -  Stiff PSL targets – provides a greater space for securitisation/assignment for NBFCs 
-  Presence in unbanked areas – NBFCs have a representation here, there could be room  
   for strategic alignments. 

Credit Enhancement (CE) Reset Guidelines -  Likely to benefit the originators through lower effective cost of securitisation leading to  
    better returns. 
-  Provide an impetus to the securitisation market. 

External Commercial Borrowings (ECBs) -  Borrowing norms relaxed under the automatic route that obviates the necessity for  
   a pre-fact approval from the regulator towards infrastructure projects. Limited impact  
   across NBFCs as this is only for infrastructure related financing. 

Restrictions on Private Placements -  The time lag between subsequent issues, compulsory collateral and minimum  
   subscription required constrains the avenues for NBFCs. Public issuance is both costly,  
   and a time consuming exercise, and more driven by investor sentiments. This is likely  
   to affect resource mobilisation across NBFCs. 

Central Registry of Mortgages -  RBI mandated that all mortgages from March 31, 2011 were to be registered with  
   the Central Registry under Securitisation and Reconstruction of Financial Assets and  
   Enforcement of Security Interest Act, 2002 (SARFAESI Act).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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expected in the near term, are likely to have an impact 
on both prices and aspirational spending. Despite the 
likely effects of El Nino, a lower than expected rainfall 
may not have a damaging effect as the country’s food 
grain reserves are at a record level.  

Vulnerabilities may however be accentuated if inflation 
is not contained or in the event of a dampening 

external demand and higher oil prices. Despite ample 
international reserves (~$310bn) and an alert central 
bank, any shocks in the global financial environment 
would carry a systemic risk, given that India’s need for 
external financing would be adversely impacted due to 
any capital reversals.
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FullerToN INDIa urbaN aND rural buSINeSS

retail Credit Growth

As mentioned in the ‘Sector Performance’ commentary, 
the Indian retail credit market stood at Rs. 16.6 trillion 
as at September 30, 2013 and registered a growth 
of ~14% (annualised) in H1 FY 2013-14 against 3 
year CAGR of ~18%. In H1 FY 2013-14 retail credit 
growth for banks and Housing Finance Companies 
(HFCs) were at 14% and 18% (annualised) respectively, 
supported by growth in the housing segment. 

On the other hand, retail credit growth for NBFCs was 
lower at ~6% as demand for credit for productive 
assets (such as commercial vehicles and construction 
equipment) which are closely linked to economic 
activity, remained sluggish in a challenging operating 
environment. As at September 30, 2013 retail credit 
accounted for ~25% of total industry credit and has 
been growing steadily as banks have increased their 
focus on retail lending due to slow down in credit 
demand from corporate/industries. However, the 
growth of the banking retail credit is lower compared 
to that of NBFCs and HFCs as the latter capitalizes on 
localized knowledge, greater customer understanding, 
faster turnaround time and wider distribution networks. 

Despite healthy industry retail credit growth in the 
past, penetration levels (retail credit to GDP stood at 
~16% as at September 30, 2013) remain significantly 
lower than in developed countries, and therefore point 
towards significant opportunity for future growth. 

bureau Indicators

The credit bureaus established in India have played 
a major role in ensuring the quality of retail credit 
in India post 2008. The active participation and 
consultative approach of the bureau with the major 
lenders have helped regulate credit growth and share 
best practices. Apart from commercial vehicles, the 
behaviour of the other retail portfolios has not shown 
signs of deterioration despite the challenges in the 
economy. Lenders today are far more prudent in terms 
of their underwriting policies, customer selection and 
acceptance criteria. 

Data from credit bureau shows a significant uplift of 
loan demand post 2011 with a steady increase in 
people enquiring for credit. The proportion of people 
enquiring for unsecured credit is less than 50% of 
overall, compared to 67% during 2008 crisis. Market 
delinquencies are not showing any adverse trends.
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Self-employed customers of Fullerton India take 
unsecured loans for business expansion or to fulfil 
working capital requirements. Our Personal Loan 
product for the self-employed is designed primarily 
for customers whose annual business turnover 
ranges from Rs. 50 lakhs to Rs. 150 lakhs. Almost all 
customers qualify as priority sector customers.

Fullerton India’s Personal Loans business continues to 
be highly profitable and the focus for the next fiscal will 
be on maintaining the profitability and growing both the 
salaried and self-employed customer segments.

Risk – Return analytics of our company’s current 
portfolio and bureau information will continue to be the 
bedrock driving sustainable returns. The knowledge 
from analytics, coupled with in-depth knowledge of 
local market dynamics will enable the Personal Loan 
business to select right customer segments which 
assure profitability presently and through the cycle.

Investments that the company has made on analytics, 
systems and processes over the last fiscal will be the 
key pillars to deliver best-in-class turnaround times to 
our customers. FY 2014-15 will also see the company 
website enhanced to deliver approval in principle 
decisions to new loan applicants instantly. 

In the financial year 2013-14, the Personal Loans 
portfolio of Fullerton India grew by 7.5%. The company 
plans to leverage its customer base and network to 
build this business further. 

loans against Property (laP)

Building a secured mix in the portfolio is the key focus 
for Fullerton India in the current fiscal year and the 
lead products to deliver the same are Loans Against 
Property (Retail LAP) and SME – LAP. Both the products 
have substantially ramped up volumes in FY 2013-
14 while maintaining good portfolio quality. The key 
enablers being product modifications (marked to market 
alignment), best in segment turnaround time through 
process re-engineering and robust credit filtrations to 
weed out profile and financial evaluation risk.

Fullerton India has invested in a team of professionals 
with specialized experience in secured lending across 
the departments of sales, risk & operations, both at 
branch and central level. Our company’s LAP business 
has created its own niche originating new business 
from a better customer profile and loans with higher 
collateral value support.

The endeavour of our LAP business in the financial 
year 2014-15 would be to deliver profitable growth and 
ensure that the organization’s goal of a higher secured 
portfolio mix is achieved. 

Fullerton India’s LAP portfolio witnessed a growth of 
62% in the last financial year and the company has 
put in place initiatives to provide further thrust to the 
business.

FullerToN INDIa’S urbaN buSINeSS

Fullerton India’s Urban Business currently has over 
2.7 lakh customers residing in 192 cities across the 
country. Through its urban network of 219 branches 
across 20 states, we address the personal financing 
requirements of our customers. Our business serves 
the funding requirements of three separate customer 
segments: 

1. Salaried Individuals 

2. Self Employed Individuals and MSME (Micro, Small  
 and Medium Enterprises) 

3. SME

Our core product suite comprises unsecured Personal 
Loans, Loans Against Property and Commercial Vehicle 
funding. Apart from these products, we also market 
Life & General Insurance products of our Insurance 
Partners to our wide customer base.  

While the customer segment of Fullerton India may 
overlap with the segment of customers serviced by 
banks, our company differentiates our product offering 
through:

• Analytics powered customer selection – combining  
 knowledge from our customer base and credit   
 bureau variables

• Superior customer experience – leveraging    
 technology to offer best-in-class turnaround   
 time

• Superior understanding of the customer segments  
 that are not targeted by banks or are underserved  
 by banks

The focus of the Urban business for Financial Year 
2014-15 would be to complement the profitable 
unsecured business with the strength of a secured 
book built through Loans Against Property and 
Commercial Vehicle finance.

This would be achieved through emphasis on 
leveraging our wide reach to acquire a large new 
customer base and also cross sell to our existing 
customer base with a focused approach to secured 
lending in identified geographies, across retail and SME 
customer segments. 

Personal loans

Fullerton India provides unsecured Personal Loans 
to salaried individuals residing and working in the 
locations we are present in. While we underwrite 
applications across income bands, the product 
program is primarily targeted to customers earning 
between Rs. 20,000 to Rs. 30,000 per month. The 
end-use of these loans to salaried individuals is typically 
expenses for home renovation, wedding, children’s 
education and emergencies.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Sme loans

India has a total base of 48.8 million small and medium 
businesses, making it one of the world’s fastest 
growing SME markets. The SME market is largely 
dominated by micro scale businesses, contributing 
95% of the SME landscape, followed by small scale 
businesses contributing 4.8% and the remaining 0.2% 
is contributed by medium scale businesses. 1.5 million 
SMEs export their products or services outside India 
which is a sign of the sector’s rapid evolution. 82% of 
all SMEs are situated in 10 states of India. These 10 
states also account for two-third of the mobile and 
internet subscribers in the country. Fullerton India has 
scope for Secured Lending to all the categories of 
micro, small & medium enterprises.

The Indian SME sector employs over 81 million people 
in India (FY 2014) which has increased at a CAGR 
of 5.29%. Fixed investment has been consistently 
increasing over the years at 11.48%. Manufacturing 
leads this segment. Lending to SMEs in urban locations 
offers good scope and is continuously growing with 
new lenders entering this segment. The Reserve Bank 
of India had re-introduced MSME segment under the 
Priority Sector Lending (PSL) category in 2013 to boost 
higher credit to this sector. 

Fullerton India’s SME lending is in its nascent stage of 
growth with offerings restricted to only collateral backed 
lending. With the positive changes in the economy, we 
plan to scale up lending volumes in this segment while 
maintaining portfolio quality. To enable growth in the 
SME segment our company will expand distribution in 
key SME markets and new product offerings. 

Fullerton India’s SME portfolio witnessed a growth of 
approximately 200% the last fiscal and this portfolio is 
also expected to see robust growth in the financial year 
2014-15.

Commercial vehicle loans

Fullerton India has built capability on the Commercial 
Vehicle Loans business and has reorganized this 
business with a focus on 21 high potential centres 
for Commercial Vehicle business in India. With the 
economy improving, our company is well poised to 
take advantage of the growth by ramping up disbursal 
volumes in this product. 

The company’s key target customer segments are 
small fleet operators and the key targeted vehicle 
categories are Medium and Light commercial vehicles. 
We will also focus on financing used commercial 
vehicles for the retail small operator segment.

Insurance business

Fullerton India is the corporate agent for ICICI 
Prudential for Life Insurance and for ICICI Lombard for 
General Insurance products. Our company markets 
both Life and General insurance products of our 
Partner Insurance Companies to our large base of 
customers. 

Our unique Sampoorna Suraksha product– a Life and 
General Insurance bundled offering - designed along 
with our Insurance Partners, is currently marketed 
through our Urban branch network to over 85% of our 
loan customers.
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FullerToN INDIa GramShakTI  
- rural FINaNCIal ServICeS

In the last 10 years, the rural areas of the country 
have seen a kind of transformation not witnessed 
since economic reforms began around 1990. In 
fact, on some metrics they have been the best 
since independence. This is not only true of income 
indicators, whether in terms of income accruing to 
farmers or the wages of casual workers in rural areas, 
but also for other markers of social development such 
as educational enrolment and health indicators. 

Today, agriculture accounts for only one fourth of rural 
GDP and about 30-35% comes from the services 
sector. This has made the rural economy more 
robust. The rural economy now accounts for 50% 
of India’s economy which remains stable in spite of 
the fluctuations in other parts of the economy.  Since 
2000, per capita GDP in rural India has grown at a 150 
basis points faster rate than in urban India, contrary to 
the trend seen in other emerging economies. In fact, 
evidence of increased prosperity in rural areas has 
now been confirmed from many sources, including the 
estimates of poverty which suggest a faster reduction 
since 2004. At a time when the sale of automobiles is 
showing signs of deceleration, there is increase in sales 
of tractors and two-wheelers, largely consumed in the 
rural areas. 

As aspirations grow and consumption rises, there is a 
growing demand for rural housing, two-wheelers and 
small commercial vehicles and capital investments for 
micro and small enterprises, which requires deeper 
penetration of financial services in these areas. Lack of 
access to capital is one of the most serious deterrents 
to development in rural India. Access to formal financial 
services would not only make credit cheaper but also 
bring capital investments into these geographies. 
Improved access to organized financial services is 
imperative to the advancement of livelihoods in the 
rural economy. Fullerton India’s vision is to enable the 
advancement of livelihoods in rural markets through 
innovative financial products and delivery processes 
that promote greater financial inclusion.

Fullerton India Gramshakti : expanding reach 

Fullerton India’s rural business called ‘Gramshakti’ now 
has a presence across 7 states - Tamil Nadu, Andhra 
Pradesh, Maharashtra, Karnataka, Gujarat, Rajasthan 
and Madhya Pradesh. 

Our strategy has been to expand our reach and 
establish Fullerton India Gramshakti as a financial 
institution that contributes significantly to growing 
financing requirements of all customer segments 
in each of the rural catchments we are present in. 
To achieve this, our company plans to expand our 
network steadily to cover more potential rural markets 
in the coming years. We also plan to introduce newer 
products to cater to the needs of the varied segments 
in the rural geographies and to meet the growing 
aspirations of the rural customers. 
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engaging with the community 

We actively engage with the community to help them 
build skills and advance their livelihoods, to increase 
awareness in areas of health and social issues and on 
financial literacy. Our company also conducts cattle 
care programs and eye care camps for customers and 
their live-stock. As part of our unique CSR initiative, we 
organize livelihood advancement programmes among 
rural communities, to help them improve their quality 
of life, advance their livelihoods and smoothen their 
income streams.

Innovating products for customer needs

As at March 31, 2014, Gramshakti had over 7 lakh 
customers, providing them small loans for various 
livelihood advancement activities.  Over the last year 
we have diversified the mix of our offerings in the 
rural market to add more secured loan products 
which included Two-wheeler & Commercial Vehicle 
loans, Housing Loans and Loans Against Property for 
business enterprises.

our key offerings:

1) Micro loans to women’s solidarity groups 

2) Growing Enterprise Loans to micro-enterprises 

3) Merchandise Loans that fund purchase of relevant  
 products like eco-stoves and solar lamps, cattle   
 feed, water filters, handloom machines, among   
 others 

4) Two-wheeler Loans 

5) Commercial Vehicle Loans 

6) Rural Housing Finance for self-construction homes 

7) Loans Against Property

Fullerton India Gramshakti started with a pilot of 8 
branches in 2008 and over the last 6 years has steadily 
built up the rural network to 178 branches, as at  
March 31, 2014. These branches service over 30,000 
villages. In the financial year 2013-14, 55 new branches 
were added to the rural business network. 

In the financial year 2014-15 we plan to expand the 
network further.

Growing Portfolio

Rural assets of the company grew over 80% to  
Rs. 96,857 lakhs as at March 31, 2014 with over 7 lakh 
customers. Collection efficiency continued to be good 
at over 99% and the portfolio quality continued to be 
robust, resulting in a profit growth of over 81% over the 
previous year. With the expansion in the branch network, 
we expect the business to grow to further heights.

last mile reach – our core strength

Fullerton India Gramshakti’s mission is to cover the 
‘last mile’ between its branch where financial services 
are available and the home or place of business of our 
customer. Making quality financial services available at 
the doorstep of the customer is financial inclusion in the 
truest sense.

The Gramshakti network has an enviable reach that 
covers the last mile between the branch and the end 
customer in each village in the catchment, enabling 
financial inclusion of the under-served and unserved 
segments of the rural markets. Each branch covers a 
radius of up to 30 kms around the branch and services 
households in more than 125 villages and small towns 
in every catchment. 

Fullerton India’s Officers service customers at their 
doorstep and constantly engage in improving the 
understanding of customers about our company’s 
financial services as well as create awareness on the 
need for good credit behaviour for their long term growth.

leveraging technology to service the rural 
customer

We have invested in unique technology systems to 
enable us to serve the customer better and faster. 
The use of bio-metric authentication processes and 
transaction devices, have enabled speedier servicing of 
collections and also built a great level of transparency, 
trust and customer confidence. The branches are 
linked with central systems and all operations are online 
providing for access to customer information and 
transactions on a real time basis. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The product strategy is to increase contribution from 
secured products particularly mortgage backed 
products and migrate to the higher income segment 
in the unsecured business. Credit processes continue 
to be a judicious mix of hub based credit appraisal, 
backed by branch verification processes, depending on 
product complexity.

The Commercial Business vertical will be a key feature 
of the Fullerton India growth story. Comprising of the 
commercial vehicle financing product to a different 
category of transporters and working capital funding 
to SME customers, the book size currently stands at 
Rs. 94,686 lakhs. While there have been delinquency 
concerns in the commercial vehicle business, Fullerton 
India has aligned its sourcing strategy appropriately to 
target a more resilient customer segment.

The rural segment comprising of group as well as 
individual loans has an exposure of around  
Rs. 96,857 lakhs. The credit performance of our 
book continues to be very healthy and is currently 
at a performance level of more than 99% collection 
efficiency.

Fullerton India continues to monitor this portfolio very 
closely on both macro as well as micro economic 
aspects that can impact the business. Emphasis in 
this business segment is to have the group lending 
portfolio backed by a healthy growth of individual loans 
to targeted customer segments.

outlook

Looking at the overall economic environment, sales 
performance of the key asset classes (commercial 
vehicles and passenger vehicles) remains weak, gold 
loan segment is likely to benefit from the increase 
in the regulatory maximum Loan to Value (LTV) ratio 
from 60% to 75% of gold value. The demand for 
M&HCVs (Medium & Heavy Commercial Vehicles) is 
expected to improve from H2 2014-15 onwards. The 
pickup of infra and capex cycle is vital to stimulate 
growth. Demand for LCVs (Light Commercial Vehicles) 
is expected to improve with improving urbanisation 
levels and from relatively untapped potential in semi-
urban and rural areas. The mortgage loans segment is 
expected to continue with a similar growth trajectory of 
approximately 25% annually.

risks and Concerns

Industry-wide delinquencies in the CV (Commercial 
Vehicles) and CE (Construction Equipment) segments 
have continued to rise and are likely to remain at 
elevated levels for some time. Overall, the 90+ dpd 
delinquencies for the retail assets of NBFCs have 
increased to 4.3% in December 2013 from around 
3.5% in March 2013 while 180+ dpd have risen to 
around 1.7% from 1.3% over the same horizon.

The asset quality indicators of the retail focused NBFCs 
have shown deterioration because of the persisting 
challenges in the operating environment. The segments 
that have contributed to the sharp rise in delinquencies 
include CV and CE which contribute to around 31% 

rISk 
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Industry Structure and Developments

The industry witnessed de-growth in the commercial 
vehicle (CV), construction equipment (CE), and gold 
loan segments in the current financial year. The 
mortgage segment however continued to report robust 
growth. Overall credit growth has been lower in the 
current financial year with a sluggish economy and high 
interest rates adversely affecting demand for credit, 
especially in the asset financing segments.  

 

 

 
opportunities and Threats

The changing customer demand is driving banks 
and institutions to introduce innovative products, 
launch them faster and improve service levels to meet 
customer expectations. Origination excellence in retail 
lending is critical not only for strong revenue growth but 
also for achieving higher credit quality and prudent risk 
management.

In addition to the external economic factors, financial 
companies are faced with the following challenges 
today:

a) Differentiation:  Focus on customer acquisition and  
 product and service innovation.

b) Pace: Origination processes tend to be slow for   
 the customer. This causes higher customer attrition  
 and makes it difficult to acquire new customers.

c) Scale: Lack of scalable platforms to facilitate future  
 growth.

d) Regulation: Lack of infrastructure that is compliant  
 with regulatory requirements. 

Segment- wise or Product-wise performance

The Urban Retail Business segment comprising of 
lending to retail and commercial segment for both 
consumption as well as business needs has a portfolio 
size of Rs. 5,12,916 lakhs. Credit performance of 
the products continue to be stable and in line with 
the product benchmarks. 90 days past due (dpd) + 
delinquency is currently at 1.3% levels.
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Risk Appetite
Strategy and Framework definition across products

Assessment Management Monitoring

Operational Risk Management Framework

Independent governance and risk management oversight

Ongoing testing of controls and risk indicators for key functions across  the entity

Robust Analytic Infrastructure

Establishment of 
forward looking 
Country Risk 
Assessment with 
pre-emptive credit 
and liquidity 
interventions, to 
ensure proactive 
early action in the 
event of emerging 
market adversity

Environment and 
Economy

Risk policies and credit 
programs with 
performance guardrails

Granular measure of 
Risk Adjusted Return

Driving informed decisions across Risk, Pricing, Credit Bureau, Customer Behavior

Structured reports for 
periodical review

Quarterly bureau scrub 
to correlate market 
trends and impact on 
Fullerton India portfolio 

Established key 
performance indicators

Risk grading to manage 
changes in risk profile

of the total retail credit of the NBFCs where the asset 
quality is closely linked to the state of the economy and 
the industry, both of which have been under pressure in 
the recent past. 

The asset quality challenges are expected to continue 
till the macro indicators and investment climate improve. 
The fast growing mortgage portfolio of NBFCs however 
is showing stable indicators on portfolio quality.

INTerNal CoNTrol SySTemS aND TheIr aDequaCy

risk management

Risk is an integral part of the financial services business and an appropriate trade-off between risk and return ensures 
delivery of desired shareholder value by ensuring balance between business growth and sustained portfolio quality. Risk 
management can help identify the most economically promising areas as well those businesses that are  
under-performing.

Fullerton India has adopted internationally accepted and forward looking risk management practices in retail lending. 
The objective of the risk framework is to ensure that Fullerton India writes to prudent risk standards, focuses on its 
target segment and delivers sustainable profitability through economic cycles. 

1. An overarching Risk Appetite Statement, that   
 defines the shape of the portfolio, delivering   
 predictable returns through economic cycles,   
 and optimising enterprise-wide risk-return and   
 capital deployment.

2. Independent governance and risk management   
 oversight.

3. Establishment of forward looking Country Risk   
 Assessment with pre-emptive credit and liquidity  

 interventions, to ensure proactive early action in   
 the event of emerging market adversity.

4. Maintenance of well-documented credit risk   
 policies and credit programmes with performance  
 guardrails.

5. Extensive use of risk and business analytics, and  
 bureau as an integral part of the decisioning   
 processes.

The risk management infrastructure operates through five key principles

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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At the core of the credit risk management function is the Integrated Risk Management Group, headed by the Chief Risk 
Officer, who is responsible for overseeing and managing Fullerton India’s risk function including credit risk, operational 
risk, market risk and legal and compliance risk across all businesses, products and processes.

The Chief Risk Officer is supported by a senior team of risk professionals and segment specialists who manage various functions. 

risk appetite

The Risk Appetite Framework approved by the Board of Directors of Fullerton India, acts as an overlaying guidepost 
across the entire ambit of risk management practices in the organization. The statement covers different types of risks 
the organization is exposed to and also clearly defines the boundaries of the organization’s risk taking capabilities. 

risk organization Structure
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Integrated Risk Group 
centrally drives risk 
management
Frequent review of credit 
policy and checks on its 
adherence
Dynamic bureau and 
analytics based portfolio 
management
Post approval file review

Independent Fraud 
Management unit
Risk Control and Review 
team conducts branch 
reviews
Key Control Standards 
Assessment process 
across business and 
support functions

Periodic review and 
action by ALCO 
Treasury investment 
policies pre-defined and 
monitored closely

Manages regulatory, 
compliance and 
reputation risk 
Legal function 
supports in litigations, 
documentation and 
advisory capacities



40

Based on the Risk Appetite Framework the 
management decides on the kind of segments to 
grow into, products to be offered and portfolio shape 
to be built. The decisions are driven not only by return 
metrics like Return on Equity (RoE) but also based on 
earnings volatility of such segments to take a “through 
the cycle” view incorporating economic, credit and 
market scenarios.

The foundation of these are laid in models developed 
internally using historical data and calibrated 
periodically with updated information - a framework 
using extensive statistical models following the 
principles and approaches as advised per the norms of 
Internal Ratings Based (IRB) norms of Basel II.

• Probability of Default (PD) and Loss Given Default  
 (LGD) models for calculation of Expected Loss   
 (EL), Recession Loss (RL) are in place and   
 business strategies are driven through the   
 assessment of the same. 

• Stress testing – Fullerton India performs portfolio  
 level stress test periodically to assess impact   
 of extreme but plausible stress scenarios and   
 their estimated financial impact. The stress   
 scenarios take into consideration various scenarios  
 of economic, credit and market stresses including  
 inter-correlated stresses. 

Country risk assessment

Fullerton India applies forward looking macro-economic and portfolio indicators to assess overall countrywide risk 
outlook, which inform credit and liquidity interventions. The risk assessment applies five scenarios with consequent 
management action, such actions cover credit underwriting and liquidity policies, delegation authorities, exceptions, 
collections intensity and early warning triggers, depending on the outlook. The country risk category is assessed by the 
Risk Oversight Committee at every meeting. 

Product Policy

Fullerton India adopts an independent approval 
process guided by the use of product programs, 
Customer Selection Criteria (CSC), Credit Acceptance 
Criteria (CAC) and other credit underwriting processes 
for sanctioning and booking each loan. This allows 
each customer to be independently assessed based on 
both financial and non-financial measures. 

All credit policies are clearly documented in Product 
Approval Documents (PADs), which are in place 
separately for each product. PADs and all changes are 
approved by the Risk Operating Committee and are 
periodically reviewed. Credit policies are designed by 
clearly defining target market, customer selection and 
credit acceptance criteria, credit approval methodology, 
verification, post disbursement monitoring, collections 
and remedial management policies. 

Credit policies are reviewed on a periodic basis based 
on changes in macro- economic, industry / segment 

level and customer level trends including Credit Bureau 
learnings. Portfolio stress tests are performed to ensure 
portfolio performance is within acceptable standards.

Exposure caps, Performance triggers, test programs 
and country risk assessment are reviewed by the 
Risk Oversight Committee chairman, CEO, Head 
of Business and Chief Risk Officer at pre-defined 
frequencies.

Credit underwriting

Credit approval and credit administration is managed 
by an independent and separate team to ensure 
demarcation of responsibilities of customer origination 
and credit approval functions. 

Approval authority is governed through tightly 
delegated and periodically reviewable credit approval 
authority matrix which require higher loan amounts 
and higher risk customers to be approved by senior 
approvers in the risk chain. 

Positive Outlook

Negative Outlook

Level 5
Expectation of most benign 
& stable market conditions

Low unemployment rate 

Credit bureau evidence 
con�rming consumers are 
not overextended 

Portfolios anticipated to 
exhibit cyclical lows in 
impairment throughout the 
12 to 18 months periods

Level 4
Expectation of benign and 
reasonably stable market 
conditions 

Unemployment indices 
stable

Credit bureau evidence 
con�rming consumers are 
not overextended 

Portfolio anticipated to 
exhibit well below cyclical 
average impairment 

Level 3
Expectation of somewhat 
uneven market conditions 
with some directional 
uncertainly

Low/slow (below trend) 
economic growth 

Economic, regulatory or 
socio-political environment 
remains uncertain. 

Portfolios are expected to 
exhibit impairment that it is 
reasonably close to 
cyclical averages. 

Level 2
Expectation of mild 
recession (1 in 7 years 
event) within next 12-18 
months

Likely to be outbreaks of 
�nancial market instability 

Unemployment likely to rise

Portfolios expected to 
exhibit 1 in 7 year cyclical 
high in impairment 

Level 1
Expectation of deep 
recession (1 in 25 years 
event) within next 12-18 
months

Severe �nancial market 
instability 

Extreme unemployment 

Portfolios expected to 
exhibit 1 in 25years cyclical 
high in impairment 
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business and there are clearly delegated authorities for 
product types for risk officers based at the branches. 
The transaction officers who ensure compliance to all 
product and policy parameters, before file booking 
provide a further process control at the rural branches. 

Clear policies and procedures outline the selection of 
collaterals and associated documents. This has been 
done to evaluate portfolio at risk in the case of pricing 
fluctuations. Realised amounts, costs involved and time 
taken for liquidation of collateral are monitored and 
influences policy corrections.

In addition to the branch underwriting teams and 
the supervisory risk chain, Fullerton India also has 
a strong Risk Control and Review (RCR) team 
who independently review process adherence and 
compliance to approved processes and policies. The 
team also conducts sample file reviews post booking, 
special reviews on areas identified as high risk, and 
provides feedback to branches/ businesses as 
improvement measures. There are strong disincentives 
in place for branch and supervisory staff basis findings 
by the RCR team.

The credit officers evaluate retail credit proposals on 
the basis of the product policy approved by the Board 
and risk assessment criteria. Administering of credit 
approval and documentation is to ensure that customer 
selection, underwriting and documentation are actually 
implemented as per laid down processes. External 
agencies such as legal agencies, valuation agencies, 
field investigation agencies and credit processing 
agencies are used to facilitate a comprehensive Due 
Diligence process including visits to offices and homes 
of individuals. Agency empanelment is centralized 
and detailed Due Diligence is performed prior to 
empanelment. Agency performance is monitored on an 
on-going basis.

Post 2010, Fullerton India has migrated towards 
centralised mode of credit underwriting for the urban retail 
and commercial business. While Fullerton India still has 
credit officers present at the branches so as to maintain 
cognizance of local nuances, the risk structure at Fullerton 
India is largely centralised through a hub model.

Underwriting for the rural business is decentralised 
at the branches, due to business model and market 
requirements. The risk chain is independent for the rural 

risk analytics

Fullerton India engages in extensive analytics both on its own portfolio and the market portfolio performance in the 
centres where it operates. Fullerton India has a specific trigger based framework in place to manage its existing portfolio 
through pre-established early warning triggers. A Risk Appetite framework has been developed to quantify risks through 
the economic cycles. 

Fullerton India is an extensive user of credit bureau tools and services. Credit criteria are based on validated internal 
variables and bureau data. Fullerton India monitors overall performance of its entire customer base at least once every 
quarter leveraging upon credit bureau information. Insights from this process are used for risk containment on a timely 
basis and policy modifications. 
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Operational Risk Management Framework
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Credit bureaus are connected online and used both in 
credit decisioning and portfolio management.

Fullerton India has combined robust data management 
repositories, enterprise business intelligence and leading 
analytics technologies to provide the infrastructure for 
leveraging analytics in day to day decisioning. 

Fullerton India uses technology extensively in its 
credit sanction and risk management processes. This 
ensures changes in policy are implemented faster 
and helps in supervisory monitoring. A neural fraud 
risk system provides active fraud risk alerts, and 
has enabled Fullerton India to save significantly in 
attempted application fraud detection.  

operational risk management

The Operational Risk framework is designed on both business and functional levels including for business groups, 
credit, operations, corporate and support functions. We have constituted an Operational Risk Management Committee 
(ORMC) to oversee the operational risk management in the company. The Operational Risk Committee oversees the 
management of operational risks and this is supported by business and functions and is chaired by the CEO. Functional 
owners have responsibility for management of operational risk arising from activities relating to legal processes, people 
management, technology management, vendor management, property management, accounting and financial control, 
tax management and regulatory compliance.

Fraud risk management

An independent Fraud Management department 
manages fraud risks across origination, credit 
acceptance and collection processes. A focused group 
for on-site and off-site surveillance and monitoring of 
transactions to detect and mitigate frauds conducts 
sample document scrutiny where applicable and 
sample verification of customers and documents is 
done to validate the accuracy and authenticity of the 
origination and acceptance process.

We seek to be vigilant to the risk of internal and 
external crime in our management of people, 
processes and systems and in our dealings with our 

customers and other stakeholders. We have a broad 
range of measures in place to monitor and mitigate 
the risk. Controls are embedded in our policies and 
procedures across the broader retail finance spectrum.

liquidity risk management

Fullerton India has well defined treasury policies for 
managing liquidity risk, investments, interest rate 
risk and borrowings. These policies clearly articulate 
governance framework, responsibilities of committees 
and functions, measurement of risk and its trigger 
levels and various controls. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The broad objectives of Liquidity Risk Management are:

• Maintain adequate liquidity at all times, and   
 to be in a position, in the normal course of   
 business, to meet all obligations, to repay lenders  
 and to fulfil commitments to lend

• Manage its portfolio to avoid having to    
 liquidate assets or raise funds at unfavourable   
 terms

• Ensure a well-diversified funding base

The policy clearly articulates funding principles and 
liquidity risk measurement, monitoring and reporting, 
with funding plans and liquidity scenarios across 
various situations. The policy defines the overall shape 
of the funding book and covers levels of diversification, 
types of instruments, markets, counter party caps, and 
monthly repayment values.

Liquidity risk management also covers stressed liquidity 
and disbursal containment measures in the event of 
stress, and pre-defines management actions that 
need to be applied in such an event. Liquidity shortfall 
deriving from such stress is periodically assessed, and 
contingency plans refreshed. 

revIew oF INTerNal CoNTrol SySTemS

Fullerton India has instituted adequate internal control 
systems commensurate with the nature of its business 
and the size of its operations. The systems also 
ascertain that transactions are authorised, recorded and 
reported correctly. The Company ensures an adherence 
to all internal control policies and procedures as well as 
a compliance with all regulatory guidelines in respect 
of business, risk, branches and support functions. The 
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors reviews their 
adequacy. All significant audit observations of Internal 
Auditors and follow-up actions thereon are reported 
upon and discussed at the Audit Committee.
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enabling people policies and protocols

Fullerton India provides a conducive work environment 
to its employees, that enables them to perform well and 
hone their skills. Our Code of Conduct and people policies 
guide employees to display the highest integrity standards 
and demonstrate dignified conduct and behaviour at all 
times. Our policies are designed to ensure a healthy and 
safe workplace, free from discrimination or workplace 
harassment where employees can raise complaints 
without fear retribution or employment security. Some of 
the notable policies are:

• Equal Opportunity and Diversity articulated in the 
Code of Conduct

• Anti- Harassment policy

• Leave policy

• Whistle blower policy

Driving a high performance culture

We have granular metrics to measure performance, 
that start with the overall organization score card 
which is in turn distilled down to each business and 
function. Our ‘Pay for Performance’ philosophy is 
evidenced through short and long term incentives tied 
to performance metrics which enable consistent high 
performers to be positioned competitively in the market 
on Total Compensation.

Fullerton India’s Human Capital function plays an enabling role in creating an environment of growth and development 
for its employees. With a vision to be an ‘Employer of Choice’, Fullerton India has demonstrated commitment in building 
a culture that fosters Integrity, Meritocracy, Teamwork and a sense of Community which has inspired people to perform 
and succeed. The various Industry awards and recognition received by us in several areas including our Products & 
Services, Technology and CSR bear testimony to our approach in harnessing talent to achieve excellence.

humaN reSourCeS

Inspiring and Nurturing our Talent 

Talent development

We make a concerted effort to provide meaningful 
careers for our employees through structured as 
well as bespoke learning opportunities. Our focus 
on Talent and Succession planning forms the basis 
of development plans delivered through Experience, 
Exposure and Education. Over half of our Leadership 
Team has grown from within the organization. We 
actively leverage on The Business Leadership Centre, a 
member of Temasek Management Services, Singapore, 
to put our top talent through series of leadership 
programmes facilitated by a distinguished panel of 
current and former professors and lecturers from IMD, 
INSEAD, Yale School of Management, University of 
Michigan and the Darden School of Business. 

Some of our senior managers have gained strong 
exposure through assignments in the international 
markets of our parent company, Fullerton Financial 
Holdings Pte Ltd.

Our commitment to development of mid to junior 
levels of the organization has also yielded positive 
results. In our Rural vertical, which constitutes half our 
employee base, all supervisory levels are staffed with 
internal talent who have made significant contributions 
consistently over time. 

This year over 21000 man days of learning was 
delivered leveraging both eLearning and classroom 
platforms. These include training on key strategic 
initiatives like business process re-engineering and 
systems training. 

our people are our most 
valuable asset. Fullerton 
India is committed to 
attracting, engaging and 
retaining talent to create 
long-term value for 
our customers and our 
stakeholders.
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People initiatives in 2013-14

• We have grown our staff strength to 6,160  
 (as at March 31, 2014), which is an overall   
 increase of 13.15 % over previous year, primarily  
 in our growing Rural business where we added  
 55 new branches in FY 2013-14.

• We successfully ran the 4th edition of ‘Voice   
 of Employee’ survey. The company engagement  
 scores have shown steady YoY growth and   
 they also compare well with the top Quartile scores  
 in Finance Asia, Finance World and across all   
 industries in the subcontinent.

• We have significantly improved our staff health   
 cover, staff loan scheme, and invested in a new   
 eLearning platform.

• We have institutionalized a bi-annual Leadership  
 team broadcast, both at central and regional   
 levels, to enhance better communication to   
 build better engagement and alignment to   
 organization priorities.

CreaTING aN eCoSySTem For DeveloPmeNT 
 
we engage and empower employees at all levels by creating opportunities to develop capabilities.  
we do this through an organization-wide development framework which allows for individualised development plans 
 
at Fullerton India, employee development is a core component of talent development framework.

We believe development should be holistic and individualised: a combination of practical hands-on experience, 
exposure to leaders or role models, and formal learning programmes.

For middle and senior level employees, we actively leverage on the Temasek Business Leadership Center which 
focuses on leadership development programmes conducted by leading management thinkers and consultants, 
and academics from renowned institutions. 

Exposure

Experience

Education

exPoSure 
 

activities that provide visibility  
and exposure to key individuals,  
leaders and teams in order to  
learn from their experience: 

exPerIeNCe 
 

activities that provide hands-on 
experience in new areas of work:

eDuCaTIoN 
 

activities that incorporate  
formal learning:

•	 On-the-job “stretch” assignments
•	 Overseas assignments
•	 Job rotation
•	 Special projects / task force  

assignments

•	 Coaching / feedback
•	 Role models / mentors
•	 Networking opportunities

•	 Instructor-led courses
•	 Leadership development programs
•	 Technical training
•	 Soft-skills training
•	 Self-directed learning
•	 Higher / Executive education
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TeChNoloGy

Technology continues to play a pivotal role in enabling 
business growth at Fullerton India, managing scale 
effectively and enhancing customer service and 
experience. Strategic cost management and adoption 
of new age technology solutions have enabled the 
company to deliver cost effective and state of the art 
efficient solutions. 

We continue to invest in new technology platforms 
to create efficiencies while growing our business. 
Using systems to automate processes and decision 
making, we seek to offer better and unified customer 
experience, reduce turnaround time, minimise 
operational risk and eliminate or reduce human error. 

IT Transformation projects have embraced innovation 
by leveraging Mobility and Cloud based solutions to 
deliver long term business value and to provide agility, 
scalability and cost effectiveness. A key strategic 
program to refresh the core lending platform is 
underway and on track to complete in the financial year 
2014-15. 

An Android operating system based mobility platform 
which can be seamlessly deployed on mobiles or 
tablets is ready for deployment for use in the Rural 
financing business. This solution combines data 
availability on field with controls like biometric (finger 
print based) authentication on field and printed receipts 
and enables operating efficiencies.

In the financial year 2013-14, we took significant 
steps to strengthen the technology and operations 
framework. Multiple strategic initiatives have been 
initiated to refresh our technology architecture and to 
align it to the changing business requirements and to 
have a scalable, futuristic, integrated, comprehensive 
customer centric IT platform that can support multiple 
delivery channels. 

Availability of large customer-centric data sets offers 
great promise in the way we change things. Data 
Analytics driven risk management offers better insights 
to our customers. Customised products and service 
offerings to the customer enable customer delight. 
Fullerton India continues to focus on digitisation to 
make its operations more efficient. 

With the increasing role of IT, there has also been 
a significant focus on IT Risk Management with an 
objective to proactively manage risks associated with 
IT. A cloud enabled Disaster Recovery solution has 
been deployed and tested over mock drills to provide 
an alternate virtual Data Centre to ensure business 
continuity and resilience in the face of external 
unforeseen disaster like situations. Technology also 
plays a key enabler in ensuring timely solutions to 
ever-increasing expectations from regulators and 
customers at large. 

key Technology Initiatives In 2013-14

Cloud recovery Disaster management

In the highly competitive financial market, our 
company’s business critically depends on its ability to 
process a large number of financial transactions. Any 
unplanned downtime means disruption in business 
operations resulting in significant financial losses, and 
more importantly, damage to brand reputation and 
customer satisfaction. Disaster preparedness and 
recovery is imperative in today’s world. 

The implementation of IBM SmartCloud Virtualised 
Server Recovery solution has enabled Fullerton India to 
quickly and affordably recover data and infrastructure 
during times of disruption. It has also ensured that we 
seamlessly continue our business operations, without 
any disruption to customer service. The disaster 
recovery solution is hosted in an IBM managed data 
center in Bangalore, ensuring 24/7 monitoring and 
management of the hosted infrastructure.

Customer relationship management (Crm) 
Solution

We have partnered with a reputed Customer 
Relationship Management (CRM) solution provider 
for a paradigm shift in the way we operate. The 
implementation of CRM at Fullerton India is one of the 
key building blocks to implement an effective customer-
centric architecture that will improve our productivity 
and support multiple delivery channels on one platform. 

CRMnext powers Fullerton India’s end-to-end lead 
management across all channels including dealers, 
branch and call centres. The CRM solution also 
integrates with our loan origination system, credit 
bureau, payment gateway and the caller telephony to 
deliver a seamless experience to internal users and 
customers throughout the sales and service process. 
This versatile application enables multiple customer 
centric capabilities like indicative ‘Approval in 
Principle’ for loan application, status communication 
during the stages of sourcing, underwriting and 
booking of the loans. 

application Delivery as a Service (aDaaS) For 
Desktop refresh

As part of another key initiative in IT, an ‘industry 
first’ deployment of ADaaS (Application Delivery as 
a Service) has gone live at Fullerton India branches 
across the country. 

Fullerton India moved from a physical desktop PC 
environment to a private cloud-based Hosted Shared 
Desktop (HSD) environment, as part of our desktop 
refresh program. With this, Fullerton India becomes one 
of the early adopters of this innovative technology to 
bring about enhanced scalability and efficiency across 
their urban and rural branch operations. 
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This new desktop service architecture offers a 
personalized desktop experience to users, securely 
delivered over any network to a variety of end-
point devices including thin-clients; that is, devices 
dependent on servers as well as handheld devices. It 
also prepares our organization for implementation of 
Bring your Own Device (BYOD) over time.  

This solution replaces ageing personal computer 
devices and provides advanced levels of computing 

power, centralised data storage, data redundancy 
solution, significantly enhanced security and higher 
degree of centralised control over endpoints across the 
country. The project involving the Citrix XenDesktop® 
deployment with Anunta Tech as the implementation 
partner covered over 2500 computers across the 
geographical spread of our branches and was 
completed in a record time of 4 months.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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STaNDaloNe FINaNCIalS aS Per INDIaN GaaP

analysis of the Financial Statements 

Fiscal 2013-14 saw a continuation of improving financial performance by Fullerton India Credit Company Limited 
(FICCL) since the turnaround 3 years ago. To achieve this, FICCL has concentrated on continued business momentum 
in areas within its Risk Appetite, process re-engineering, system automation and prudent risk management and 
controls. Secured assets now contribute to 40% of the portfolio even while the asset book has been reshaped by 
exiting the unprofitable Two-wheeler product from Urban locations (Rural business continues to source two-wheeler 
business), and reducing the Commercial Vehicle book. FICCL expanded the Rural franchise by 55 branches even while 
consolidating the Urban branches by closing 19 of the sub-optimal branches. 

Total assets increased by 29.3 % from Rs. 5,61,941 lakhs at March 31, 2013 to Rs. 7,26,816 lakhs at March 31, 2014. 
Total advances increased by 30.3% from Rs. 4,68,383 lakhs at March 31, 2013 to Rs. 6,10,299 lakhs at March 31, 
2014 due to strong growth in secured business and rural loan book.

Improving volume momentum, strong productivity measures and healthy credit quality resulted in profit after tax increase 
by Rs. 3,627 Lakhs, from Rs. 15,167 lakhs in fiscal 2012-13 to Rs. 18,794 lakhs in fiscal 2013-14. 

Rs. in Lakhs, except percentages

Particulars Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 % change

Interest Income 1,01,415 1,24,262 22.5 

Interest Expense 42,585 56,167 31.9 

Net interest income 58,830 68,095 15.7 

Non-interest income

   - Fee income 4,214 2,669 (36.7)

   - Assignment income 1,511 463 (69.4)

   - Profit on sale of investment 2,648 4,488 69.5 

   - Other income* 8,670 6,879 (20.7)

operating income 75,873 82,594 8.9 

Operating expenses 48,119 49,316 2.5

operating profit 27,754 33,278 19.9 

Provisions and write-offs (net of write-backs) 12,587 14,484 15.1 

Profit before tax 15,167 18,794 23.9 

Tax, including deferred tax -                                -   -   

Profit after tax 15,167 18,794 23.9 

*Includes Commission on Life Insurance/General Insurance/Sale of Third Party Products and Ancillary Income from operations e.g.  
preclosure, bounce, penal, etc.

Net interest income for the fiscal stood at Rs. 68,095 lakhs in fiscal 2013-14 (Rs. 58,830 lakhs in fiscal 2012-13) on the 
back of a 36.3% increase in average interest-earning assets. Net interest margins decreased by 200 basis points as 
FICCL continued its focus on accelerating the portfolio mix towards secured businesses.

Non-interest income decreased to Rs. 14,499 lakhs in fiscal 2013-14 (Rs. 17,044 in fiscal 2012-13) due to decrease in 
assignment income and fee income. The decrease in fee income was due to change in accounting policy to recognise 
documentation and stamping fees collected from borrowers over the tenure of the loan. The impact of this policy 
change is Rs. 5,321 lakhs.

Non-interest expenses remained well controlled, and for the year increased by Rs. 1,197 lakhs (2.5%) to  
Rs. 49,316 lakhs. During the year, there was a change in accounting policy to recognise loan origination cost over the 
tenure of the loan. The impact of this policy change is a reduction of expenses by Rs. 3,659 lakhs.

Provisions and contingencies (excluding provisions for tax) were Rs. 14,484 lakhs, an increase of Rs. 1,897 lakhs on an 
expanding portfolio, as credit interventions reflected a strong and improving portfolio and increase in the provision on 
standard asset.
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key ratios

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the key financial ratios:

Particulars Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014

Capital Adequacy – Total (%) 24.7 22.4

Return on average equity (%) 15.6 15.8

Return on average assets (%) 2.9 2.8

Earnings per share 0.8 1.0

Book value per share 5.6 6.4

Cost to income (%) 63.4 59.7

Notes 
1. Return on average equity is the ratio of the net profit after tax to the averages of quarterly balances of equity share capital and reserves.  
2. Return on average assets is the ratio of net profit after tax to averages of quarterly balances of total assets.  
3. Cost represents operating expense. Income represents net interest income plus non-interest income.

The total capital adequacy ratio, computed in accordance with RBI guidelines, was at a healthy 22.4% as at  
March 31, 2014, with a Tier-1 capital adequacy ratio of 18.4% as compared to a total capital adequacy ratio of 24.7% 
and Tier-1 capital adequacy ratio of 20.4% as at March 31, 2013.

Return on Average Equity (ROE) was at 15.8% compared to 15.6%. It is to be noted that while the Return on Average 
Assets (ROA) is comparable to the best in the industry, the ROE is muted due to higher equity in the book. As the asset 
size grows and the book levers, the ROE will expand.

Cost to Income (CI) ratio improved to sub 60% compared to 63.4% last year, as economies of scale begin to kick in. 

Net interest income and spread analysis

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the net interest income and spread analysis.

Rs. in Lakhs, except percentages

Particulars Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 % change

Interest income 1,01,415 1,24,262 22.5

Interest expense 42,585 56,167 31.9

Net Interest income 58,830 68,095 15.7

Average interest-earning assets                 4,47,409                 6,10,031 36.3 

Average interest earning secured assets 1,43,569 2,16,846 51.0

Average interest-bearing liabilities                 3,88,072                 5,18,914 33.7 

Net interest margin 13.1% 11.2% -

Average yield 22.7% 20.4% -

Average cost of funds 11.0% 10.8% -

Interest spread 11.7% 9.5% -

Note: The average balances are the averages of quarterly balances.

Yield on interest-earning assets decreased from 22.7% in fiscal 2012-13 to 20.4% in fiscal 2013-14 due to the 
significant increase of secured assets, which have comparatively lower yields, in overall portfolio.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The following table sets forth, for the period indicated, the trend in average interest-earning assets and average  
interest-bearing liabilities:

Rs. in Lakhs, except percentages 

Particulars Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 % change

Advances 4,28,775 5,59,472 30.5 

Interest earning investments 10,092 39,516 291.5 

Other interest earning assets 8,542 11,043 29.3 

Total interest earning assets 4,47,409 6,10,031 36.3 

   

Bank Loans 1,09,450 1,70,844 56.1 

Non-Convertible Debentures 1,71,805 2,30,109 33.9 

Commercial Paper 1,06,816 1,17,961 10.4 

Borrowings 3,88,072 5,18,914 33.7

Note: Average balances are the averages of quarterly balances.

Average interest-earning assets increased by 36.3%, from Rs. 4,47,409 lakhs in fiscal 2013 to Rs. 6,10,031 lakhs in 
fiscal 2014. Average advances increased by 30.5%, from Rs. 4,28,775 lakhs in fiscal 2013 to Rs. 5,59,472 lakhs in 
fiscal 2014. Growth was contributed by retail secured businesses and rural loans.

While the overall average borrowings increased by 33.7%, a larger proportion came from the Bank loans as compared 
to the Non-Convertible Debentures and Commercial Papers. This is part of the conscious strategy to increase the 
proportion of the more reliable bank funding in the overall mix of funding sources. More is explained in the Funding and 
Liquidity management section.

Non-interest income

The following tables set forth, for the periods indicated, the principal components of non-interest income.

Rs. in Lakhs, except percentages

Particulars Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 % change

Fee income1 4,214 2,669 (36.7)

Assignment Income 1,511 463 (69.4)

Profit on Sale of Investment 2,648 4,488 69.5 

Other income2 8,670 6,879 (20.7)

Total Non-Interest Income 17,044 14,499 (14.9)

Notes: 
1. Fee Income includes Processing Fees, Document Fees and Stamping Fees. 
2. Other Income includes Commission on Life Insurance / General Insurance / IHO / Sale of Third Party Products and other ancillary income  
 from operations.

Fee income from customers declined by 36.7% due to change in accounting policy to recognise documentation and 
stamping fees collected from borrowers over the tenure of the loan. Assignment income fell from Rs. 1,511 lakhs at 
March 31, 2013 to Rs 463 lakhs at March 31, 2014 due to run down of assignment loans.
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Non-interest expense

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the principal components of non-interest expense.

Rs. in Lakhs, except percentages

Particulars Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 % change

Employee benefit expense 22,362 25,480 13.9 

Depreciation 2,564 2,117 (17.4)

Other administrative expenses 23,194 21,719 (6.4)

Total non-interest expense 48,119 49,316 2.5 

Provisions and write-offs 12,587 14,484 15.1 

 
Employee expenses for fiscal 2013-14 increased by 13.9% over fiscal 2012-13 due to increase in the employee base 
from 5,451 to 6,160. Employee cost accounted for 51.7% of total non-interest expense for fiscal 2013-14 as compared 
to 46.5% for the year ending March 31, 2013. Most of the increases in the employee count were in the Rural business. 
In fact, even as the Urban business and processes were restructured, consequent employee releases funded much of 
the increases in the Rural business.

Other administrative expenses primarily include professional charges (including collection agency cost), commission 
and brokerage, rent, rates and taxes, repair and maintenance and other expenditure. Other administrative expenses 
decreased by 6.4% from Rs. 23,194 lakhs in fiscal 2012-13 to Rs. 21,719 lakhs in fiscal 2013-14 due to change in 
accounting policy to amortise incremental loan origination costs over the tenure of the loan. Ignoring the policy change, 
the other administrative expenses would have increased by 9.4% which is in line with growth in business volumes.

Provisions and write-off consisting of bad debt write-off (net of recoveries), specific provisions for non-performing 
assets, provisions for standard assets and provision for diminishing in value of investment has gone up from Rs. 12,587 
lakhs to Rs. 14,484 lakhs for the financial year ended March 31, 2014. 

Notably, during the year, company has increased standard asset provisioning (SAP) from 0.25 % to 0.40%. This is in 
line with the best industry practice and also in line with our policy to have conservative accounting practices. Ignoring 
the policy change, provision would have been lower by Rs. 900 lakhs with consequent increase in profits. 

FINaNCIal CoNDITIoN 
 
assets

The following table sets forth, at the dates indicated, the principal components of assets.

Rs. in Lakhs, except percentages

assets at march 31, 2013 at march 31, 2014 % change

Cash and Bank Balances 30,646 38,693 26.3 

Investments 36,718 41,954 14.3 

          -  Government Securities 10,110 0 (100.0)

          -  Certificate of Deposits / NCD’s 22,240 41,747 87.7 

          -  Equity / Preference investment 364 207 (43.1)

          -  Other investments 4,004 0 (100.0)

Advances 4,68,383 6,10,299 30.3 

Fixed assets (including leased assets) 4,400 4,430 0.7 

Other assets 21,794 31,440 44.3 

Total assets 5,61,941 726,816 29.3

Note: All amounts have been rounded off to the nearest lakhs.

Total assets increased by 29.3% from Rs. 5,61,941 lakhs at March 31, 2013 to Rs. 7,26,816 lakhs at March 31, 2014, 
primarily due to an increase in advances. Net advances increased by 30.3% from Rs. 4,68,383 lakhs at March 31, 2013 to 
Rs. 6,10,299 lakhs at March 31, 2014 primarily due to increase in the loan against property portfolio and rural loan book.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Total investments increased by 14.3% from Rs. 36,718 lakhs at March 31, 2013 to Rs. 41,954 lakhs at  
March 31, 2014, primarily due to our policy of keeping adequate liquidity buffer to fund future months of liability 
repayments as well as asset build up. This is explained further in the Funding and Liquidity management section.

asset quality and composition

The following table sets forth, at the dates indicated, the composition of gross (net of write-offs) outstanding portfolio.

Rs. in Lakhs, except percentages

 
Particulars

march 31, 2013 march 31, 2014

Total  
advances

% of Total 
advances

Total  
advances

% of Total 
advances

Personal Loans 2,65,381 56.7 2,78,782 45.7 

Mortgage 74,290 15.9 1,20,172           19.7 

Two Wheeler 34,738 7.4           26,188             4.3 

ABF 26,936 5.8           30,700             5.0 

SME 21,775 4.6           65,481           10.7 

Others 45,263 9.7           88,976           14.6 

Total 4,68,383 100.0 6,10,299 100.0

Classification of loans

FICCL classifies assets as performing and non-performing in a far more conservative manner vis-à-vis the RBI 
guidelines for NBFCs. An asset is classified as non-performing if any amount of interest or principal remains overdue for 
more than 90 days (compared to 180 days as prescribed by RBI). 

Once an account becomes non-performing due to delinquency, FICCL continues to treat it as non-performing until the 
status for all loans of the customer comes to zero days past due. For the accounts tagged as non-performing due to 
settlement/restructuring, an account will continue to be treated as non-performing irrespective of delinquency status till 
the closure of loan/recognition of loss.

The following table sets forth, at the dates indicated, information regarding the asset classification of gross non-
performing assets.

Rs. in Lakhs

Particulars march 31, 2013 march 31, 2014

Non-performing assets

Sub-standard assets 9,062 9,717 

Doubtful assets 802 775 

Total non-performing assets 9,864 10,492

 
The following table sets forth, at the dates indicated, information regarding non-performing assets (NPAs).

Rs. in Lakhs, except percentages

year ended Gross NPa Net NPa Total customers 
outstanding

% of net NPa to total 
Customer outstanding

March 31, 2013 9,864 8,178 4,68,383 1.8

March 31, 2014 10,492 8,146 6,10,299 1.3

The ratio of net NPAs to total customer outstanding improved to 1.34% as on March 31, 2014 as compared to 1.75% 
for the period ending March 31, 2013. During fiscal 2013-14, FICCL wrote-off NPAs with an aggregate outstanding of 
Rs.20,208 lakhs as compared to Rs.19,525 lakhs during fiscal 2012-13.
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FICCL’s provision coverage ratio (i.e. total provisions made against NPAs and prudential write-offs as a percentage of 
gross NPAs and prudential write-offs) as on March 31, 2014 was 73%. As on March 31, 2014, total general provision 
held against standard assets was Rs. 3,749 lakhs compared to Rs. 1,382 lakhs as on March 31, 2013.

liabilities

The following table sets forth, at the dates indicated, the principal components of liabilities (including capital and reserves).

Rs. in Lakhs, except percentages

liabilities at march 31, 2013 at march 31, 2014 % change

Equity Share Capital 1,85,866 1,85,866 0.0 

Reserves (78,021) (59,227) (24.1)

Borrowings (excluding subordinated debt) 3,95,482 5,21,594 31.9 

          -  Bank Loans 1,02,350 2,18,729 113.7 

          -  Non-Convertible Debentures 1,95,574 2,30,115 17.7 

          -  Commercial Paper 97,558 72,749 (25.4)

Subordinated debt (included in Tier-2 capital) 20,000 25,000 25.0 

          -  Non-Convertible Debentures 20,000 25,000 25.0 

Other Liabilities 38,614 53,583 38.8 

Total liabilities 5,61,941 7,26,816 29.3

Note: All amounts have been rounded off to the nearest lakhs.

Total liabilities (including capital and reserves) increased by 29.3% from Rs. 5,61,941 lakhs at March 31, 2013 to Rs. 
7,26,816 lakhs at March 31, 2014 due to an increase in borrowings to supplement expanding loan book size. 

Funding/liquidity management

The company continues to manage liquidity prudently 
and has several internal benchmarks to measure 
Liquidity risk, including (but not limited to) Long term to 
Short term ratio, Liquidity buffer (in number of months 
depending on event and liquidity risk expectation), 
Single lender limit, Cash flow and pricing gap 
mismatches. 

In terms of funding profile, the focus during the year 
was changed to longer term bank funding even as 
access to capital markets was muted due to tight 
liquidity conditions – triggered by short term rate hikes 

by the central bank to shore up the currency. The 
company has had great success in introducing new 
banking relationships during the year, thereby providing 
stability to the funding sources. The Company is 
focused towards de-risking the liability pipeline. In this 
regard it is guided by the principles of diversification 
of lenders, increased liability tenor and maintaining 
adequate liquidity buffers. Consequently, over a dozen 
institutional investors/lenders were added in the year. 
Further, residual tenor has been increased over the year 
to match the longer tenor asset book.  Finally, adequate 
liquidity buffers in terms of cash/cash equivalents are 
maintained by the Company to be sufficiently funded 
for near term lending and repayments.

23 

29 

0

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

35 

M
on

th
s

25%

40%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Residual tenor of borrowings bank Funding as % of total borrowings

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS



ANNUAL REPORT 2013-14   •   FULLERTON INDIA CREDIT COMPANY LIMITED 55

Capital adequacy & resources 

FICCL pro-actively manages its capital keeping in mind the shareholders, the regulators, lenders, rating agencies and 
other stakeholders. It also takes into account the extraneous factors that could adversely affect earnings, and capital.  
The RBI mandates a minimum total capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 15% and a minimum Tier-1 ratio of 7.5%. 
FICCL continues to be well above the stipulations. 

Rs. in Lakhs, except percentages  

Particulars at march 31, 2013 at march 31, 2014

Tier-1 capital            1,02,171           1,15,123 

Tier-2 capital              21,382             25,500 

Total capital            1,23,553           1,40,623

Total capital adequacy ratio 24.7% 22.4%

Tier-1 capital adequacy ratio 20.4% 18.4%

Tier-2 capital adequacy ratio 4.3% 4.0%
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“Give a man fish to eat and you help him for  
a day. Teach a man to fish and you help him for  
a lifetime”. 

Based on this philosophy, Fullerton India’s Corporate 
Social Responsibility initiative is not just a one-time 
philanthropic contribution or community service but 
aims at having a sustainable impact on the community.  
It is Fullerton India’s belief that the only way to achieve 
long term sustainable development is to enable the 
community with services, skills and necessary credit 
that would help improve their standard and quality of 
living. 

FullerToN INDIa’S CSr ProGram 

Fullerton India’s CSR program is focused on enhancing 
the socio-economic status of the communities in the 
catchment areas it serves by improving the standard of 
living and quality of life for its customers’ households. 

CSr vision: 

Building self-reliant communities, through innovative 
interventions, leading to sustainable socio-economic 
development and inclusive growth.

CSr mission:

Fullerton India will engage with the unserved and 
under-served communities across its catchments of 

operation, ensuring sustainable development of the 
communities through:

•  Design and implementation of livelihood initiatives  
 comprising of existing as well as alternative   
 vocations

•  Create interventions in health and education for the  
 socio-economic advancement of the community

•  Create and encourage adoption of sustainable   
 environment practices across its operations and  
 communities 

The key objeCTIveS oF The CSr ProGram

1. Identify and promote existing and alternative   
 livelihood promotion activities for the customers   
 through training and skill development, helping   
 increase their income which in turn will help in the  
 overall socio-economic development of their   
 families. 

2. Access to better health care by partnering with   
 local hospitals and doctors for conducting health  
 camps in our catchment villages, setting up   
 of vision care centres supplementing our livelihood  
 initiatives in the long term.

3. Implementation and sensitisation towards   
 sustainable environment friendly practices.

CORPORATE Social Responsibility
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uNIque emPloyee eNGaGemeNT moDel 

The uniqueness of the CSR model of Fullerton India is 
that it is implemented entirely through its 3000 Fullerton 
India Gramshakti staff, across the seven states that the 
178 Gramshakti branches operate in. This gives the 
entire program an added advantage as the field officers 
interact with customers on an ongoing basis and they 
develop deep relationships with them, which help them 
to go beyond their business obligations and contribute 
to the overall social enhancement of the community.

The Fullerton India CSR team conceptualises various 
Livelihood Programs with Partner organizations across 
various disciplines, thus bringing together Partner 
organizations like the Government, NGOs, Socio-
Economic development organizations, Manufacturing 
and Trading organizations in the Private sector to 
implement different livelihood advancement programs.

FullerToN INDIa’S CSr INITIaTIveS

Fullerton India’s CSR initiatives aim to improve the 
socio-economic status of its customers which includes 
the standard of living and quality of life of its customer 
households. The programs focus on three broad 
sectors- Livelihood, Health and Environment. 

lIvelIhooDS aDvaNCemeNT

Fullerton India’s unique Livelihoods Advancement 
program enables men and women living in the branch 
catchment areas to increase their livelihood incomes 
either through adoption of new/alternative vocations or 
by enhancing their existing skill sets. 

alternative livelihood programs

Along with various local NGOs and grassroots 
entrepreneurs, Fullerton India facilitates new/alternative 
vocational training for its customers. The focus is 
on skill and capacity building along with creation of 
effective market linkages, thus enhancing their incomes 
and standard of living. 

krishi mitra organic Farming program

Initiated in 2013, Fullerton India’s Krishi Mitra Organic 
Farming program educates the community about Organic 
Farming and encourages them to employ it in their 
homestead land which typically lies unused. This not only 
enables them to sustain their household requirements 
(thus saving grocery/ vegetable expenses) but also 
improves the nutritional value of their regular diet. 

The program has three key objectives

i. livelihood advancement: Enabling rural households  
 to adopt Organic Farming in their homesteads,thus  
 saving household expenditure as well as improving  
 nutritional value of their diets. 

ii. Scalability: The program creates trainers with   
 farming backgrounds, who in turn train the   
 community. Thus, creating a larger impact on  
 the community and helping greater numbers of   
 beneficiaries.

iii. Sustainability: The trainers conduct training   
 programs in the community and ensure adoption  
 of Organic Farming practices through constant   
 follow-ups and assistance, ensuring a sustained  
 drive in adoption in the community.

The program started with a six day residential training 
on organic and homestead farming in which the 
practical concepts involved in organic farming were 
demonstrated. Training on preparing various types of 
organic manures with focus on locally available waste 
material and with low investment was the key focus of 
the workshop. 10 participants attended the workshop 
and were certified ‘Krishi Mitra’. These Krishi Mitra 
trainers had the mandate to propagate the benefits 
of organic and homestead farming across our branch 
catchment villages, helping the community to increase 
their income as well as lead a healthy life.

Till date the team has conducted 50 programs in 15 
villages benefitting more than 400 households across 
the Sangamner branch catchment area in Maharashtra. 

ImPaCT oF FullerToN INDIa’S CSr ProGram  
IN Fy 2013-14

voCaTIoNal 
TraINING
No. of Programs 767

Impact 18,152 people

Save  
The eye  
CamPS
No. of Programs 67 

Impact 11,877 people

healTh  
Care  
CamPS

No. of Programs 49 

Impact  2,916  households

oTher 
INITIaTIveS

No. of Programs 22 

Impact  650 households

CaTTle  
Care  
CamPS

No. of Programs 79 

Impact 3,806  cattle

krIShI 
mITra 

No. of Programs 50

Impact  400 households

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIbILITY
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aDvaNCemeNT oF exISTING lIvelIhooDS  
 
Cattle Care Camps

Dairy farming is a major livelihood followed by many 
households in the rural areas. This includes rearing 
milch cattle – cows, buffaloes, goats and sheep. There 
is a shortage of milk in the country, as consumption 
in both urban and rural areas has risen sharply. The 
higher demand for milk means that larger number of 
high-breed higher milk producing cattle need to be 
added to the milch population. A large part of this cattle 
population is owned and reared in rural areas. Nearly 
30% of customer livelihoods financed by Fullerton India 
in rural areas are for dairy farming. To enhance the cattle 
productivity and income of cattle owners, Fullerton India 
in partnership with several cattle feed manufacturers, 
government and non-government veterinary health 
organizations and their doctors, milk processors - 
organizes Cattle Care Camps to provide know-how and 
inputs on cattle rearing, dairy farming, cattle care and 
upkeep, artificial insemination drives and milk marketing. 
This helps households involved in dairy farming to adopt 
new methods of cattle care increasing productivity, 
extended lactation period of the cattle and to keep it 
in better health through the lactation period; thereby 
increasing the income generated from the cattle. 

healThCare INITIaTIveS

Fullerton India believes that to continue earning a 
livelihood on a regular basis one has to be healthy and 
physically fit. To address this and improve the social 
well-being of the community, Fullerton India conducts

•  General health check-up camps

•  Health check camps focused on improving vision  
 through eye care program

•  Women- focused health interventions through   
 awareness and implementation of programs   
 enabling adoption of best health practices 

Through its health initiatives, Fullerton India has 
conducted over 500 health care camps in the last five 
years helping more than 3 Lakh rural and urban families 
to address different health issues. 

health Check-up Camps

Due to the health check-up camps organized by 
Fullerton India at their door-step, customer families are 
able to save significantly on their health expenditure, 
helping them lead a better and enhanced life.  

Fullerton India’s Chandigarh branch conducted a 
free health check-up camp for truck drivers, helpers, 
mechanics and their family members as part of its 
CSR initiative. More than 200 people with their families 
benefitted from this initiative. Free medical kits were 
distributed to all the beneficiaries.

women empowerment

With over 70% of India’s 1.2 billion strong population 
living in rural India, its economic growth and 
development is dependent largely on the development 
of its rural population. Nearly 50% of this population 
consists of women, who are the most impacted and 
vulnerable to the challenges of growth. The need of the 
hour is to empower the women in rural India, not with 
one-time contributions but with efforts in sustainable 
development.

More than 90% of Fullerton India’s CSR livelihood 
advancement programs are targeted to women living 
in the branch catchment areas, helping them increase 
their income and improve their social status in the 
society.In addition to the Livelihood Advancement 
Programs, Fullerton India also organizes special 
programs for women such as Entrepreneurial 
workshops, Literacy workshops and Kitchen safety 
training programs. 

In the past five years, Fullerton India’s initiatives have 
empowered more than 1,00,000 women to create 
confidence and economic self-reliance. 
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‘Save The eye’ ProGram

Fullerton India has been promoting its “Save the Eye” 
program for over 6 years. It focuses on better eye care 
among under-privileged people of the communities 
it serves. The Fullerton India Gramshakti branch 
employees implement outreach eye camps along with 
partner hospitals in the branch catchment areas.

vision Care Centre

Fullerton India established and funds a permanent 
Vision Care Centre in its Gramshakti branch in the 
town of Ravulapalem in Andhra Pradesh. It is run in 
partnership with the Parmahansa Vision Hospital of 
Rajamundhry, the Vision Care Centre is manned by 
two eye care specialists and caters to the catchment 
of 2000 sq. km. around the town. The personnel of 
Fullerton India’s local Gramshakti branch facilitates  
the running of the centre by creating awareness of  
eye-care among the local population and helping 
people avail of the Centre’s facilities.

With the Vision Care Centre, Fullerton India is able to 
provide the following benefits to the community:

• Address eye health needs of the community and  
 provide access to quality eye care, building  
 awareness of the causes and prevention   
 of eye ailments to the community members

•   To identify and create awareness on diabetes   
 related eye care ailments 

•  To promote child health and undertake children eye  
 health programs 

•  Reduce the percentage of ‘avoidable blindness’ in  
 the communities

•  To rehabilitate visually challenged utilising   
 community resources

eNvIroNmeNT INTIaTIveS

Fullerton India is committed to Environment 
sustainability and has adopted various green practices 
in its business operations such

•  Solar powered branch operations for reducing   
 the environmental footprint and adoption of green  
 technology

•  Promotion of green products like solar lantern   
 and eco-stoves, by creation of innovative channels  
 for adoption 

Creating sustainable environment footprints

Fullerton India is committed in its objective to 
implement and sensitize its various stakeholders 
towards environment. It has installed 61 micro- hybrid 

turbines in its rural branches making them green 
branches. It has also installed the turbines in two rural 
schools to help propagate alternative energy amongst 
children, the future of India. 

adoption of alternative energy products

A significant part of the rural population in India lives 
under challenging conditions. Basic necessities 
required for a decent quality of life are lacking in rural 
areas, causing a huge socio-economic and health 
impact on rural Indians. Fullerton India Gramshakti has 
partnered with various manufacturers to promote and 
finance alternative energy and health access products 
in its branch catchment areas.

With its innovative Merchandise Loan product, offered 
across all Gramshakti locations, Fullerton India has so 
far, marketed and financed

•  1,11,800 solar lanterns

•  23,600 water filters

•  26,700 Eco cook stoves

Thus, impacting more than 1,20,000 rural households 
since the launch of the unique merchandise loan product.

In addition to the awareness created and the number of 
units sold, this marketing initiative of Fullerton India has 
had a huge impact on the quality of living of the people 
in the rural community.

economic and environmental benefits:  
Product Carbon credit and cost saving generated

Solar Lamps 9.30 millions of carbon credit and Rs 13.5 
million saved in fuel usage

Eco Cook stoves 0.35 million of carbon credit and Rs 116 
million saved in fuel usage

The above figures are approximate numbers provided by 
partners and calculated on an average usage.

Social & health benefits: 

• 75% increased study time among children reported 
in homes which use Solar Lamps

• 94% customers surveyed feel safer and less 
worried about fires and burns

• Reduction in Carbon Monoxide by 80% in homes 
using Eco Stoves

• Reduction in Particulate Matter by 80% Up to 50% 
of Time savings

• Annual Cost of Medical Expense for a household 
using Traditional Stove is Rs. 1,800/- per annum, 
whereas there is no medical expenditure on 
households using Eco Stoves

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIbILITY
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AWARDS 2013 - 14

Golden Peacock  
Award for  
‘Innovative 
Product’,  
May 2014

Asset Award for 
‘Best Electronic 
Banking’ 
Implementation, 
April 2014

Asian CSR 
Leadership 
Award for ‘Rural 
Development’, 
September 2013

Asian 
Sustainability 
Leadership 
Award for 
‘Sustainable 
Leadership’, 
September 2013

FIPS (Financial 
Inclusion 
& Payment 
Systems) Award  
for ‘Contactless 
Payments for 
Rural Customers’, 
October 2013

Flame Award 
for ‘Excellence 
in Rural 
Marketing & 
Communication’, 
January 2014

Amity Global 
Award for  
‘Corporate 
Social 
Responsibility’ 
Award, 
December 2013

ABP News 
Global CSR 
Award for 
‘Community 
Development’, 
February 2014

Rural Marketing 
Award for 
‘Most Effective 
Use of Direct 
Marketing 
to Rural 
Consumer’, 
February 2014

ABP News 
BFSI Award 
for ‘Innovative 
Initiative in Social 
Sector’ & ‘Best 
Use of Mobile 
Technology 
in Financial 
Services’, 
February 2014
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opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, the financial 
statements give the information required by the Act in 
the manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India: 

(a) in the case of the Balance Sheet, of the state of   
 affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2014; 
(b) in the case of the Statement of Profit and Loss, of  
 the profit for the year ended on that date; and  
(c) in the case of the Cash Flow Statement, of the   
 cash flows for the year ended on that date.

report on other legal and regulatory requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report)  
 Order, 2003 (“the Order”) issued by the Central   
 Government of India in terms of sub-section   
 (4A) of section 227 of the Act, we give in the   
 Annexure a statement on the matters specified in  
 paragraphs 4 and 5 of the Order.

2. As required by section 227(3) of the Act, we report that: 

 (a) We have obtained all the information and   
  explanations which to the best of our   
  knowledge and belief were necessary for the  
  purpose of our audit; 
 (b) In our opinion proper books of account as   
  required by law have been kept by    
  the Company so far as appears from   
  our examination of those books; 
 (c) The Balance Sheet, Statement of Profit and   
  Loss, and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by  
  this Report are in agreement with the books of  
  account; 
 (d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet, the   
  Statement of Profit and Loss, and the Cash   
  Flow Statement comply with the Accounting   
  Standards notified under the Act, read with   
  General Circular 8/2014 dated April 4, 2014   
  issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs; and 
 (e)  On the basis of written representations   
  received from the directors as on    
  March 31, 2014, and taken on record by the   
  Board of Directors, none of the directors   
  is disqualified as on March 31, 2014, from  
  being appointed as a director in terms of clause  
  (g) of sub-section (1) of section 274 of the Act.  

For S. r. baTlIboI & Co. llP 
Chartered accountants 
ICaI Firm’s registration number: 301003e 
 

Sd/- 
per Shrawan jalan 
Partner 
Membership No: 102102

 
Place: Mumbai  
Date: June 19, 2014

INDePeNDeNT auDITorS’ rePorT

To  
 
The members of Fullerton India Credit Company 
limited

report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial 
statements of Fullerton India Credit Company Limited 
(“the Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet 
as at March 31, 2014, and the Statement of Profit 
and Loss and Cash Flow Statement for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

management’s responsibility for the Financial 
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of these 
financial statements that give a true and fair view of 
the financial position, financial performance and cash 
flows of the Company in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, including the 
Accounting Standards notified under the Companies 
Act, 1956 (‘the Act’), read with General Circular 
8/2014 dated April 4, 2014 issued by the Ministry 
of Corporate Affairs. This responsibility includes the 
design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
control relevant to the preparation and presentation of 
the financial statements that give a true and fair view 
and are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India. Those Standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the Company’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of the accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

auditors’ Report
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(vi) The Company has not accepted any deposits   
 from the public.

(vii) In our opinion, the Company has an internal audit  
 system commensurate with the size of the   
 Company and nature of its business.

(viii)  To the best of our knowledge and as explained,   
 the Central Government has not prescribed the   
 maintenance of cost records under clause (d)   
 of sub- section (1) of section 209 of the Act, for the  
 products of the Company. 

(ix)  (a)  Undisputed statutory dues including provident  
  fund, investor education and protection fund,  
  employees’ state insurance, income-tax,   
  sales-tax, wealth-tax, service tax,  
  customs duty, excise duty, cess and other   
  material statutory dues have generally   
  been regularly deposited with the    
  appropriate authorities though there has been  
  a slight delay in a few cases.

 (b) According to the information and explanations  
  given to us, no undisputed amounts payable  
  in respect of provident fund, investor  
  education and protection fund, employees’  
  state insurance, income-tax, wealth-tax,  
  service tax, sales-tax, customs duty, excise  
  duty cess and other material statutory dues  
  were outstanding, at the year end,  for a period  
  of more than six months from the date   
  they became payable.

 (c) According to the records of the Company, the  
  dues outstanding of income-tax, sales-tax,   
  wealth-tax, service tax, customs duty, excise  
  duty and cess on account of any dispute, are  
  as follows: 

 

 
(x) The Company’s accumulated losses at the end   
 of the financial year are less than fifty per cent of  
 its net worth and it has not incurred cash losses   
 in the current and immediately preceding financial  
 year.

(xi) Based on our audit procedures and as per the   
 information and explanations given by the   
 management, we are of the opinion that the   
 Company has not defaulted in repayment   
 of dues to financial institution, banks or debenture  
 holders. 

INDePeNDeNT auDITorS’ rePorT

annexure referred to in paragraph 1 under the 
heading “report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements” of our report of even date

Re: Fullerton India Credit Company Limited (‘the 
Company’)

(i) (a) The Company has maintained proper records  
  showing full particulars, including quantitative  
  details and situation of fixed assets.

 (b) Fixed assets have been physically verified by  
  the management during the year and no   
  material discrepancies were identified on such  
  verification.

 (c)   There was no disposal of a substantial part of  
  fixed assets during the year.

(ii) The Company’s business does not involve   
 inventories and, accordingly, the requirements   
 under paragraph 4(ii) of the Order are not   
 applicable to the Company.

(iii) (a) According to the information and explanations  
  given to us, the Company has not granted any  
  loans, secured or unsecured to companies,   
  firms or other parties covered in the register  
  maintained under section 301 of the Act.   
   Accordingly, the provisions of clause 4(iii)(a) to  
  (d) of the Order are not applicable to the   
  Company and hence not commented upon. 

 (b) According to information and explanations   
  given to us, the Company has not taken any  
  loans, secured or unsecured, from companies,  
  firms or other parties covered in the register  
  maintained under section 301 of the Act.   
  Accordingly, the provisions of clause 4(iii)(e) to  
  (g) of the Order are not applicable to the  
  Company and hence not commented upon.

(iv) In our opinion and according to the    
 information and explanations given to us, there   
 is an adequate internal control system  
 commensurate with the size of the Company   
 and the nature of its business, for the    
 purchase of fixed assets and for rendering   
 of services. The activities of the Company  
 do not involve purchase of inventory and the   
 sale of goods. During the course of our audit,  
 we have not observed any major weakness or   
 continuing failure to correct any major  
 weakness in the internal control system of the   
 Company in respect of these areas. 

(v) In our opinion, there are no contracts or   
 arrangements that need to be entered in   
 the register maintained under Section 301   
 of the Act. Accordingly, the provisions of clause   
 4(v)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the   
 Company and hence not commented upon.

Name 
of the 
statute

Nature 
of the 
dues

amount 
(rs.)

Period 
to 

which 
the 

amount 
relates

Due 
Date

Forum where 
the dispute is 

pending

Chapter 
V of the 
Finance 
Act, 
1994

Service 
tax 

4,16,282 Various 
dates

Various 
dates

Commissioner 
of Central Excise 
(Appeals)

AUDITORS’ REPORT
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(xii) According to the information and explanations   
 given to us and based on the documents   
 and records produced before us, the Company   
 has not granted loans and advances on   
 the basis of security by way of pledge of shares,  
 debentures and other securities.

(xiii) In our opinion, the Company is not a chit fund or  
 a nidhi / mutual benefit fund / society. Therefore,  
 the provisions of clause 4 (xiii) of the Order are not  
 applicable to the Company.

(xiv) In respect of dealing in investments, in our opinion  
 and according to the information and  
 explanations  given to us, proper records have   
 been maintained of the transactions and   
 contracts and timely entries have been made  
 therein. The investments have been    
 held by the Company, in its own name.

(xv) According to the information and explanations   
 given to us, the Company has not given any   
 guarantee for loans taken by others from bank or  
 financial institutions.

(xvi) Based on information and explanations given to us  
 by the management, term loans were applied for  
 the purpose for which the loans were obtained,   
 though idle/surplus funds which were not   
 required for immediate utilisation have been   
 gainfully invested in liquid investments payable on  
 demand.

(xvii) According to the information and explanations   
 given to us and on an overall examination of the   
 balance sheet of the Company, we report that no  
 funds raised on short-term basis have been used  
 for long-term investment. 

(xviii)The Company has not made any preferential   
 allotment of shares to parties or companies   
 covered in the register maintained under section  
 301 of the Act.

(xix) According to the information and explanations   
 given to us, the Company had issued 8,110 units  
 of secured debentures of Rs. 5,00,000 each and  
 2,650 secured debentures of Rs. 10,00,000 each,  
 during the period covered by our audit report.   
 The Company has created security charge   
 in respect of 6,870 debentures of Rs 5,00,000   
 each and 2,650 debentures of  Rs 10,00,000   
 each. We are informed by the management that for  
 the balance 1,240 debentures the Company is   
 taking steps to create security for the debentures. 

(xx) The Company has not raised money by public   
 issue of shares during the current year.

(xxi) We have been informed that during the year there  
 were certain instances of cash embezzlements by  
 the employees of the Company aggregating  
 Rs. 13,81,951 and loans given based on   
 misrepresentation by the borrowers, employees  
 and external parties aggregating Rs. 33,70,177.  
 The services of the employees involved have   
 been terminated and the Company is in    
 the process of taking legal action against   
 such employees, borrowers and external parties.  
 Pending completion of the same, the outstanding  
 balance (net of recovery) aggregating  
 Rs. 43,54,184 has been fully provided for as at the  
 Balance Sheet date. 

For S. r. baTlIboI & Co. llP 
Chartered accountants 
ICaI Firm’s registration number: 301003e

Sd/- 
per Shrawan jalan 
Partner 
Membership No: 102102

 
Place: Mumbai  
Date: June 19, 2014
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bALANCE ShEET AS AT MARCh 31, 2014

Notes  march 31, 2014  march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

EQUITY AND LIAbILITIES

Shareholders’ funds

Share capital 3  1,85,866 1,85,866 

Reserves and surplus 4  (59,227) (78,021)

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings 5  3,34,130 2,42,632 

Other long term liabilities 6  3,508 526 

Long-term provisions 7  5,000 3,189 

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings 8  83,200 1,12,381 

Other current liabilities 9  1,72,069 93,964 

Short-term provisions 7  2,270 1,404 

TOTAL  7,26,816 5,61,941 

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 10  2,302 2,092 

Intangible assets 11  1,633 2,131 

Assets under development 10 & 11  495 177 

Non-current investments 12  207 207 

Long-term loans and advances 13  4,07,769 2,98,848 

Other non-current assets 14  5,255 3,815 

Current assets

Current investments 15  41,747 36,511 

Trade receivables 16  267 139 

Cash and bank balances 17  38,693 30,646 

Short-term loans and advances 13  2,15,407 1,77,737 

Other current assets 14  13,040 9,638 

TOTAL  7,26,816 5,61,941 

Summary of significant accounting policies   2.1  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

As per our report of even date      

S. R. BATLIBOI & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of    
Chartered Accountants Fullerton India Credit Company Limited    
ICAI Firm’s Registration number : 301003E

Sd/-  Sd/- Sd/-
per Shrawan Jalan Gan Chee Yen Shantanu Mitra   
Partner  Chairman CEO and Managing Director  
Membership No: 102102     
     
  Sd/- Sd/- 
  Pratik Gandhi Pankaj Malik    
  Chief Financial Officer Head - Finance and Company Secretary
     
Place : Mumbai Place : Mumbai    
Date : June 19, 2014 Date : June 19, 2014     
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS FOR ThE YEAR ENDED MARCh 31, 2014

Notes  march 31, 2014  march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Income

Revenue from operations 18  1,32,832  1,15,237 

Other income 19  5,929  3,222 

Total revenue (I)  1,38,761  1,18,459 

Expenses

Employee benefit expense 20  25,480  22,362 

Other expenses 21  21,719  23,194 

Depreciation and amortization expense 10&11  2,117  2,564 

Finance costs 22  56,167  42,585 

Provisions and write-offs 23  14,484  12,587 

Total expenses (II)  1,19,967  1,03,292 

Profit before tax (III) =(I)-(II)  18,794  15,167 

Tax expenses 

Income tax for the year 39  5,390  1,981 

MAT credit entitlement  (5,390)  (1,981)

Total tax expense (IV)  -  - 

Profit for the year (III)-(IV)  18,794  15,167 

Earnings per equity share (Rs.) 24

Basic (Computed on the basis of total profit for the year)  1.01  0.85 

Diluted (Computed on the basis of total profit for the year)  1.01  0.85 

Summary of significant accounting policies   2.1  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

As per our report of even date      

S. R. BATLIBOI & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of     
Chartered Accountants Fullerton India Credit Company Limited    
ICAI Firm’s Registration number : 301003E

Sd/-  Sd/- Sd/-
per Shrawan Jalan Gan Chee Yen Shantanu Mitra   
Partner  Chairman CEO and Managing Director  
Membership No: 102102     
     
  Sd/- Sd/- 
  Pratik Gandhi Pankaj Malik    
  Chief Financial Officer Head - Finance and Company Secretary
     
Place : Mumbai Place : Mumbai    
Date : June 19, 2014 Date : June 19, 2014     
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CASh FLOw STATEMENT FOR ThE YEAR ENDED MARCh 31, 2014

 march 31, 2014  march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

A. Cash flow from operating activities:

Net profit before taxation  18,794  15,167 

Adjustment to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows

 Depreciation and amortization  2,117  2,564 

 Interest on fixed deposits and bonds  (1,623)  (1,035)

 Interest on investments  (1,944)  (349)

 Profit on sale of fixed assets  (16)  (3)

 Write off of Fixed Assets & Intangible Assets  27  9 

 Profit on sale of investments  (4,518)  (2,652)

 Unrealised loss on investments  105  925 

 Provision for standard/sub standard assets and bad debts written off  14,383  11,662 

 Provision for employees benefits  213  (1)

 Employee stock options  -  (1)

 Amortisation of ancillary borrowing costs  1,511  1,133 

 Unamortised Loan origination costs  (3,659)  - 

 Unamortised Loan processing fees  5,305  (256)

Operating profit before working capital changes  30,695  27,163 

Movements in working capital :

- (Increase)/decrease in long term loans and advances  (1,10,548)  (69,082)

- (Increase)/decrease in short term loans and advances  (42,006)  (50,404)

- (Increase)/decrease in other current assets  (1,506)  (1,169)

- (Increase)/decrease in trade receivables  (128)  (110)

 - Increase/(decrease) in current liabilities  4,100  8,843 

 - Increase/(decrease) in other long term liabilities  378  (505)

Cash generated from operations  (1,19,016)  (85,265)

 - Income taxes paid  (5,387)  (1,229)

Net cash from operating activities (A)  (1,24,403)  (86,494)

b. Cash flow from investing activities:

Purchase of fixed assets & intangibles  (2,219)  (1,922)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  25  26 

Sale of non-current investments  -  8,763 

Purchase of current investments  (17,25,855)  (14,37,233)

Sale/maturity of investments  17,26,669  14,29,302 

Maturity/(investments) in fixed deposit (maturity greater than 3 months) (net)  (1,755)  - 

Interest received on fixed deposits and bonds  1,178  1,500 

Interest received on investments  517  402 

Net cash from investing activities (b)  (1,441)  838 
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CASh FLOw STATEMENT FOR ThE YEAR ENDED MARCh 31, 2014

 march 31, 2014  march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

C. Cash flow from financing activities ( C ) 

Proceeds from issuance of share capital (including share premium)  -  15,000 

Maturity/(Investments) in lien marked fixed deposits (placed as security for working capital 
limit sanctioned by banks and in connection with asset assignment) (net)

 -  4,828 

Proceeds from long term borrowings from banks and financial institutions  2,64,300  2,43,334 

Proceeds from short term borrowings from banks and financial institutions  1,75,638  1,58,217 

Repayment of long term borrowings from banks and financial institutions  (1,04,007)  (1,05,146)

Repayment of short term borrowings from banks and financial institutions  (2,04,793)  (2,29,994)

Payment of ancillary borrowing costs  (1,592)  (3,573)

Net cash used in financing activities (C )  1,29,546  82,666 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A)+(b)+(C)  3,703  (2,989)

Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the year  19,493  22,482 

Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the year  23,195  19,493 

(refer note 29 )

 

Components of cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the year

Cash and cheques on hand  819  247 

With banks - on current account (net of book overdraft)  2,761  16,745 

                  - on deposit account  19,615  2,500 

 23,195  19,493 

Summary of significant accounting policies   2.1  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

As per our report of even date      

S. R. BATLIBOI & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of     
Chartered Accountants Fullerton India Credit Company Limited    
ICAI Firm’s Registration number : 301003E

Sd/-  Sd/- Sd/-
per Shrawan Jalan Gan Chee Yen Shantanu Mitra   
Partner  Chairman CEO and Managing Director  
Membership No: 102102     
     
  Sd/- Sd/- 
  Pratik Gandhi Pankaj Malik    
  Chief Financial Officer Head - Finance and Company Secretary
     
Place : Mumbai Place : Mumbai    
Date : June 19, 2014 Date : June 19, 2014     
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NoTeS To aCCouNTS

1. CorPoraTe INFormaTIoN 

  Fullerton India Credit Company Limited (‘the Company’) 
is a public limited company domiciled in India and 
incorporated under the provisions of Companies 
Act, 1956 (‘the Act’). The Company is a non banking 
financial company (‘NBFC’) registered with Reserve 
Bank of India (‘RBI’). The Company provides loans 
to small and medium enterprises for working capital 
and growth, loans for commercial vehicles and two-
wheelers, home improvement loans, loans against 
property, personal loans, working capital loans for 
urban salaried and self-employed and loans for rural 
livelihood advancement and financing of various rural 
micro enterprises.

2. baSIS oF PreParaTIoN

  The financial statements of the Company have been 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in India (‘Indian GAAP’). The 
Company has prepared these financial statements to 
comply in all material respects with the Accounting 
Standards notified by Companies (Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2006 (as amended), the relevant 
provisions of the Act and the provisions of the RBI as 
applicable to an NBFC. The financial statements have 
been prepared on an accrual basis and under the 
historical cost convention except in the case of interest 
on non-performing assets, dishonour charges and 
penal charges, which are recognised on realisation. 
The accounting policies adopted by the Company are 
consistent with those of the previous year except for 
the change in accounting policy explained in Point No. 
2.1 (a) below. 

2.1 Summary of Significant accounting Policies

 (a) Change in accounting policy

   With effect from April 1, 2013, the Company has 
changed the accounting policy of recognition 
of the documentation fees and stamping fees 
collected from the borrowers over the tenure of the 
loans against recognising these on upfront basis. 
Also, the Company has started amortising the 
incremental loan origination costs over the tenure 
of loan with effect from April 1, 2013. Accordingly, 
the other operating income recognised is lower by 
Rs. 5,321 Lakhs and operating expenses are lower 
by Rs. 3,659 Lakhs. Consequently, profit (before 
tax) for the year and reserves as at March 31, 2014 
are lower by Rs. 1,662 Lakhs.

 (b) use of estimates 

   The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires the management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities and disclosure 
of contingent liabilities at the end of reporting 
period. Although these estimates are based on 
management’s knowledge of current events and 
actions, uncertainty about these assumptions and 
estimates could result in the outcomes requiring 
a material adjustment to the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities in future periods. 

 (c) Tangible fixed assets 

   Fixed assets are carried at cost, net of 
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, 
if any. Cost includes purchase price and directly 
attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working 
condition for the intended use.

   Gain or loss arising from de-recognition of a fixed 
asset is measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset and is recognised in the statement of 
profit and loss when the asset is derecognised.

 (d)  Intangible assets 

   Costs relating to acquisition and development of 
computer software are capitalized in accordance 
with the AS 26 ‘Intangible Assets’ issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India 
(‘ICAI’) and are amortised using the straight line 
method over a period of five years, which is the 
management’s estimate of its useful life. 

  (e)  Depreciation on tangible fixed assets

   Depreciation on tangible fixed assets is provided 
using the Straight Line Method (‘SLM’) as per 
the useful life of the asset estimated by the 
management, or at the rates prescribed under 
Schedule XIV of the Act, whichever is higher.

asset  
Category

rate (Slm) 
adopted by 

the Company

Schedule 
xIv rates 

(Slm)

Building  2.00 %  1.63 %
Server & Other 
Accessories

25.00 % 16.21 %

Desktop & Laptops 33.33 % 16.21 %
Furniture & Fixtures 16.67 %  6.33 %
Office Equipments 16.67 %  4.75 %
Handheld devices 50.00 %  4.75 %
Vehicles 25.00 %  9.50 %

   Leasehold improvements are amortised over the 
period of the lease subject to a maximum lease 
period of 66 months.

   Fixed assets having an original cost up to  
Rs. 5,000 individually are depreciated fully in the 
year of purchase.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ThE YEAR ENDED MARCh 31, 2014
(amount in rupees lakhs unless otherwise stated)
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 (f)  Impairment 

   The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed 
at each balance sheet date for any impairment, 
based on internal/external factors. An impairment 
loss is recognised wherever the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
net selling price and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and risk 
specific to the asset. 

   After impairment, depreciation is provided on 
the revised carrying amount of the asset over its 
remaining useful life.

 (g) Investments

   Investments, which are readily realisable and 
intended to be held for not more than one year 
from the date on which such investments are 
made, are classified as current investments. All 
other investments are classified as long-term 
investments. Current investments are carried in 
the financial statements at lower of cost and fair 
value determined on an individual investment basis 
except for investments in the units of mutual funds 
in the nature of current investments that have 
been valued at the net asset value declared by the 
mutual fund in respect of each particular scheme, 
in accordance with the NBFC directions. Long-term 
investments are carried at cost. However, provision 
for diminution in value is made to recognise a 
decline other than temporary in the value of the 
investments. 

   On disposal of an investment the difference 
between carrying amount and net disposal 
proceeds are charged or credited to the statement 
of profit and loss.

 (h) Provisioning/write-off of assets

   Loans are written off/provided for, as per 
management estimates, subject to the minimum 
provision required as per Non–Banking Financial 
(Deposit Accepting or Holding) Companies 
Prudential Norms (Reserve Bank of India) 
Directions, 2007, as amended from time to time. 
 
off-balance sheet items: 
 Provision for losses under assignment 
arrangements is made as higher of the incurred 
loss and provision as per management estimate 
subject to the credit enhancement provided to the 
respective assignee bank or financial institution.

 (i) leases  
 
  where the Company is the lessor 
   Assets given on operating leases are included in 

fixed assets. Lease income is recognised in the 
statement of Profit and Loss on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. Costs, including depreciation 
are recognised as an expense in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss. Initial direct costs such as 
legal costs, brokerage costs, etc. are recognised 
immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

  where the Company is the lessee 
   Lease arrangements where the Lessor effectively 

retains, substantially, all the risks and benefits of 
ownership of the leased term, are classified as 
operating leases. Operating lease payments are 
recognized as an expense in the statement of profit 
and loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

 (j) revenue recognition

   Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Company and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. 

   Interest income on loans given is recognised under 
the internal rate of return method. 

   Such interest, where installments are overdue 
for more than 90 days, is recognised only when 
actually realised. Any such income, recognised 
and remaining unrealised after the installments 
have become overdue for more than 90 days, is 
reversed.

   Interest income on deposits with banks is 
recognised on a time proportion basis taking 
into account the amount outstanding and the 
applicable interest rate.

   On sale of receivables under asset assignment 
arrangement, the profit arising on account of sale is 
recognised over the life of the receivables assigned 
on an accrual basis and loss, (if any) arising on 
account of sale is accounted immediately.

   Loan processing fee/document fee/stamp fee are 
recognised over the term of the loan in proportion 
to the interest accrued during the year. For the 
agreements foreclosed or transferred through 
assignment, the unamortised portion of the fee is 
recognised as income to the Statement of Profit 
and Loss at the time of such foreclosure/transfer 
through assignment.

   Additional charges such as penal, dishonor, 
foreclosure charges, etc. are recognised on 
realisation, given the uncertainty of realisation.

   Dividend income is recognised on the date when 
the Company’s right to receive is established.
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 (k) Foreign currency transactions 
 
  i. Initial recognition

    Foreign currency transactions are 
recorded in the reporting currency, by 
applying to the foreign currency amount, 
the exchange rate between the reporting 
currency and the foreign currency at the 
date of the transaction. 

  ii. Conversion

    Foreign currency monetary items are 
retranslated using the exchange rate 
prevailing at the reporting date.

    Non-monetary items, which are measured 
in terms of historical cost denominated 
in a foreign currency, are reported using 
the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction.

  iii. exchange differences

    Exchange differences arising on the 
settlement of monetary items or on the 
restatement of the Company’s monetary 
items at rates different from those at which 
they were initially recorded during the 
year, or reported in the previous financial 
statements, are recognised as income or 
as expense in the year in which they arise. 

 (l) retirement and other employee benefits

  i. Short Term employee benefits

    All short term employee benefits are 
accounted on undiscounted basis during 
the accounting period based on services 
rendered by employees. 

  ii. Defined Contribution Plans

    The contributions as specified by law 
are made to the Regional Provident 
Fund Commissioner and charged to the 
statement of profit and loss of the year 
when the contribution to the respective 
fund is due. There are no other obligations 
other than contribution payable to the 
provident fund.

    Superannuation is provided for on accrual 
basis, in accordance with the Company’s 
policy.

  iii. Defined benefit Plans

    Gratuity liability is provided for on the 
basis of an actuarial valuation made on 
Projected Unit Credit method at the end of 
each financial year. Actuarial gain or loss is 
recognised in full in the period in which they 
occur in the statement of profit and loss.

  iv. other benefits

    Branch sales incentives are provided 
for on accrual basis, in accordance with 
the Company’s policy. The scheme for 
employer’s contribution for branch sales 
incentives has been discontinued effective 
January 1, 2013. For amounts not due 
as at the end of the year (based on 
employment period), expense is provided 
for on the basis of an actuarial valuation 
made at the end of the financial year. 
Actuarial gains/losses are immediately 
taken to the statement of profit and loss 
and are not deferred. Amounts due to 
employees after completion of required 
employment period are provided for on 
accrual basis.

 (m) Income taxes

   Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. 
Current income tax is measured at the amount 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities in 
accordance with the Income Tax Act, 1961 
enacted in India. The tax rates and tax laws 
used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. Deferred income taxes reflects the impact 
of current year timing differences between taxable 
income and accounting income originating during 
the current year and reversal of timing differences 
of earlier years.

   Deferred tax is measured based on the tax rates 
and the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 
at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised only to the extent that there is 
reasonable certainty that sufficient future taxable 
income will be available against which such 
deferred tax assets can be realised. In situations 
where the Company has unabsorbed depreciation 
or carry forward tax losses, all deferred tax assets 
are recognised only if there is virtual certainty 
supported by convincing evidence that they can be 
realised against future taxable profits. 

   At each balance sheet date, the Company re-
assesses unrecognised deferred tax assets. It 
recognises unrecognised deferred tax assets to 
the extent that it has become reasonably certain or 
virtually certain, as the case may be that sufficient 
future taxable income will be available against 
which such deferred tax assets can be realized.

   Minimum alternate tax (MAT) paid in a year is 
charged to the statement of profit and loss as 
current tax. The Company recognises MAT credit 
available as an asset only to the extent that there 
is convincing evidence that the Company will pay 
normal income tax during the specified period, i.e., 
the period for which MAT credit is allowed to be 
carried forward. In the year in which the Company 
recognizes MAT credit as an asset in accordance 
with the Guidance Note on Accounting for Credit 
Available in respect of Minimum Alternative Tax 
under the Income Tax Act, 1961, the said asset is 
created by way of credit to the statement of profit 

NOTES
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and loss and shown as “MAT Credit Entitlement.” 
The Company reviews the “MAT credit entitlement” 
asset at each reporting date and writes down the 
asset to the extent the Company does not have 
convincing evidence that it will pay normal tax 
during the specified period.

 (n) earnings per share

   Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing 
the net profit or loss for the period attributable to 
equity shareholders (after deducting attributable 
taxes) by the weighted average number of equity 
shares outstanding during the year. 

   For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per 
share, the net profit or loss for the year attributable 
to equity shareholders and the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the year are 
adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity 
shares.

 (o) Provisions & Contingencies

   A provision is recognised when an enterprise has 
a present obligation as a result of past event; it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, in respect of which a reliable estimate 
can be made. Provisions are not discounted to 
its present value and are determined based on 
best estimate required to settle the obligation at 
the reporting date. These estimates are reviewed 
at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the 
current best estimates.

   A contingent liability is a possible obligation that 
arises from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence 
of one or more uncertain future events beyond the 
control of the Company or a present obligation 
that is not recognised because it is not probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation. A contingent liability also 
arises in extremely rare cases where there is a 
liability that cannot be recognised because it 
cannot be measured reliably. A disclosure for 
contingent liability is made when there is a possible 
obligation or a present obligation that may, but 
probably will not, require an outflow of resources 
or it cannot be reliably estimated. When there 
is a possible obligation or a present obligation 
in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of 
resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is 
made. A contingent asset is neither recognised nor 
disclosed.

 (p) Cash and cash equivalents

   Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of cash 
flow statement comprise cash at bank and cash 
in hand and short term investments with original 
maturity of three months or less. 

 (q) Share based payments 
   In case of stock option plan and stock appreciation 

rights, measurement and disclosure of the 
employee share-based payment plan is done in 
accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting 
for Employee Share-based Payments, issued by 
the ICAI. The Company measures compensation 
cost relating to employee stock options and stock 
appreciation rights using the fair value method. 
Compensation expense is amortised over the 
vesting period of the option on a straight line basis.

 (r) borrowing costs

   Ancillary borrowing costs incurred in connection 
with the arrangement of borrowings is amortised 
over the tenure of the respective borrowings. 

 (s) loan origination costs

   Loan origination costs such as credit verification, 
contact point verification, agreement stamping and 
direct selling agents commission are recognised 
as expense over the contractual tenor of the loan 
agreements in proportion to the interest accrued 
during the year. For the agreements foreclosed or 
transferred through assignment, the unamortised 
portion of the loan acquisition costs are recognised 
as charge to the Statement of Profit and Loss 
at the time of such foreclosure/transfer through 
assignment.

 (t) operating cycle

   Assets and Liabilities are classified as current and 
non-current based on the operating cycle which 
has been estimated to be 12 months. All assets 
and liabilities which are expected to be realised and 
settled, within a period of 12 months from the date 
of Balance Sheet have been classified as current 
and other assets and liabilities are classified as 
non-current.

 (u) Cash flow statement

   Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, 
whereby profit/(loss) before extraordinary items 
and tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions 
of non-cash nature and any deferrals or accruals 
of past or future cash receipts or payments. The 
cash flows from operating, investing and financing 
activities of the Company are segregated based on 
the available information.

   Cash comprises cash on hand and demand 
deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-
term balances (with an original maturity of three 
months or less from the date of acquisition), highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

 (v) Commercial papers

   Commercial paper is recognised at redemption 
value net of unamortised finance charges. The 
difference between redemption value and issue 
value is amortised on a time basis and is disclosed 
separately under finance charges.
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3. Share CaPITal

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Authorised Shares
2,50,00,00,000 (March 31, 2013: 2,50,00,00,000) equity shares of Rs.10 each  2,50,000  2,50,000 

 2,50,000  2,50,000 
Issued, subscribed and fully paid up shares
1,85,86,61,357 (March 31, 2013: 1,85,86,61,357) equity shares of Rs.10 each  1,85,866  1,85,866 

 1,85,866  1,85,866 

reconciliation of the shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting period
equity Shares  march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 No. of shares  Rupees Lakhs  No. of shares  Rupees Lakhs
At the beginning of the year 1,85,66,61,357  1,85,866  1,70,86,61,357  1,70,866 
Issued during the year -  -  15,00,00,000  15,000 
Outstanding at the end of year 1,85,86,61,357  1,85,866  1,85,86,61,357  1,85,866 

Terms / rights attached to equity shares
The Company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs. 10 per share. Each holder of equity shares is entitled to one vote 
per share.
Any Dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting. 
Dividend is declared and paid would be in Indian rupees.
In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Company, after 
distribution of all the preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.

Shares held by holding /ultimate holding company and/or their subsidiaries/associates
Out of equity shares issued by the Company, shares held by its holding company, ultimate holding company and their subsidiaries/associates 
are as below:

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

M/s. Angelica Investments Pte. Ltd. Singapore, the holding company and its nominees

1,77,34,05,000 (March 31, 2013: 1,77,34,05,000) equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid)  1,77,341  1,77,341

M/s. Fullerton Financial Holdings Pte. Ltd. Singapore holding company of Angelica

8,52,56,357 (March 31, 2013: 8,52,56,357) equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid)  8,526  8,526

Shares issued for consideration other than cash

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 No. of shares  No. of shares

Equity shares of Rs. 10 each allotted to Fullerton Financial Holdings Pte Ltd., the holding 
company of erstwhile Fullerton Enterprises Pvt. Ltd., for consideration other than cash, pursuant 
to the scheme of Amalgamation approved by the Honorable High Court, Bombay.

 8,52,56,357  8,52,56,357

Details of shareholders holding more than 5 % shares in the Company

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 No. of shares % holding in the class  No. of shares % holding in the 
class

Equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid

M/s. Angelica investments Pte. Ltd, Singapore, 
the holding company

 1,77,34,05,000 95.41%   1,77,34,05,000 95.41%

As per records of the Company, including its register of shareholders/members and other declarations received from shareholders regarding 
beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and beneficial ownerships of shares.

Shares reserved for issue under options 
For details of shares reserved for issue under the employee stock option ( ESOP) plan of the Company, refer note 32 (a)

NOTES
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4. reServe aND SurPluS

 Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs
 General Reserve  96  96 

 (A)  96  96 

 Capital Reserve  349  349 

 (B)  349  349 

 Securities Premium Account  696  696 

 (C)  696  696 

Reserve Fund under Section 45 - IC of the RBI Act, 1934 

Balance as per the last financial statements  4,180  1,147 

Add: Amount transferred from surplus balance in the statement of profit and loss  3,759  3,033 

Closing Balance  (D)  7,939  4,180 

Employee stock options outstanding 

Gross employee stock compensation for options granted in earlier years  -  1 

Add: Gross compensation for options granted during the year  -  - 

Less: Gross compensation for options lapsed/forfeited during the year  -  (1)

Less : Deferred employee stock compensation  -  - 

Closing Balance  (E)  -  - 

(Deficit) in the statement of profit and loss 

Balance as per the last financial statements  (83,342)  (95,476)

Add: Profit for the year  18,794  15,167 

Less: Transferred to Statutory Reserve [@ 20% of profit after tax as required by section 
45-IC of The Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934]

 3,759  3,033 

Net deficit in the statement of profit and loss  (F)  (68,307)  (83,342)

Total reserves and surplus (A+b+C+D+E+F)  (59,227)  (78,021)

5. loNG Term borrowINGS 

 Particulars

 Non Current portion  Current maturities
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013  march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

 Term Loans 

 Indian rupee loan from banks (secured)* 1,37,580  59,566  59,198  27,961 

 Indian rupee loan from banks (unsecured) 11,500   -    -    -  

 Debentures 

 Debentures (secured)* 1,57,550  1,58,066  67,566  20,668 

 Debentures (unsecured) 27,500  25,000  2,500  11,840 

 Total 3,34,130  2,42,632  1,29,264  60,469 

 The above amount includes 

 Secured Borrowing 2,95,130  2,17,632  1,26,764  48,629 

 Unsecured Borrowing 39,000  25,000  2,500  11,840 

 Less: Amount disclosed under the head 
 “other current liabilities” (note 9) 

 -   -   1,29,264  60,469 

 Total 3,34,130  2,42,632   -    -  

 *Indian rupee loan from banks and debentures are secured by first pari passu charge over all book debts and immovable property. 
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loNG-Term borrowINGS (Contd.)

Terms of repayment of NCD as at March 31, 2014

original maturity of loan (in no. of days) rate of 
interest 

annualised 
yield

Due  
within 1 year

Due  
1 to 2 years

Due  
2 to 3 years

Due more 
than 3 years

Total

rupees 
lakhs

rupees 
lakhs

rupees 
lakhs

rupees 
lakhs

rupees 
lakhs

Issued at par and redeemable at par

366-730 09% - 11% - 750 - - 750

12% - 13% - - - - -

731-1095 09% - 11% 8,000 - 8,800 - 16,800

11% - 12% 1,500 30,000 - - 31,500

12% - 13% - 10,000 - - 10,000

1096-1460 09% - 11% - 7,500 1,000 - 8,500

11% - 12% 26,000 - - - 26,000

More than 1460 09% - 11% 21,000 23,500 18,500 45,000 1,08,000

11% - 12% 10,000 20,000 - 20,000 50,000

Issued at par and redeemable at premium

366-730 Zero Coupon 11% to 12% - - - - -

Issued at discount and redeemable at par

731-1095 Zero Coupon 11% to 12% 3,565 - - - 3,565

Total 70,065 91,750 28,300 65,000 2,55,115

Terms of repayment of NCD as at March 31, 2013

original maturity of loan (in no. of days) rate of 
interest 

annualised 
yield

Due  
within 1 year

Due  
1 to 2 years

Due  
2 to 3 years

Due more 
than 3 years

Total

rupees 
lakhs

rupees 
lakhs

rupees 
lakhs

rupees 
lakhs

rupees 
lakhs

Issued at par and redeemable at par

366-730 09% - 11% 2,300 20,000 - - 22,300

12% - 13% - - - - -

731-1095 09% - 11% 8,500 8,000 22,500 - 39,000

11% - 12% - 1,500 50,000 - 51,500

12% - 13% - - 10,000 - 10,000

1096-1460 09% - 11% 500 - 7,500 - 8,000

11% - 12% - 36,000 - - 36,000

More than 1460 09% - 11% - - - 4,000 4,000

11% - 12% - - - 20,000 20,000

Issued at par and redeemable at premium

366-730 Zero Coupon 11% to 12% 21,540 - - - 21,540

Issued at discount and redeemable at par

731-1095 Zero Coupon 11% to 12% - 3,234 - - 3,234

Total 32,840 68,734 90,000 24,000 2,15,574

NOTES
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Particulars of Secured Redeemable Non Convertible Debenture
Particulars Face value  

(rupees lakhs)
quantity Date of redemption march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

10.45% Series 27C 5  500 November 3, 2023  2,500  - 
9.85% Series 24 10  400 May 22, 2023  4,000  - 
10.60% Series 22 10  750 April 28, 2023  7,500  - 
10.90% Series 27F 5  1,000 January 7, 2019  5,000  - 
11.00% Series 27E 5  1,000 December 10, 2018  5,000  - 
9.30% Series 25 10  500 June 14, 2018  5,000  - 
9.50% Series 23 10  1,000 May 8, 2018  10,000  - 
10.00% Series-20E 10  100 January 15, 2018  1,000  1,000 
10.29% Series 27G 5  360 January 27, 2017  1,800  - 
10.00% Series-20D 10  100 January 15, 2017  1,000  1,000 
10.80% Series 27D 5  500 November 7, 2016  2,500  - 
10.95% Series 27A 5  200 October 18, 2016  1,000  - 
10.95% Series 26 5  3,000 October 7, 2016  15,000  - 
10.30% Series 27I 5  240 May 16, 2016  1,200  - 
10.34% Series 27H 5  160 April 18, 2016  800  - 
10.25% Series 27J 5  1,000 April 18, 2016  5,000  - 
10.00% Series-20C 10  100 January 15, 2016  1,000  1,000 
10.25% Series-19 10  750 January 11, 2016  7,500  7,500 
10.50% Series-18 10  2,000 December 11, 2015  20,000  20,000 
11.10% Series-17 10  2,000 September 4, 2015  20,000  20,000 
11.10% Series-16 10  2,000 August 28, 2015  20,000  20,000 
11.50% Series-14 10  1,000 August 21, 2015  10,000  10,000 
12.15% Series-13 10  1,000 June 10, 2015  10,000  10,000 
10.00% Series 27B 5  150 April 20, 2015  750  - 
11.70% Series-11 10  500 March 13, 2015  5,000  5,000 
11.70% Series-10 10  500 February 27, 2015  5,000  5,000 
11.70% Series-9 10  1,000 January 27, 2015  10,000  10,000 
10.10% Series 21 10  800 January 19, 2015  8,000  8,000 
10.00% Series-20B 10  100 January 15, 2015  1,000  1,000 
11.85% Series-8 10  1,500 December 15, 2014  15,000  15,000 
10.75% Series-15 10  2,000 August 28, 2014  20,000  20,000 
11.99% Series-7 10  357 April 28, 2014  3,565  3,234 
12.80% Series-12 10  - March 27, 2014  -  20,000 
10.00% Series-20A 10  - January 15, 2014  -  1,000 
Total  2,25,115  1,78,734 

Particulars of Unsecured Redeemable Non Convertible Debenture
Particulars Face value  

(rupees lakhs)
quantity Date of redemption march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

11.40% UNCD_12-13_Series 27 10 850 January 22, 2016  2,500  2,500 
11.50% UNCD_11-12_Series 24 10 50 December 15, 2014  1,000  1,000 
11.25% NCD-25 10 130 August 8, 2014  1,500  1,500 
10.00% NCD-22 10 - August 19, 2013  -  500 
10.90% NCD-24 10 30 July 29, 2013  -  1,300 
11.43% UNCD_11-12_Series 25 10 - June 6, 2013  -  440 
11.92% UNCD_11-12_Series 23 10 44 May 23, 2013  -  300 
9.25% NCD-15 10 80 April 19, 2013  -  8,500 
11.40% UNCD_11-12_Series 26 10 - April 16, 2013  -  800 
Total  5,000  16,840 

Particulars of Unsecured Redeemable Non Convertible Debenture (Subordinated Debt)
Particulars Face value  

(rupees lakhs)
quantity Date of redemption march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

10.50% Subdebts_13-14_Series 3 5 1,000 October 28, 2023  5,000 -
11.40% Subdebts_12-13_Series 2C 10 500 October 28, 2022  5,000  5,000 
11.40% Subdebts_12-13_Series 2B 10 400 September 27, 2022  4,000  4,000 
11.40% Subdebts_12-13_Series 1B 10 481 September 12, 2022  4,810  4,810 
11.25% Subdebts_12-13_Series 2A 10 100 August 27, 2018  1,000  1,000 
11.25% Subdebts_12-13_Series 1A 10 519 August 7, 2018  5,190  5,190 
Total  25,000  20,000 
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loNG-Term borrowINGS (Contd.)
Terms of repayment of term loan as at March 31, 2014

original maturity of loan 
(in no. of days)

rate of 
interest

Due  
within 1 year

Due  
1 to 2 years

Due  
2 to 3 years

Due more  
than 3 years

Total

No. of 
installments

rupees 
lakhs

No. of 
installments

rupees 
lakhs

No. of 
installments

rupees 
lakhs

No. of 
installments

rupees 
lakhs

rupees 
lakhs

Monthly repayment schedule

More than 1460 11% - 12%  12  1,632  12  1,632  12  1,632  13  1,833  6,729 

Quarterly repayment schedule

366-720 9 - 11%  4  2,500  1  625  -    -    -    -    3,125 

731-1095 9 - 11%  -    -    8  11,250  8  11,250  -    -    22,500 

11% - 12%  10  7,311  9  6,895  2  1,362  -    -    15,568 

12% - 13%  19  23,857  5  4,374  1  625  -    -    28,856 

1096-1460 11% - 12%  -    -    2  1,000  4  2,000  4  2,000  5,000 

More than 1460 9 - 11%  1  277  4  1,110  4  3,613  -    -    5,000 

11 -12 %  14  11,120  28  20,357  24  38,523  -    -    70,000 

12 -13 %  2  2,500  4  5,000  2  2,500  -    -    10,000 

Bullet repayment schedule

731-1095 11 -12 %  -    -    -    -    1  10,000  -    -    10,000 

12 -13 %  1  10,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    10,000 

1096-1460 9 - 11%  -    -    -    -    1  11,500  -    -    11,500 

More than 1460 9 - 11%  -    -    -    -    1  10,000  -    -    10,000 

Total  63  59,198  73  52,242  60  93,005  17  3,833  2,08,278 

Terms of repayment of term loan as at March 31, 2013

original maturity of loan 
(in no. of days)

rate of 
interest

Due  
within 1 year

Due  
1 to 2 years

Due  
2 to 3 years

Due more  
than 3 years

Total

No. of 
installments

rupees 
lakhs

No. of 
installments

rupees 
lakhs

No. of 
installments

rupees 
lakhs

No. of 
installments

rupees 
lakhs

rupees 
lakhs

Monthly repayment schedule

More than 1460 11% - 12%  6  545  12  1,091  12  1,091  25  2,273  5,000 

Quarterly repayment schedule

731-1095 11% - 12%  -    -    4  1,111  5  1,389  -    -    2,500 

12% - 14%  20  23,665  16  21,362  1  1,875  -    -    46,902 

1096-1460 11% - 12%  -    -    4  3,750  4  3,750  -    -    7,500 

12% - 14%  4  3,750  2  1,875  -    -    -    -    5,625 

More than 1460 12% - 14%  -    -    2  2,500  4  5,000  2  2,500  10,000 

Bullet repayment schedule

731-1095 12% - 14%  -    -    1  10,000  -    -    -    -    10,000 

Total  30  27,960  41  41,689  26  13,105  27  4,773  87,527 

6. oTher loNG Term lIabIlITIeS

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Interest accrued but not due on debentures  73  162 

Payable to employees  545  163 

Unamortised income 

 Unamortised loan processing fees  2,660  56 

 Unamortised income on asset assignment  14  122 

Others  216  23 

Total  3,508  526 

NOTES
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7. ProvISIoNS

Particulars
 long Term  Short Term 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013
 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Provision for employee benefits 
 Provision for gratuity (refer note 33)  -  -  271  81 
 Provision for superannuation  -  -  31  7 
Other provisions 
 Provision for standard assets (refer note 40 (c))  2,413  852  1,336  531 
 Provision for sub-standard assets  2,250  1,686  -  - 
 Provision for assigned loans  251  566  632  785 
 Provision for security deposits  86  86  -  - 
Total  5,000  3,189  2,270  1,404 

8. ShorT Term borrowINGS 

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs
 Loan repayable on demand 
 Cash credit from banks (secured)*  10,451  14,823 
 Other loans and advances 
 Commercial paper (unsecured)  72,749  97,558 
 Total  83,200  1,12,381 
 The above amount includes 
 Secured borrowings  10,451  14,823 
 Unsecured borrowings  72,749  97,558 
 Total  83,200  1,12,381 
 *Cash Credit from banks and Indian rupee loan from bank is secured by first pari passu charge over all book debts. 

9. oTher CurreNT lIabIlITIeS 

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Other liabilities
Current maturities of long term borrowings (refer note 5) 1,29,264  60,469 
Security deposits  -  19 
Bank balances (Book overdraft) 9,910  7,934 
Interest accrued but not due 
 On debentures 13,553  12,093 
 On bank loan 447  13 
 On others 8  20 
Undisputed statutory dues 717  552 
Expenses and other payable (including acceptances)  
(refer note 35 for details of dues to Micro Small and Medium Enterprise )

5,349  4,411 

Payable to employees 4,066  4,099 
Payable towards asset assignment 1,295  1,007 
Others 4,616  3,060 
Unamortised income 
 Unamortised loan processing fees 2,764 63
 Unamortised income on asset assignment 35 170
 Others 45 54
Total 1,72,069 93,964
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10. TaNGIble aSSeTS 
 
Particulars   office 

equipments 
 Furniture 
& Fixtures 

 Computers & 
accessories 

 leasehold 
Improvements 

 vehicles**  land & 
building* 

 leased 
assets 

 Total 

 Cost 

 At April 1, 2012  2,190  2,471  3,915  3,341  78  6  -  12,000 

 Addition  260  153  371  120  -  -  -  903 

 Disposals  82  158  115  229  13  -  -  597 

 At March 31, 2013  2,368  2,466  4,171  3,232  65  6  -  12,307 

 Addition  389  180  384  319  -  -  96  1,369 

 Disposals  79  262  270  159  -  -  -  770 

 At March 31, 2014  2,678  2,384  4,285  3,392  65  6  96  12,906 

 Depreciation  - 

 At April 1, 2012  1,575  1,696  3,508  2,437  24  -  -  9,240 

 Charge for the year  375  411  247  452  14  -  -  1,501 

 Disposals  72  142  114  223  11  -  -  563 

 At March 31, 2013  1,878  1,965  3,641  2,666  27  -  -  10,177 

 Charge for the year  292  250  298  251  37  -  13  1,142 

 Disposals  74  253  270  155  -  -  -  753 

 At March 31, 2014  2,096  1,962  3,669  2,762  65  -  13  10,567 

 Impairment 

 At April 1, 2012  6  15  2  13  -  -  -  36 

 Additions  2  -  1  0  -  -  -  3 

 Charge for the year  -  1  -  -  -  -  -  1 

 At March 31, 2013  8  14  3  13  -  -  -  38 

 Additions  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Charge for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 At March 31, 2014  8  14  3  13  -  -  -  38 

 Net block 

 At March 31, 2013  482  487  527  552  37  6  -  2,092 

 At March 31, 2014  574  408  614  616  -  6  83  2,302 

 The Company does not have any other leasehold assets except as disclosed above. 

 All assets have been recognized at cost 

Capital work in Progress 

 At March 31, 2013  27  -  48  0  -  -  -  75 

 At March 31, 2014  49  -  162  -  -  -  -  212 

*  Mortgaged as Security against Secured Non-Convertible debentures

**  Refer note 40(a)

NOTES

(Rupees in Lakhs)



ANNUAL REPORT 2013-14   •   FULLERTON INDIA CREDIT COMPANY LIMITED 81

11. INTaNGIble aSSeTS 

 Particulars   Computer Software  Total 

 Gross block 

 At April 1, 2012  4,757  4,757 

 Additions  859  859 

 Disposals  -  - 

 At March 31, 2013  5,616  5,616 

 Additions  491  491 

 Disposals  13  13 

 At March 31, 2014  6,094  6,094 

Amortisation

 At April 1, 2012  2,422  2,422 

 Charge for the year  1,063  1,063 

 Deductions  -  - 

 At March 31, 2013  3,485  3,485 

 Charge for the year  976  976 

 Deductions  -  - 

 At March 31, 2014  4,461  4,461 

 Net block  - 

 At March 31, 2013  2,131  2,131 

 At March 31, 2014  1,633  1,633 

 Capital work in Progress 

 At March 31, 2013  102  102 

 At March 31, 2014  283  283 

*Refer note 40(b)

12. NoN-CurreNT INveSTmeNTS 

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

 Non Trade Investments (valued at cost unless stated otherwise) 

 Investment in equity instruments (unquoted) 

 a)  wholly owned subsidiaries 

  20,00,000 (March 31, 2013: 20,00,000) equity shares of Rs. 10 each  200  200 

  fully paid-up in Fullerton India Home Finance Company Limited 

  23,575 (March 31, 2013: 23,575) equity shares of Rs. 10 each  2  2 

  fully paid-up in Fullerton India Foundation For Social & Economic Development 

 b )  Others 

  50,000 (March 31, 2013: 50,000) equity shares of Rs. 10 each  5  5 

  fully paid-up in Alpha Micro Finance Consultants Private Limited 

 207  207 

 Aggregate amount of unquoted investments  207  207 

(Rupees in Lakhs)
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13. loaNS aND aDvaNCeS 

Particulars
Non-Current Current

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013
 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

A Portfolio loans 
 a. Secured, considered good 
  Loans  1,95,652  1,13,295  41,870  41,467 
 b. Secured, considered doubtful 
  Loans  7,039  6,258   -    -  
 c. Unsecured, considered good 
  Loans  1,90,406  1,69,249  1,71,881  1,34,509 
 d. Unsecured, considered doubtful 
  Assignment loan receivables   -   13   -    -  
  Loans  3,452  3,592   -    -  
 Sub-Total  3,96,549  2,92,407  2,13,751  1,75,976 
b Security deposits 
 Unsecured, considered good  1,339  1,138  53  190 
 Unsecured, considered doubtful  86  86   -  
 Sub-Total  1,425  1,224  53  190 
C  Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for 

value to be received 
 Unsecured, considered good  1,158  1,958   -   1 
 Sub-Total  1,158  1,958   -   1 
D Other loans and advances 
 Retained interest receivable on asset assignment  34  317  85  440 
 Advance Income Tax (net of provision for tax )  906  909   -    -  
 MAT credit entitlement  7,371  1,981 
 Prepaid expenses  77   -   686  584 
 Loans and advances to employees  11  10  7  44 
 Others  5   -   825  502 
 Sub-Total  8,404  3,217  1,603  1,570 
E Capital advances 
 Unsecured, considered good  233  42   -    -  
 Sub-Total  233  42   -    -  
Total (A+b+C+D+E)  4,07,769  2,98,848  2,15,407  1,77,737 

 
14. oTher aSSeTS 

Particulars

 Non-current  Current 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Non Current bank balances (Note 17)  1,085  1,698  -  - 
Ancillary cost of arranging the borrowings  1,988  2,055  1,177  1,029 
Loan Origination cost  2,057 -  1,602 -
Interest accrued and due 
 On secured assignment loan receivables  - -  12  2 
 On secured loans  -  -  292  246 
 On unsecured loans  -  -  649  685 
Interest Accrued but not due 
 On deposits placed with banks  125  62  434  41 
 On government securities  -  -  -  236 
 On debentures and bonds  - -  -  10 
 On secured loans  -  -  2,554  1,837 
 On unsecured loans  -  -  6,320  5,552 
Total  5,255  3,815  13,040  9,638 

NOTES
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15. CurreNT INveSTmeNTS

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

 Current investments (valued at lower of cost and fair value, unless stated otherwise) 

 a) Quoted: Government securities 

 Nil (March 31, 2013: 25,000) 8.07 % 2017 Government of India  -  2,516 

 Nil (March 31, 2013: 75,000) 8.15 % 2022 Government of India  -  7,594 

b) Unquoted: Certificate of deposits 

 7,500 (March 31, 2013: 7,500) units of Rs. 1,00,000 each of Canara Bank  7,449  7,355 

 7,500 (March 31, 2013: Nil) units of Rs. 1,00,000 each of State Bank of Patiala  7,106  - 

 10,000 (March 31, 2013: Nil) units of Rs. 1,00,000 each of Oriental Bank of Commerce  9,904  - 

 2,500 (March 31, 2013: Nil) units of Rs. 1,00,000 each of State Bank of Mysore  2,456  - 

 5,000 (March 31, 2013: Nil) units of Rs. 1,00,000 each of Union Bank of India  4,993  - 

 5,000 (March 31, 2013: Nil) units of Rs. 1,00,000 each of Bank of Baroda  4,988  - 

 2,500 (March 31, 2013: Nil) units of Rs. 1,00,000 each of State Bank of Travencore  2,391  - 

 2,500 (March 31, 2013: Nil) units of Rs. 1,00,000 each of Indian Bank  2,460  - 

 Nil (March 31, 2013: 5,000) units of Rs. 1,00,000 each of Corporation Bank  -  4,988 

 Nil (March 31, 2013: 2,500) units of Rs. 1,00,000 each of Syndicate Bank  -  2,493 

c) Unquoted: Mutual funds (At net asset value) 

 Nil (March 31, 2013: 24,67,659) units of Rs. 10 each in ICICI Prudential  -  4,004 

d) Investment in debentures (unquoted) 

  Nil (March 31, 2013: 750) units of Rs.10,00,000 each fully paid up in Mannapuram Finance 
Limited 

 -  7,500 

e) Investment in preference shares (unquoted) 

 93,68,921 (March 31, 2013: 93,68,921) preference shares of Rs. 10 each  937  937 

 fully paid-up in Bhartiya Samruddhi Finance Limited 

f) Investment in equity shares (unquoted) 

 6,68,328 (March 31, 2013: Nil) equity shares of Rs. 10 each  67  - 

 fully paid-up in SWAWS Credit Corporation India Private Limited 

g) Investment in debentures (unquoted) 

 22,278 (March 31, 2013: Nil) units of Rs.100 each fully paid-up  22  - 

 12% Optionally Convertible Debentures in SWAWS Credit Corporation India Private Limited 

 (A)  42,773  37,387 

 Less: Provision for diminution in value  (b)  (1,026)  (876)

Net Value {(A)-(b)}  41,747  36,511 

Aggregate Amount of quoted investment (at Cost Price Rs. Nil, (March 31, 2013: Rs 10,158))  -  10,110 

Aggregate Amount of unquoted investment (at Cost Price Rs. 41,105, (March 31, 2013: Rs 22,471))  41,747  22,397 

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments (at Cost Price Rs. Nil, (March 31, 2013: Rs 4,000))  -  4,004 
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16. TraDe reCeIvable 

Particulars

 Non-current  Current 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Other receivable  -  -  267  139 

Unsecured, considered good 

Total  -  -  267  139 

 
17. CaSh aND baNk balaNCeS 

Particulars

 Non-current  Current 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

 Cash and cash equivalents: 

 - Cash on hand  -  -  819  247 

 balances with banks 

 - On Current accounts  -  -  12,671  24,679 

 - Deposits with original maturity of less than 3 months*  -  19,615  2,500 

 (A)  -  -  33,105  27,426 

 Other bank balances 

 - Deposits with original maturity for more than 12 months*  1,085  1,698  5,588  950 

 - Deposits with original maturity for more than 3 months*  -  -  -  2,270 

 but less than 12 months 

 (b)  1,085  1,698  5,588  3,220 

 1,085  1,698  38,693  30,646 

 Less: amount disclosed under non current assets (note14)  (1,085)  (1,698)  -  - 

 Total {(A)+(b)}  -  -  38,693  30,646 

* Rs. 6,188 lakhs (March 31, 2013 : Rs. 4,878 lakhs) Pledged against working capital limit sanctioned by banks and pledged as cash collateral in 
connection with asset assignment.

18: reveNue From oPeraTIoNS

Particulars

For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

 Interest income

  Interest income on loans  1,20,694  1,00,031 

 Income from asset assignment  463  1,511 

 Interest on bank deposits  814  886 

 Interest on investments  2,753  499 

 Other operating revenue

  Processing charges  2,669  4,214 

 Ancillary income from operations  5,439  8,096 

 Total  1,32,832  1,15,237 

NOTES
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19: oTher INCome

Particulars

For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

 Profit on sale of investments  4,488  2,648 
 Unrealised Gain on investment in mutual fund  -  4 
 Miscellaneous income  1,441  570 
 Total  5,929  3,222 

20: emPloyee beNeFIT exPeNSe

Particulars

For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

 Salaries, bonus and allowances  23,218  20,286 
 Contribution to provident and other funds  887  912 
 Gratuity expense (refer note 33)  451  154 
 Employee stock option expenditure  -  (1)
 Staff welfare expenses  924  1,011 
 Total  25,480  22,362 

21: oTher exPeNSeS

Particulars

For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

 Printing and stationery  735  607 
 Rent  2,422  2,107 
 Rates and taxes  308  461 
 Insurance  12  19 
 Business promotion expenses  293  224 
 Commission, Brokerage & Lead Generation  1,862  4,687 
 Legal charges  147  285 
 Professional Charges (including collection & credit cost)  10,136  9,294 
 Courier charges  276  262 
 Repairs and maintenance
  Office premises  1,021  1,065 
  Others  352  466 
 Directors’ sitting fees*  -  0 
 Travelling expenses  1,672  1,615 
 Telecommunication expenses  823  617 
 Payment to auditors (refer details below)  38  35 
 Electricity charges  667  654 
 Security charges  127  122 
 Recruitment expenses  92  54 
 Training expenses  225  134 
 Fees and subscription  28  17 
 Corporate social responsibility expenses  36  13 
 Miscellaneous expenses  420  447 

 Write off of fixed assets and intangible assets  27  9 

 Total  21,719  23,194 
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Particulars

For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

As auditor:

 Audit fees  22  21 

 Tax audit fees  4  4 

 Limited review  3  3 

In other capacity:

 Other services (certification fees)  6  6 

  Reimbursement of expenses  3  1 

*Director Sitting fees Rs. Nil (March 31, 2013: Rs. 40,000)

22: FINaNCe CoSTS

Particulars

For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

 Interest

 On loans from banks  17,480  10,954 

 On debentures  24,824  17,386 

 Premium/Discount on redemption of debentures  493  99 

 Discount on commercial papers  11,316  12,463 

 Amortisation of ancillary borrowing costs  1,511  1,133 

 Interest on advance tax  31  50 

 Bank charges & Others  512  500 

 Total  56,167  42,585 

23: ProvISIoNS aND wrITe oFFS

Particulars

For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

 Bad debts written off during the year (net of recoveries)  11,543  9,816 

 Provision against assigned loans  (91)  755 

 Provision against standard assets (refer note 40 (c))  2,367  353 

 Provision against sub standard assets  564  738 

 Provision for diminution in value of investments  150  876 

 Unrealised loss on investments*  (49)  49 

 Total  14,484  12,587 

* Negative amount in the current year ended March 31, 2014 owing to provision for diminution in value of investments booked on current 
investments during previous year ended March 31, 2013 written back on sale in current year.

NOTES
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24: earNINGS Per Share

Particulars

For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

Profit after Tax  18,794  15,167 

Weighted average number of shares used in computing basic earnings per share  1,85,86,61,357  1,78,55,10,672 

Add: Weighted average number of equity shares for Nil consideration arising on grant of equity 
stock options under Employee Stock Option Plan

  -    -  

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating diluted EPS  1,85,86,61,357  1,78,55,10,672 

Earnings per Share :

 Basic (Rs.)  1.01  0.85 

 Diluted (Rs.)  1.01  0.85 

[Nominal value of shares is Rs. 10 each (Previous Year : Rs. 10)]

25: SeGmeNT INFormaTIoN

The Company operates in a single reportable segment i.e. lending to customers who have similar risks and returns for the 
purpose of AS - 17 on ‘Segment Reporting’ issued by the ICAI. The Company does not have any reportable geographical 
segment.

26: aSSIGNmeNT oF loaNS

During the year Company has transferred loans through direct assignment. The information on direct assignment activity of the 
Company as an originator is given below:

Particulars
For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013
 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

Total number of loans assigned  668  - 

Total book value of the loans assigned  11,535  - 

Sale consideration received for the loan asset assigned  11,535  - 

Income from asset assignment recognised in the statement of profit and loss  463  1,511 

Particulars
As at  

March 31, 2014
As at  

March 31, 2013

Credit enhancements provided and outstanding:

Interest subordination  21 94

Cash Collateral  4,961 4,007

The information on direct assignment of the Company as an originator in respect of outstanding amount of assets assigned 
under par structure is given below:

Particulars
For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013
 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

No of transactions assigned by the Company 2 NIL

Total amount outstanding 9,453 -
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Particulars
For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013
 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

Total amount of exposures retained by the company to comply with MRR as on the date of balance 
sheet 

1,050 -

a)  Off-balance sheet exposures - -

 First loss - -

 Others - -

b)  On-balance sheet exposures 1,050 -

 First loss - -

 Others 1,050 -

Amount of exposures to assigned transactions other than MRR

a)  Off-balance sheet exposures

 i)  Exposure to own assignment

  First loss - -

  Others - -

 ii)  Exposure to third party assigned transactions

  First loss - -

  Others - -

b)  On-balance sheet exposures

 i)  Exposure to own assignment

  First loss - -

  Others - -

 ii)  Exposure to third party assigned transactions

  First loss - -

  Others - -

Note:   As the circular No. DNBS.PD.No.301/3.10.01/2012-13 is effective from August 21, 2012, hence assignment done after the circular date are 
considered for disclosure purpose only.

27. relaTeD ParTy DISCloSure

List and details of related parties

Ultimate holding Company Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited

holding Companies Angelica Investments Pte. Ltd., Singapore (‘Angelica’)

Fullerton Financials Holdings Pte. Ltd. (Holding Company of Angelica)

Fellow Subsidiary Fullerton Securities & Wealth Advisors Ltd.

Temasek International (Private) Limited

Subsidiary Fullerton India Foundation for Social & Economic Development (Section 25 Company)

Fullerton India Home Finance Company Ltd.

Key Management Personnel Mr. Shantanu Mitra , Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director

NOTES
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28. leaSeS: 
 
a) where the Company is the lessee:
  Premises are obtained on operating lease. The lease term ranges from 11 months to 134 months and are renewable/

cancellable at the option of the Company. Certain lease agreements contain clause for escalation of lease payments. There 
are no restrictions imposed by lease arrangements. There are no subleases. Lease payments during the year are charged to 
the statement of profit and loss.

 The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the details of future rentals payable on operating leases.

Particulars
For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013
 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

Operating lease payments recognized during the year 2,422 2,107

Minimum Lease Obligations

Not later than one year 2,620  2,283 

Later than one year but not later than five years 3,697  4,585 

Later than five years 473  19 

b) where the Company is the lessor:
  In accordance with the Accounting Standard on ‘Leases’ (AS 19), notified by the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 

2006, the following disclosures in respect of Operating Leases are made:

 The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the details of future rentals receivable on operating leases.

Particulars
For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013
 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

Operating lease rental recognized during the year 10  - 

Minimum Lease Obligations

Not later than one year 21  - 

Later than one year but not later than five years 74  - 

Later than five years  -  - 

29. CaSh aND CaSh equIvaleNTS

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Cash and Bank Balance (as per note 17) 38,693 30,646 

Bank Balance (Book Overdraft) (as per note 9) (9,910) (7,934)

Less: Other bank balances (5,588) (3,220)

Less: Fixed Deposits having original maturity period greater than three months - -

Balance considered as Cash and Cash Equivalents for Cash Flow Statement 23,195 19,493 

30. CoNTINGeNT lIabIlITy aND CommITmeNTS
The details of contingent liabilities are disclosed in the table below

Description of the liability
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Credit enhancement provided by the Company for the loans under assignment arrangements 
(including cash collaterals and interest subordination)

4,982 5,101

Capital and other commitments

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for as at March 31, 2014 is Rs 
594 Lakhs ( March 31, 2013: Rs. 412 Lakhs).
Loans sanctioned not yet disbursed as at March 31, 2014 were Rs. 2,014 Lakhs (March 31, 2013: Rs. 1,598 Lakhs).

NOTES
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31. exPeNDITure IN ForeIGN CurreNCy

expenditure in Foreign Currency (accrual basis)
For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013
 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

Travelling  12  4 
Professional fees  -  3 
Training fees  79  62 
Conference & Seminars  6 -
Others  1 -
Total  98  69 
CIF value of Imports
Capital Goods  -  1 

 
32: emPloyee Share baSeD PaymeNTS 

(a) employee Stock options

The Company has provided share-based payment plan to its employees. During the year ended March 31, 2014, no plans were 
in operation:

Tranche I Tranche II Tranche III

Date of grant June 23, 2006 January 21, 2007 October 18, 2007

Date of Board Approval April 21, 2006 April 21, 2006 April 21, 2006

Date of Shareholders’ approval June 07, 2006 June 07, 2006 June 07, 2006

Number of options granted 57,15,541 67,85,538 67,49,872

Method of Settlement (Cash/Equity) Equity Equity Equity

Graded Vesting Period

December 31, 2009 1/6th of options granted 1/6th of options granted 1/6th of options granted

December 31, 2010 1/6th of options granted 1/6th of options granted 1/6th of options granted

December 31, 2011 1/6th of options granted 1/6th of options granted 1/6th of options granted

December 31, 2015 Balance options Balance options Balance options

Exercisable up to December 31, 2018 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2018 

Vesting Conditions On achievement of pre-determined targets which are based on the financial targets committed in the 
approved Business Plan of the Company.

 
The details of Tranche I have been summarised below: 

Particulars
march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

Number of Shares weighted average 
exercise Price(rs.)

Number of Shares weighted average 
exercise Price(rs.)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - - -

Granted during the year - - - -

Lapsed during the year - - - -

Exercised during the year - - - -

Expired during the year - - - -

Outstanding at the end of the year - - - -

Exercisable at the end of the year - - - -

Weighted average remaining contractual life (in 
years)

- - - -

Weighted average fair value of options granted - NA - NA
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The details of Tranche II have been summarised below: 

Particulars
march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

Number of Shares weighted average 
exercise Price(rs.)

Number of Shares weighted average 
exercise Price (rs.)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - 14,66,784 10

Granted during the year - - - -

Lapsed during the year - - 14,66,784 -

Exercised during the year - - - -

Expired during the year - - - -

Outstanding at the end of the year - -

Exercisable at the end of the year - - - -

Weighted average remaining contractual life (in 
years)

- - - -

Weighted average fair value of options granted - - - -

 
The details of Tranche III have been summarized below:

Particulars
march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

Number of Shares weighted average 
exercise Price(rs.)

Number of Shares weighted average 
exercise Price(rs.)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - 14,66,784 10

Granted during the year - - - -

Lapsed during the year - - 14,66,784 -

Exercised during the year - - - -

Expired during the year - - - -

Outstanding at the end of the year - -

Exercisable at the end of the year - - - -

Weighted average remaining contractual life (in 
years)

- - - -

Weighted average fair value of options granted - - - -

 
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for stock options is Rs.10. The details of exercise price for stock 
options outstanding at the end of the period are: 

March 31, 2014

Particulars
range of exercise 

prices
Number of options 

outstanding
weighted average 

remaining contractual life 
of options (in years)

weighted average 
exercise price

Tranche I Rs. 10 Nil - Nil
Tranche II Rs. 10 Nil - Nil
Tranche III Rs. 10 Nil - Nil

March 31, 2013

Particulars
range of exercise 

prices
Number of options 

outstanding
weighted average 

remaining contractual life 
of options (in years)

weighted average 
exercise price

Tranche I Rs. 10 Nil - Rs. 10

Tranche II Rs. 10 Nil - Rs. 10

Tranche III Rs. 10 Nil - Rs. 10

Pursuant to the plan, the Company has computed the fair value of the employee stock option and has recognised a net 
compensation reversal cost of Rs. Nil (PY Rs. Nil) as the fair value of the options as of the date of grant.

NOTES
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Stock options granted 
 
Tranche I: 

The weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the year ended March 31, 2007 was Rs. 0.21. The Black 
Scholes model had been used for computing the weighted average fair value considering the following inputs: 

Particulars vest 1 vest 2 vest 3 vest 4

Exercise Price (Rs.) 10 10 10 10

Expected Volatility 0% 0% 0% 0%

Historical Volatility 0% 0% 0% 0%

Life of the options granted (Vesting and exercise period) in years 8.03 8.53 9.03 11.03

Expected dividends per annum (Rs.) 10 10 10 10

Average risk-free interest rate 7.76% 7.82% 7.87% 8.09%

Expected dividend rate 7.50% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50%

Tranche II: 

The weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the year ended March 31, 2007 was Rs. 0.06. The Black 
Scholes model had been used for computing the weighted average fair value considering the following inputs: 

Particulars vest 1 vest 2 vest 3 vest 4

Exercise Price (Rs.) 10 10 10 10

Expected Volatility 0% 0% 0% 0%

Historical Volatility 0% 0% 0% 0%

Life of the options granted (Vesting and exercise period) in years 7.45 7.95 8.45 10.45

Expected dividends per annum (Rs.) 10 10 10 10

Average risk-free interest rate 7.59% 7.60% 7.61% 7.66%

Expected dividend rate 7.50% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50%

Tranche III: 

The weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the year ended March 31, 2008 was Rs. Nil. The Black Scholes 
model had been used for computing the weighted average fair value considering the following inputs: 

Particulars vest 1 vest 2 vest 3 vest 4

Exercise Price (Rs.) 10 10 10 10

Expected Volatility 0% 0% 0% 0%

Historical Volatility 0% 0% 0% 0%

Life of the options granted (Vesting and exercise period) in years 6.71 7.21 7.71 9.71

Expected dividends per annum (Rs.) 10 10 10 10

Average risk-free interest rate 7.51% 7.54% 7.57% 7.75%

Expected dividend rate 8.18% 8.18% 8.18% 8.18%

Expected Volatility – Since the equity shares of the Company are not listed, 0% volatility is assumed. 

Effect of the employee share-based payment plans of the statement of profit & loss and on its financial position:

Particulars

For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

Total Employee Compensation Cost pertaining to share- based payment plans - -

Deferred Compensation Cost - -

Liability for employee stock option outstanding as at year end - -
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(b) Employee Share Appreciation Rights

The Company has an Employee Shared Based Payment Scheme, under which a grant were made as per detailed below:

Particulars Grant 1 Grant 2 Grant 3
Date of Grant November 30, 2011 April 1, 2013 April 1, 2013
value of the Grant Rs. 568 Lakhs Rs. 706 Lakhs Rs. 741 Lakhs
Contractual life 4 years 4 years 5 years
vesting Condition Achievement of Profit before tax 

(PBT) and Return on Equity (ROE) 
targets as per approved business 
plan with 1/3rd of the grant vesting on 
1st December 2013, 1st December 
2014 and 1st December 2015

Achievement of Profit before tax 
(PBT) and Return on Equity (ROE) 
targets as per approved business 
plan with 1/3rd of the grant vesting on 
1st December 2015, 1st December 
2016 and 1st December 2017

Achievement of Profit before tax 
(PBT) and Return on Equity (ROE) 
targets as per approved business 
plan with 1/3rd of the grant vesting on 
1st December 2016, 1st December 
2017 and 1st December 2018

exercise period Within 1 month of each date of vesting 

 
The estimated fair value of the grant at a notional value of Rs. 10 per unit (as at the date of grant) is as below:

Particulars Grant 1 Grant 2 Grant 3

as at march 31, 2014 Rs. 15.36 Rs. 11.74 Rs. 11.74

as at march 31, 2013 Rs. 12.78 Nil Nil

Exercise price Vest 1 Rs. 12.78 Nil Nil

This was computed using the formula for estimating the valuation of the grant as per the formula provided in the scheme which 
is linked to the Net Book Value of the business.

Adjustment has been made for the resignations during the year ended March 31, 2014 and the consequential impact of 
forfeiture of the grant. 

 
The movement of the stock appreciation rights granted during the year is as under 

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Grants Outstanding at the beginning of the year 491 491

Grant made during the year 1,447 50 

Grants forfeited on resignation of employee 402 50 

Grants vested 128 -

Grants exercised 116 -

Grants outstanding – unvested 1,409 491

Grants outstanding – vested and exercisable 11 -

Expenses arising from grants made 475 239

33. reTIremeNT aND oTher emPloyee beNeFITS 
The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan. Every employee who has completed five years or more of service gets a 
gratuity on departure at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed year of service.

The following tables summaries the components of net benefit expense recognised in the statement of profit and loss and the 
amounts recognised in the balance sheet for the plan.

NOTES
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Statement of Profit and loss 

Net employees benefit expense (recognised in Employee benefit expense):

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Current service cost 65 74

Interest cost on benefit obligation 21 19

Expected return on plan assets (16) (13)

Net actuarial(gain)/loss recognised in the year 381 74

Past service cost - -
Net benefit Expense 451 154
Actual return on plan assets - -

balance sheet
Details of Provision for gratuity:

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Defined benefit obligation 581 253

Fair value of plan assets 310 172

Less: Unrecognized Past Service Cost - -
Plan asset/(liability) (271) (81)

 
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Opening defined benefit obligation 253 229

Interest cost 21 19

Current service cost 65 74

Benefits paid (136) (142)

Actuarial (gains)/losses on obligation 379 73

Closing defined benefit obligation 581 253

 
Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Opening fair value of plan assets 172 148 

Expected return 16 13

Contributions by employer 264 153

Benefits paid (136) (142)

Actuarial gains/(losses) (5) -

Closing fair value of plan assets 310 172

 
The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets are as follows:

Particulars  march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

Investments with insurer % 100 100

The overall expected rate of return on assets is determined based on the market prices prevailing on that date applicable to the 
period over which obligation is to be settled. There has been a significant change in the expected rate of return on assets due to 
the stock market scenario. 
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The principal assumptions used in determining gratuity liability for the Company’s plans are shown below:

Particulars  march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013
Discount rate 9.29% 8.00%

Expected rate of return on assets 8.70% 8.70%

Employee Turnover Category 1 - For basic upto Rs. 1.2 lakhs  
Upto 4 yrs 51% and 5 yrs & above 2% at each age 
Category 2 - For basic more than Rs. 1.2 lakhs 
Upto 4 yrs 31% and 5 yrs & above 2% at each age 

2% at each age for all and 20% to 60% category wise

Future Salary rise 10% 5.00%

The estimates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, promotion and 
other relevant factors, such as supply and demand in the employment market.

Amounts for the current period are as follows: 

Particulars
 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

Defined benefit obligation 581 253

Plan assets 310 172

Surplus/(deficit) (271) (81)

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities 117 64

Experience adjustments on plan assets (5) -

34. aNCIllary borrowING CoSTS

The movement in ancillary borrowing costs is as under:

Particulars
For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013
 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

Opening at the beginning of the year  3,085  645 

Add : Payments made during the year  1,592  3,573 

Less : Amortised during the year  (1,511)  (1,133)

Closing at the end of the year  3,166  3,085 

35.  The Company identifies suppliers registered under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006, 
(MSMED) by obtaining confirmations from all suppliers. Based on the information received by the Company, some of the 
suppliers have confirmed to be registered under MSMED Act, 2006. Accordingly the disclosure relating to amount unpaid as 
at the year ended together with interest paid/payable is disclosed below:

Sr. 
No. Particulars

 march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs

1 The principal amount and the interest due thereon (to be shown separately) remaining 
unpaid to any supplier as at the end of each accounting year

17 -

2 The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the Micro Small and 
Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006, along with the amounts of the payment made 
to the supplier beyond the appointed day during each accounting year 

- -

3 The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which 
have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but without adding the 
interest specified under Micro Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006.

- -

4 The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each accounting year; - -

5 The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, 
until such date when the interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise 
for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under section 23 of the Micro 
Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006.

- -

36.  As required by the RBI circular no DNBS.CC.PD.No.265/03.10.01/2011-12 dated March 21, 2012 the outstanding loan 
against gold jewellery as a percentage of total assets is Nil % (March 31, 2013: Nil%)

NOTES
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Note:

1. There are no SME cases which have been restructured during the year ended March 31, 2014.

2. There have been no upgradations of restructured advances during the year ended March 31, 2014.

3. There were no restructured standard advances which ceased to attract higher provisioning and/or additional risk weight at the year ended March 31, 2014.

4. The outstanding amount and number of borrowers as at March 31, 2014 is after considering recoveries and sale of assets during the year.

5. Additional facilities availed by borrowers in existing restructured accounts are disclosed under “Fresh restructuring during the year” and partial   
    repayments in existing restructured accounts are disclosed under “Write-offs/sale/recovery of restructured accounts”, however, for the purpose of   
    arithmetical accuracy the number of existing borrowers availing additional facility or partial repayments have not been disclosed. 

6. The above table pertains to advances and does not include investment in shares on which have been provided for fully.

7. The provision in the above table includes general loan loss provision and other provisions held on the restructured advances.

8. For the purpose of arithmetical accuracy as required by circular, movement in provisions in the existing restructured account as compared to opening  
    balance is disclosed under column fresh restructuring(for increase in provision) and write-off/sale/recovery(for decrease in provision) during the year   
    and are not comparable with the additional facilities availed and partial recovery disclosed under the respective columns.

*Interest on main term loan capitalized in FITL 

# Includes adjustment towards shares and debentures received, excess credit in bank and cash collaterals. 

38.  As required by the RBI circular no DNBS.PD.CC. No. 256 /03.10.042 / 2011-12 dated March 2, 2012 the details of frauds 
noticed / reported are as below:

Particulars

For the year ended For the year ended 

march 31, 2014 march 31, 2013

 rupees lakhs  rupees lakhs 

Amount involved 48 56

Amount recovered 4  24 

Amount written off/provided 44  32

Balance 0 0

39.  Income tax and MAT credit entitlement for the year contains Income tax and MAT credit entitlement for the previous year of 
Rs. 646 lakhs.

40. ChaNGe IN eSTImaTeS:

(a)  During the current year, the Company has changed the estimated useful life of vehicles from 6 years to 4 years. Had the 
Company used the estimate applicable in previous year, depreciation charge on vehicles for the year would have been lower 
by Rs. 25 lakhs.

(b)  During the current year, the Company has revised the estimated useful life of loan management system (for Urban business) 
which forms part of Intangible assets. Had the Company used the estimate applicable in previous year, depreciation for 
intangible assets would have been lower by Rs. 190 lakhs.

(c)  During the current year, the Company revised the estimate of provision on standard assets. Had the Company used the 
estimate applicable in previous year the provision on standard assets would have been lower by Rs. 2,017 lakhs.

NOTES
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41.  The Company has reclassified/regrouped previous year figures to conform to current year’s classification, where applicable.

S. R. BATLIBOI & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of     
Chartered Accountants Fullerton India Credit Company Limited    
ICAI Firm’s Registration number : 301003E

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
per Shrawan Jalan Gan Chee Yen Shantanu Mitra   
Partner  Chairman CEO and Managing Director  
Membership No: 102102     
     
  Sd/- Sd/- 
  Pratik Gandhi Pankaj Malik   
  Chief Financial Officer Head - Finance and Company Secretary 
 
Place : Mumbai Place : Mumbai    
Date : June 19, 2014 Date : June 19, 2014     
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Sr. No. Particulars (rupees lakhs)

Liabilities side:

1 Loans and advances availed by the Non Banking Financial Company inclusive of 
interest accrued thereon but not paid:

Amount Outstanding Amount Overdue

(a) Debentures (other than falling within the meaning of public deposits)
 Secured  2,25,115 -
 Unsecured  30,000 -
(b) Deferred Credits  - -
(c) Term Loans  2,08,279 -
(d) Inter-corporate loans and borrowing  - -
(e) Commercial Paper  72,749 -
(f) Public Deposits  - -
(g) Other Loans  10,451 -

2 Break-up of (1)(f) above (Outstanding public deposits inclusive of interest accrued 
thereon but not paid):

Amount Outstanding Amount Overdue

(a) In the form of unsecured debentures - -
(b)  In the form of partly secured debentures i.e. debentures where there is a shortfall 

in the value of security
- -

(c)   Other public deposits - -

Assets side:
3 Break-up of Loans and Advances including bills receivables [other than those included 

in (4) below] :
Amount Outstanding

(a)   Secured  2,44,561 
(b)   Unsecured  3,78,615 

4 Break up of Leased Assets and stock on hire and other assets counting towards AFC 
activities

Amount Outstanding

(i)   Lease assets including lease rentals under sundry debtors :
 (a)   Finance Lease  - 
 (b)   Operating Lease  - 
(ii)   Stock on hire including hire charges under  

 sundry debtors:
 (a)   Assets on hire
 (b)   Repossessed Assets  - 
(iii)   Other Loans counting towards AFC activities :
 (a)   Loans where assets have been repossessed  - 
 (b)   Loans other than (a) above  - 

5 Break-up of Investments :
Current Investments
1. Quoted:
(i)   Shares:
 (a)   Equity  - 
 (b)   Preference  - 
(ii)   Debentures and Bonds  - 
(iii)   Units of mutual funds  - 
(iv)   Government Securities  - 
(v)   Others 
2. Unquoted:
(i)   Shares:
 (a)   Equity  - 
 (b)   Preference  - 
(ii)   Debentures and Bonds  - 
(iii)   Units of mutual funds  - 
(iv)   Government Securities  - 
(v)   Others – Certificate of Deposits  41,747 
                    – Commercial papers  - 

SChEDULE TO ThE bALANCE ShEET OF A NON-bANKING FINANCIAL COMPANY
(As required in terms of Paragraph 13 of Non-Banking Financial (Deposit Accepting or Holding) Companies Prudential Norms 
(Reserve Bank of India ) Directions, 2007)
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Sr. No. Particulars (rupees lakhs)

Long Term Investments
1. Quoted:
(i)   Shares:
 (a)   Equity  - 
 (b)   Preference  - 
(ii)   Debentures and Bonds  - 
(iii)   Units of mutual funds  - 
(iv)   Government Securities  - 
(v)   Others  - 
2. Unquoted:
(i)   Shares:
 (a)   Equity  207 
 (b)   Preference  - 
(ii)   Debentures and Bonds  - 
(iii)   Units of mutual funds  - 
(iv)   Government Securities  - 
(v)   Others  - 

Sr. No. Particulars (rupees lakhs)

6 Borrower group-wise classification of all leased assets, stock-on-hire and 
loans and advances :
Category Amount net of Provision

Secured Unsecured Total
1. Related Parties
(a)   Subsidiaries - - -
(b)   Companies in the same group - - -
(c)   Other related parties - - -
2. Other than related parties  2,42,708  3,78,122  6,20,830 
Total  2,42,708  3,78,122  6,20,830 

Sr. No. Particulars (rupees lakhs)

7 Investor group-wise classification of all investments (current and long term) 
in shares and securities (both quoted and unquoted):
Category Market Value / 

Break up or fair 
value or NAV

Book Value (Net 
of Provisions)

1.  Related Parties
            (a)   Subsidiaries  202  202 
            (b) Companies in the same management  -  - 
            (c) Other related parties  -  - 
2. Other than related parties  41,752  41,752 
Total  41,954  41,954 

8 Other Information Amount

(i)   Gross Non-Performing Assets
            (a)  Related parties -
            (b)  Other than related parties 10,492
(ii)   Net Non-Performing Assets
            (a)  Related parties -
            (b)  Other than related parties 8,146
(iii)   Assets acquired in satisfaction of debt  - 

SChEDULE TO ThE bALANCE ShEET OF A NON-bANKING FINANCIAL COMPANY
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Sr. 
No.

Particulars
Fullerton India 
home Finance 
Company ltd

Fullerton India 
Foundation for 

Social & economic 
Development

1 Financial years of the subsidiary Company ended on March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014

2 Shares of the subsidiary held on the above date and extent of holding

a) Equity Shares (of Rs. 10 each)  20,00,000  23,575 

b) Extent of holding 100% 100%

3 Net aggregate amount of Profit/(Losses) of the Subsidiary for the period so far as it 
concerns members of Fullerton India Credit Company Ltd.
i) Not dealt within the accounts of the Holding Company

a) For the financial year of the Subsidiary March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014

b) For the previous financial years of the Subsidiary/since it became the Holding 
company’s subsidiary

 28,00,895  (85,540)

ii) Deal within the Holding company’s accounts

a) For the financial year of the Subsidiary March 31, 2014 March 31, 2014

b) For the previous financial years of the Subsidiary/since it became the Holding 
company’s subsidiary

Nil Nil

4 Material changes if any between the end of financial year of the subsidiary company and 
that of the Holding Company

NA NA

5 Additional information on Subsidiary Companies

Share Capital  2,00,00,000  2,35,750 

Reserves  28,00,895  (85,540)

Total Assets  2,30,56,564  2,35,750 

Total Liabilities  2,55,669  85,540 

Investment (except in case of investment in subsidiaries) - -

Turnover  19,58,573 -

Profit before Taxation  18,37,865  (13,736) 

Provision for Taxation  6,05,199  - 

Profit after Taxation  12,32,666  (13,736) 

Proposed Dividend (including Dividend Distribution Tax thereon)  -  - 

STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 212 OF ThE COMPANIES ACT,  
1956 RELATING TO SUbSIDIARY COMPANIES

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of     
Fullerton India Credit Company Limited

    
Sd/- Sd/-
Gan Chee Yen Shantanu Mitra   
Chairman CEO and Managing Director  
    
Sd/- Sd/- 
Pratik Gandhi Pankaj Malik    
Chief Financial Officer Head - Finance and Company Secretary

Place : Mumbai    
Date : June 19, 2014   
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NOTES
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